Public Document Pack

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MONDAY 6 NOVEMBER 2017
7.00 PM
Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations
At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda,
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council.
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in
relation to any items under consideration.

3.

Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Committee Meeting Held on 4
September 2017

4.

Call In of any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decisions

3 - 10

The decision notice for each decision will bear the date on which it is
published and will specify that the decision may then be implemented on the
expiry of 3 working days after the publication of the decision (not including
the date of publication), unless a request for call-in of the decision is
received from any two Members of the relevant Scrutiny Committee. If a
request for call-in of a decision is received, implementation of the decision
remains suspended for consideration by the relevant Scrutiny Committee.
5.

Draft Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017- 2020

11 - 104

6.

Sustainable Transformation Partnerships

105 - 114

7.

Primary Care Update Peterborough

115 - 156

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms. Some of the
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact
Paulina Ford on 01733 452508 as soon as possible.
Did you know? All Peterborough City Council's meeting agendas are available online or via
the modern.gov app. Help us achieve our environmental protection aspirations and view this
agenda online instead of printing it.

8.

Update On The Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust And
Peterborough And Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Merger

157 - 168

9.

Monitoring Scrutiny Recommendations

169 - 174

10.

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions

175 - 222

11.

Work Programme 2017/2018

223 - 230

12.

Date of Next Meeting



29 November 2017 – Joint Scrutiny of the Budget
8 January 2018 – Health Scrutiny Committee

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours
In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral. The duty Beadle will assume
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.
Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is
available at:
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385

Committee Members:
Councillors: M Cereste (Chairman), B Rush (Vice Chairman), K Aitken, S Barkham,
D Fower, H Fuller, M Jamil, N Khan, S Lane, G Nawaz,
Parish Councillor Co-opted Member: Henry Clark
Parish Councillor Co-opted Member Substitute: Jason Merrill
Dr Steve Watson – Co-opted Member
Substitutes: Councillors: G Casey, Clark, J R Fox, Merrill and A Shaheed
Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Paulina Ford on telephone 01733
452508 or by email – Paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
HELD AT 7.00PM ON
MONDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2017
IN THE BOURGES / VIERSEN ROOMS, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH
Committee
Members Present:

Councillors Rush (Vice Chairman) K Aitken, S Barkham, G Casey,
A Clark, M Jamil, S Lane, G Nawaz, N Sandford, A Sylvester and
Henry Clark, Parish Councillor – Co-opted Member, Dr Steve Watson,
Co-opted Member

Also present

Jessica Bawden

Officers Present:

10.

Lee Miller

Director of Corporate
Affairs, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Clinical Commissioning Group
Head of Children’s Services Commissioning

Dr Liz Robin
Paulina Ford

Director of Public Health
Senior Democratic Services Officer

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Cereste and Councillor Khan. Councillor
Casey was in attendance as substitute for Councillor Cereste and Councillor Clark was in
attendance as substitute for Councillor Khan.

11.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING DECLARATIONS
Item 7. Children and Young People Emotional Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Casey declared that he was a trustee of Family Voice.

12.

MINUTES OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 19 JUNE 2017
The minutes of the meetings held on 19 June 2017 were agreed as a true and accurate record.

13.

CALL-IN OF ANY CABINET, CABINET MEMBER OR KEY OFFICER DECISIONS
There were no requests for Call-in to consider.

14.

APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBER
The report was introduced by the Senior Democratic Services Officer. The purpose of the
report was to propose the appointment of Dr Steve Watson as a non-voting Co-opted Member
of the Committee for the municipal year 2017/2018.

3

AGREED ACTION
The Health Scrutiny Committee considered the report and RESOLVED to appoint Dr Steve
Watson as a non-voting co-opted member of the Committee for the municipal year 2017/2018.
The appointment to be reviewed at the beginning of the 2018/2019 municipal year and then
annually going forward.
Dr Watson was in attendance at the meeting and the Chairman invited him to join the
Committee for the remainder of the meeting.
15.

END OF CONSULTATION REPORT FOR THE CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED
CHANGES TO THE FUTURE PROVISION OF SPECIALIST FERTILITY TREATMENT IN
THE CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
AREA
The report was introduced by the Director of Corporate Affairs, Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group and provided the Committee with the end of
consultation report for the consultation on proposed changes to the future provision of
specialist fertility treatments in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning
Group areas. The report contained feedback and suggestions received from the public and
other key stakeholders for the Committee to note and comment on prior to being presented to
the CCG Governing Body on 5 September. The recommendation to the CCG Governing Body
was to suspend the service until 2019 and then review it prior to making a final decision when
funding could be reviewed.
The Health Scrutiny Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised and
responses to questions included:











The majority of the CCG Governing Body were clinicians. The decision would not be about
the effectiveness of the service but the funding so it would be a particularly difficult decision.
The Committee had noted that 82% of the 1311 respondents were against the proposal.
The Director of Corporate Affairs advised that the number of respondents had been low
considering how widely the consultation had been published and the number of
respondents did not represent the whole population of the area.
The Committee noted that NICE national guidance recommended offering three full cycles
of IVF and that the CCG had already reduced the offer to one full cycle of IVF and sought
clarification as to why the CCG were proposing to go against national guidance. Members
were informed that the national guidance was not mandatory.
Members requested that the Director of Corporate Affairs report back to the CCG
Governing Body that the Committee had not changed their position to not support the
proposal of suspending the service and that it was important for the Governing Body to
listen to the feedback in the consultation. The Director confirmed that the Governing Body
would be informed.
The funding received by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG was not in line with
other areas and lobbying continued to obtain additional funding. If the proposal to suspend
the IVF service did not go ahead then other services would need to be considered. The
funding formula for the next three years would be received at Christmas 2019 and
depending on the amount received services would be reviewed to consider which if any
could be recommissioned.
Members sought clarification that the CCG had looked at all their processes to see if
additional savings could be made. Repeat prescriptions were given as an example and if

4

any money could be saved in this area. Members were informed that all processes had
been looked at and continued to be looked at to see if savings could be made.
The Health Scrutiny Committee considered the report and RECOMMENDED that the Director
of Corporate Affairs advise the Governing Body at the meeting on 5 September of the following
comments from the Committee:
The Health Scrutiny Committee do not agree to the proposal to suspend IVF services and
request that the Governing Body:
1. Take into consideration the feedback and comments from the consultation of which 82%
were against the proposal.
2. Take into consideration the NICE national guidance recommending offering three full
cycles of IVF.
3. Consider all other alternative areas where savings could be made e.g. processes with
regard to repeat prescriptions.
The Committee also recommended that if the Governing Body go ahead with the proposal to
suspend IVF services that the Committee be involved when the decision is reviewed in April
2019.
16.

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING
The report was introduced by the Head of Transformation and Commissioning (Children and
Maternity) and provided the Committee with an update on Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services and an overview of recent developments for children’s emotional health and
wellbeing.
The Health Scrutiny Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised and
responses to questions included:









Since 2015/16 there had been a significant transformation and investment programme in
Children and Young People’s emotional wellbeing in partnership with the CCG and both
the City and County Council.
There was a programme of mental health awareness and preventative work that took place
in schools, including workshops for pupils and staff as well as training for teachers.
The website, keepyourhead.com had been developed and had been very popular. The
information it provided on mental health issues was accessed by young people and their
parents as well as professionals such as GPs. It had proved so successful that adult
services were looking at extending the website so that it could be utilised by all ages.
As part of the emphasis on preventative work, there had been a larger investment in
counselling services. Online counselling had been commissioned so that young people
who lived in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire were able to link into it anonymously.
School nurses and health visitors had been specifically trained in mental health issues so
that they could support children and young people at an early stage.
Emotional and wellbeing health workers who were specialist mental health workers and
who would be out and about in the Community, rather than being based in specialist units,
was an initiative that would be starting in October.
An eating disorder service was offered that had very tight timescales; urgent cases were
seen within one week and non-urgent cases within four weeks.

5























There had been interest nationally in the way that those with ADHD were helped in
Peterborough, in particular the parenting programmes that had been seen as a great
success.
The 24/7 mental health help line that covered the whole of Peterborough and
Cambridgeshire, only had a children’s mental health specialist available until 5pm at
present. The CCG was looking to extend these hours so that this specialist coverage would
be available until midnight.
Future priorities for the service included a single front door for mental health referrals and
an examination of how looked after children could be better supported. All of the youth
counselling resources across Peterborough and Cambridge were being pooled and a new
provider would be starting in January.
The youth counselling services that were already in existence and had been for some time
in areas such as the Orton’s were not part of the new service funded by the CCG. The
existing services would continue and it was hoped that they would work closely with the
new providers whose aim was to provide a complete service across the whole of
Peterborough, rather than the patchwork approach that existed at present.
The majority of the funding for the new counselling services would be directed at the age
group 13 -18 years as the evidence showed that intervention and counselling at this age
was the most effective. The most effective intervention at a younger age was through
targeted parent programmes.
There had been more investment in transition services as it was felt that the overlap year
between the two services, from 17-18, needed to be better supported. Depending on need,
young people could be referred to either Adults or Children’s services at this time. Three
additional workers had been recruited to support this service and peer support workers
who had been in similar situations and who could guide young people through the process
were also being piloted.
A number of services operated online once an individual registered for the service. There
were chat rooms that children could enter to talk about particular issues such as anxiety
and self-harm as well as blogs and online counselling. The counselling service was
anonymous but everything within the site was moderated.
The CCG focussed on specialist services for eating disorders rather than generalist food
education which would be offered by the PSHE programme.
The Healthy Peterborough website was not referenced directly in the report although work
had been undertaken with them and some of the articles on the Healthy Peterborough
website did refer through to the keepyourhead website.
Efforts were being made to increase the number of people accessing children’s mental
health services from the current level of 350 up to 450. However, not all of this number
would transition to adult mental health as the bar was set much higher and not all children
would meet the criteria set for adult mental health services. The additional support workers
provided would champion these children and pull in additional resources as required. This
might not involve being referred to adult mental health services but instead would include
such things as GP referral.
It was noted that there had been an increase in self-harming in young people but there
had been no hard evidence to understand why the increase had happened. National
research was being conducted and locally all aspects of emotional health and wellbeing
was being looked at.
The waiting list to be seen for ADHD and ASD was currently 18 weeks with a few cases
slightly over that which had greatly improved compared to a two year waiting list a few
years ago.
All schools were notified and encouraged to take up the offer of Mental Health Awareness
Workshops but not all schools had taken up the offer.

6



An officer had been employed for two days a week to visit all schools to promote
Kooth.com the online counselling and emotional well-being platform for children and
young people. It had also been advertised through various means including posters at
GP Surgeries and A & E and subsequently there had been an increase in the use of the
service. A report was received every quarter to see which schools were using the service.
The Kooth.com service was available until 10.00pm weekdays and longer at weekends.

AGREED ACTIONS
The Health Scrutiny Committee considered the report and RESOLVED to note the report and
requested that the Head of Transformation and Commissioning provide the following
information:
1. Details on whether the Mental Health Awareness Workshop was being delivered at both
primary and secondary schools.
2. If there was a difference between the number of Academies and Local Authority schools in
the take up of Kooth.com and the Mental Health Awareness Workshops.
17.

PETERBOROUGH ANNUAL PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT
The Director of Public Health introduced the report which provided the Health Scrutiny
Committee with the Annual Public Health Report on the health of local people which was a
requirement under the Health and Social Care Act (2012). The Committee were asked to
consider the report’s findings which had been split into three sections:
–

–
–

The first section focused on the social and environmental factors affecting our health and
wellbeing, often called the ‘determinants of health’. It included maps of Peterborough
which showed how both the determinants of health and some key health outcomes vary
across the area.
The second section took a brief look at the main lifestyle behaviours which impacted on
individual health and wellbeing, and how Peterborough compared with similar local
authority areas.
The third section looked at trends in health outcomes and health service use in
Peterborough – many of which were improving but some of which were cause for concern.

The Health Scrutiny Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised and
responses to questions included:




Members noted that the proportion of the adult population with excess weight was
highlighted as worse in Peterborough than its nearest socio-economic neighbours. It was
also noted that there was a vast amount of fast food takeaways in Peterborough and
clarification was sought on how Public Health was working with Planning services to try
and reduce the number. Members were informed that Public Health were in discussions
with the team working on the Local Plan to see what could be achieved within the Local
Plan and supplementary statements to the Plan and were also looking at what other
authorities had done to deal with this issue. The Healthy Peterborough website was also
being looked at to see if healthy fast food options could be promoted.
Members noted that air quality and the increase in pollution from the growth in traffic had
not been included in the report. Members were informed that the evidence on the biggest
determinants for health had shown that the biggest correlations for good health were
around a good start in life, good cognitive and social development, educational attainment,

7













employment and income. Air pollution was important and would include this as a fact
influencing health however Peterborough scored well in the Index of Multiple Deprivation
(2015) for the ‘Living Environment’ domain, which includes a measure of out-door air
quality, and did not stand out as being more disadvantaged than other areas.
Members commented that some areas of Peterborough where air quality was monitored
had shown that nitrogen dioxide was already near to exceeding acceptable levels.
A review had been conducted on the importance of green space and open space
particularly in the centre of Peterborough. The Index of Multiple Deprivation sub domains
on page 12 of the report for Living environment had shown that Peterborough scored well
compared to other authorities.
Members commented on the layout of the report and the discrepancy between the scales
on the various charts and requested that in future reports there should be a standard scale
for all charts. It was also noted that on the hospital admissions chart on page 15, section
1.8 there was no indication of a rate per population. The Director advised that this would
be corrected before wider circulation.
Members sought clarification as to why premature mortality for under 75 year olds was high
in the Wittering area. The Director of Public Health advised that the information was not
available at the meeting but would report back to the Committee.
The trend in cardio vascular disease was going down.
Health care provision was standard across the city of Peterborough and surrounding area,
however there might be differences in the standard of provision of primary care and GP
practices. Primary care can make a real difference to the quality of health outcomes.
Ethnic Diversity had been covered in the recent Diverse Ethnic Communities Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment which had been presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Councillor Barkham, seconded by Councillor Sandford recommended that the following be
added to future Annual Public Health Reports: the current position on Peterborough’s
healthy eating habits and statistics on air quality.
The Committee requested that the Annual Public Health Report come to the scrutiny
committee earlier for comment. Members were advised that it was an independent report
and would need to seek advice as to whether this would be possible.

RECOMMENDATION
The Health Scrutiny Committee considered the report and RECOMMENDED that the Director
of Public Health include in future Annual Public Health Reports details on healthy eating habits
and statistics on air quality as both have an impact on the health of local people.
AGREED ACTIONS
The Health Scrutiny Committee considered the report and RESOLVED to note the Annual
Public Health Report 2017 and requested that the Director of Public Health action the following:
1. Correct the Hospital Admissions Chart on page 15, section 1.8 to state the rate per
population.
2. Provide information as to why premature mortality for under 75 year olds was high in the
Wittering area.
3. Send the Committee a link to the Diverse Ethnic Communities Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment.

8

18.

MONITORING SCUTINY RECOMMENDTIONS
The Senior Democratic Services Officer introduced the report which provided the Committee
with a record of recommendations made at the previous meeting and the outcome of those
recommendations to consider if further monitoring was required.
ACTIONS AGREED
The Health Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to consider the response from Cabinet Members
and Officers to the recommendations made at the previous meeting, as attached in Appendix
1 of the report and agreed that no further monitoring of the recommendations was required.

19.

FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
The Committee received the latest version of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions,
containing Executive Decisions that the Leader of the Council anticipated the Cabinet or
individual Cabinet Members would make during the course of the following four months.
Members were invited to comment on the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions and, where
appropriate, identify any relevant areas for inclusion in the Committees work programme.
ACTION AGREED
The Committee noted the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions.

20.

WORK PROGRAMME 2017/2018
Members considered the Committee’s Work Programme for 2016/17 and discussed possible
items for inclusion.
ACTION AGREED
The Committee noted the work programme for 2017/18.

21.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING:


6 November 2017

The meeting began at 7.00pm and finished at 8.38pm.

9

CHAIRMAN

This page is intentionally left blank

10

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 5

6 NOVEMBER 2017

PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Dr Liz Robin

Director of Public Health

Cabinet Member responsible:

Councillor Diane Lamb Cabinet Member for Public Health

Contact Officer:

Katharine Hartley - Consultant in Public Health

Tel. 01733
207175

DRAFT SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY 2017- 2020
RECOMMENDATIONS
FROM:

Deadline date:

It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee:
1. Comment on the draft Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan 2017-2020 attached at
Appendices 1 and 2.

1.

ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1

The joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Suicide Prevention Strategy is due for a refresh to
ensure continuation of this work to 2020.

2.

PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1

The Health Scrutiny Committee is being asked to comment on the draft refresh of the Suicide
Prevention Strategy and Action Plan attached at Appendices 1 and 2 as part of the consultation
process before approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

2.2

This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3,
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council
- Public Health.

2.3

Peterborough City Council’s Strategic Priorities include:
Priority 3: Safeguard vulnerable children and adults
Priority 6: Keep all our communities safe, cohesive and healthy
Priority 7: Achieve the best health and wellbeing for the city
The Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan will help Peterborough deliver in each of these
priority areas. Preventing suicide is aimed at safeguarding vulnerable children and adults but
acknowledges that people are often not identified into a ‘vulnerable adult’ category prior to a
suicide. A wider ‘whole population’ approach to suicide prevention is appropriate as evidenced
by the fact that around two thirds of people who die as a result of suicide are not known to mental
health services. This fits with priority 6 and 7, above and is realised through the initiatives outlined
in the action plan.

11

2.5

The work of the suicide prevention implementation group will help support the Children in Care
Pledge to ensure that the children are brought up in a supportive and safe environment. In
particular, the strategy includes ‘assessing pathways for support for children who are at risk of

self-harm, recognising that children in care are at higher risk’.
3.

TIMESCALES
Is this a Major Policy
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO

If yes, date for
Cabinet meeting

N/A

4.

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1

Suicide is a major public health issue as it marks the ultimate loss of hope, meaning and
purpose to life and has a wide ranging impact on families, communities and society. Suicide is
the leading cause of death for younger adults. However, the National Suicide Prevention Strategy
– Preventing Suicide in England1 states that suicides are not inevitable and many can be
prevented, thus supporting a call for action to reduce suicide and the impact of suicide both at
national and local level.
This report proposes a refresh of the joint Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Suicide Prevention
strategy (2017-2020) - see Appendix 1. The ‘refresh’ is a draft that is being consulted on by
stakeholders but includes updates on national and local suicide statistics, initiatives, evidence
and forward planning. Incorporated as a main thread throughout the strategy is an ambition
towards ZERO Suicide, as agreed through the multi-partner suicide prevention implementation
board in 2017.
The strategy builds on and supports the National Suicide Prevention Strategy – ‘Preventing
suicide in England’, Dept. of Health 2012. The key purpose is to ensure that there is co-ordinated
and integrated multi-agency agreement on the delivery of suicide prevention services that is
tailored appropriately to local need and is driven by the involvement and feedback from service
users. With a focus on Zero suicide, the strategy emphasises the requirement for senior level
engagement with all relevant organisations to ensure quality improvement across the pathways
of care for suicide prevention.
The six priority areas for suicide prevention in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough with
recommendations for actions are set out in the Suicide Prevention Action Plan, developed by the
Joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Suicide Prevention Implementation Group – comprising
a partnership of multiple organisations involved in mental health care see Appendix 2.
Key points of progress seen since the launch of the 2014 - 2017 suicide prevention
implementation plan:
●
●
●
●
●

The suicide rate in Peterborough has decreased steadily since 2010-2012 when the rate
was significantly above both the England and East of England rates and is now similar to
the England average.
Development and roll-out of ‘STOP Suicide’ across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire,
including a local suicide prevention website, pledge, training in suicide prevention and
campaigns to increase awareness of mental health issues and how to access support.
Implementation of a 111(2) mental health crisis telephone triage and First Response
Service (FRS) that includes a Peterborough ‘sanctuary’ as a place to feel safe and
supported during mental health crisis.
The construction of safety barriers on Peterborough car parks to prevent suicide
Community based youth ‘face to face’ counselling services including a ‘drop in’ service
for young people in Peterborough. The Kooth online counselling service for young people
was commissioned in September 2016 to broaden the mental health support available for
young people.

12

Key new initiatives to enhance suicide prevention from 2017:
●

●

●

GP Training in suicide prevention - Funding has been secured through the Sustainability
and Transformation Plan (STP) for training of GPs across Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough in suicide prevention, which will focus on the patient/GP interaction, risk
identification, compassion and empathy as well as safety plans and follow-through care.
Bereavement support for people affected by suicide - STP funding to set up a reactive
support service for people who have been bereaved as a result of suicide. The service
will be managed by a family liaison officer who will offer support to families in the first
weeks after bereavement. They will also signpost people to follow-up services and peer
support groups. Part of this work will be to set-up SOBS (Survivors of bereavement due
to suicide) or similar groups in Cambridge and Peterborough and connect with CRUSE
bereavement counselling services.
Zero suicide initiative - This is the overarching ambition for suicide prevention locally and
aims to bring all partners together to support the development of a learning culture to drive
up quality so that suicide prevention is a priority for each organisation, across the system.

5.

CONSULTATION

5.1

The original Suicide Prevention Strategy (2014- 2017) was consulted upon widely with
stakeholders and the public in 2014. To date, the draft refresh of the strategy and action plan
has been shared with key partners who participate in the suicide prevention implementation
board, including CPFT and has been scrutinised by the Health Committee at Cambridgeshire
County Council.

5.2

Wider partnership stakeholder engagement and consultation is planned for October and
November 2017 through the multi-partnership suicide prevention implementation group and by
engagement with CPFT and their network of stakeholders.
A large workshop style consultation with Service Users and people with lived experience of
mental health crisis and suicide ideation is being planned for early next year.

6.

ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1

Consultation and scrutiny by Peterborough City Council of the refresh of the suicide prevention
strategy will enhance partnership working and knowledge of the initiatives that will facilitate their
implementation to better effect locally. Feedback from the committee will aid the fine-tuning of the
initiatives presented in the plan.

7.

REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1

HM Government requires each local area to have a Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan
with Public Health leading the co-ordination of a wider partnership group to oversee
implementation of the plan.

8.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1

The Suicide Prevention Strategy could have been extended to cover a longer period without a
updating. However this would not reflect the reality that progress has been made and new areas
have been identified that require further work.
The Suicide Prevention Strategy could have been allowed to lapse. However this would not
meet central government guidance as outlined under 7.1.

9.

IMPLICATIONS
Financial Implications

9.1

Peterborough City Council contribute £9,919 per annum to aid the continuing roll-out of ‘STOP

13

Suicide’
Legal Implications
9.2

There is a legal requirement to keep any person identifiable information confidential and
therefore, when data is received about suicide, this is held securely by Public Health
Equalities Implications

9.3

The work of the suicide prevention implementation group will be all inclusive for the benefit of the
community but will focus on groups at higher risk of suicide. This will take account of equality and
diversity issues as it identifies the most vulnerable groups in society.
Rural Implications

9.4

Suicide prevention includes work in hard to reach communities or those socially or geographically
isolated. The STOP suicide campaign identifies groups with increased risk of suicide to target
work as does the results of the annual suicide audit. Outreach to rurally isolated communities
may be required in order for suicide prevention to be fully effective.

10.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1

List any documents and other information used to write this report. DO NOT include exempt
items. Be specific as anything you list here must be available for public inspection for several
years after the committee meeting.
1. National Strategy: Preventing Suicide in England, 2012:
http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/files/2012/09/Preventing-Suicide-in-England-A-crossgovernment-outcomes-strategy-to-save-lives.pdf
2. Preventing suicide in England: Third progress report of the cross-government outcomes
strategy to save lives: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/suicide-prevention-thirdannual-report
3. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group Commissioning
Strategy for the Mental Health and Well-Being of Adults of Working Age 2013 – 2016
http://www.cpft.nhs.uk/Downloads/rod%20files/2013_0816_CCG_Adult_MH_Commissionin
g_Strategy_2013_FINAL.pdf
4. JSNA Cambridgeshire – health and wellbeing strategy see:
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20116/health_and_wellbeing_board
5. JSNA Peterborough Mental Health
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/pdf/HealthAndSocialCare-JSNA-Mental%20Health.pdf
6. Suicide Prevention Strategy CPFT 2013-2016 (closed document ) – for details please
contact author or CPFT
7. Emotional well-being and mental health strategy for children and young people 20142016 (draft strategy)
8. Suicides in students http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/about-ons/what-we-do/publicationscheme/published-ad-hoc-data/health-and-social-care/november-2012/index.html
9. National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide and homicide by people with Mental Health
illness – Annual report 2013
http://www.bbmh.manchester.ac.uk/cmhr/centreforsuicideprevention/nci/reports/AnnualRep
ort2013_UK.pdf
10. Samaritans report –men suicide and society:
http://www.samaritans.org/sites/default/files/kcfinder/files/Men%20and%20Suicide%20Rese
arch%20Report%20210912.pdf
11. No health without mental health:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215811/dh_1
24057.pdf
12. Public Health Outcomes Framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216159/dh_1
32362.pdf
13. Mental Health Crisis Concordat – Improving outcomes for people experiencing mental

14

health crisis, February 2014. Department of Health
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281242/36353
_Mental_Health_Crisis_accessible.pdf
14. Annual Report of the Chief Medical officer 2013 – Public Mental Health Priorities:
Investing in the Evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/351629/Annu
al_report_2013_1.pdf
15. Saving Lives: Our Healthier Nation; Department of Health, 1999:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/saving-lives-our-healthier-nation
16. Detroit model for suicide prevention:
http://zerosuicide.actionallianceforsuicideprevention.org/sites/zerosuicide.actionalliancefors
uicideprevention.org/files/PerfectDepressionCarearticles.pdf
17. ASIST suicide prevention training: http://www.chooselife.net/Training/asist.aspx
18. Mental Health First Aid training England: http://mhfaengland.org/
19. Suicide in primary care in England 2002-201118
http://www.bbmh.manchester.ac.uk/cmhr/research/centreforsuicideprevention/nci/reports/Sui
cideinPrimaryCare2014.pdf
20. Knapp et al 2011, Mental health promotion and prevention: The economic case.
http://www.lse.ac.uk/businessAndConsultancy/LSEEnterprise/pdf/PSSRUfeb2011.pdf
21. The Use and Impact of Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST) in Scotland:
An Evaluation Social research: The Scottish Government,
http://www.chooselife.net/uploads/documents/19-ASISTEvaluationFullReport.pdf
22. Bickley, H et al 2013; Suicide within two weeks of discharge from psychiatric inpatient
care. A case control study Psychiatric Services 2013
http://ps.psychiatryonline.org/article.aspx?articleID=1673604
23. Cox et al 2013; Interventions to reduce suicides at suicide hotspots: a systematic
review BMC Public Health 2013, 13:214
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3606606/pdf/1471-2458-13-214.pdf
24. Mann et al, 2005 Suicide Prevention Strategies: A systematic Review. JAMA.
2005;294(16):2064-2074
25. Support after a suicide: A guide to providing local services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-after-a-suicide-a-guide-to-providinglocal-services
26. We are in your corner – Samaritans: http://www.samaritans.org/media-centre/ourcampaigns/were-your-corner
27. MHRA – Best practice for the sale of medicines for pain relief http://www.mhra.gov.uk/home/groups/pl-p/documents/websiteresources/con065560.pdf
28. Hawton K, Bergen H, Simkin S et al (2010) Toxicity of antidepressants: rates of suicide
relative to prescribing and non-fatal overdose. British Journal of Psychiatry 196: 354-358
29. ‘Help is at hand’ a resource for people bereaved by suicide and other sudden, traumatic
death http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Suicide/Documents/Help%20is%20at%20Hand.pdf
30. Preventing Suicide - A Resource for Media Professionals: A resource guide produced
by the Department of Mental Health at the World Health Organization in 2000.
http://www.who.int/mental_health/media/en/426.pdf
31. Media guidelines for reporting suicide – Samaritans:
http://www.samaritans.org/sites/default/files/kcfinder/files/press/Samaritans%20Media%20G
uidelines%202013%20UK.pdf
32. NHS England and Public Health England ‘A call for Action: Commissioning for
Prevention’ November 2013. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk
WHO For which strategies of suicide prevention is there evidence of effectiveness
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/74692/E83583.pdf
11.

APPENDICES

11.1

Appendix 1: Draft Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-2010
Appendix 2: Three year Action Plan: Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-20

15

This page is intentionally left blank

16

Appendix 1

DRAFT Joint
Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Suicide
prevention strategy
2017-2020
Main Author: Katharine Hartley
Consultant in Public Health
Peterborough City Council

17

ORGANISATIONAL SIGNATORIES
To be added
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough suicide prevention strategy is the result of discussions
between partner organisations and individuals. We are grateful for the continuing support and input
from the following:

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

1

18

ARC
ASIST
CAB
CAF
CCG
CEC
CMO
CO
CPFT
CR/HT
CREDS
GPs
ICD10
LAC
MHFA
MHRA
NICE
ONS
PCAS
QALY
SCN
STP
SUN

Advice and Resource Centre
Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training
Citizens Advice Bureau
Clinical Assessment Framework
Clinical Commissioning Group
Clinical Executive Committee
Chief Medical Officer
Carbon monoxide
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Foundation Trust
Crisis Resolution/Home Treatment
Cambridgeshire Race Equality and Diversity Service
General Practitioners
International Classification of Diseases version 10
Local Area Coordination
Mental Health First Aid
Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Authority
National Institute for Health & Clinical Excellence
Office for National Statistics
Peterborough Community Assistance Scheme
Quality Adjusted Life Year
Strategic Clinical Network
Sustainability and Transformation Plans
Service User Network

2

19

CONTENTS – TO BE EDITED FOR FINAL COPY
Executive summary and key recommendations

4

Purpose

6

National Context

16

Local Context

19

National and local publications and guidance relevant to suicide prevention

26

A strategic local partnership for suicide prevention

35

The Zero Suicide Ambition

35

Suicide Prevention Plan

36

Priorities for suicide prevention

37

Priority 1 – Reduce the risk of suicide in high risk groups

37

Priority 2 – Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups

44

Priority 3 – Reduce access to the means of suicide

47

Priority 4 – Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected
by suicide

49

Priority 5 - Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and
suicidal behaviour

50

Priority 6 - Support research, data collection and monitoring

51

Evaluation

52

Resources for implementing initiatives to prevent suicide and sustainability

53

References

53

Appendix

56

3

20

‘Keep your face always to the sunshine and shadows will fall behind you’
Walt Whitman

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND KEY RECOMMENDATIONS
The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough suicide prevention strategy 2017-2020 is a refresh of the
2014-2017 strategy with updates on national and local suicide statistics, initiatives, evidence and
forward planning. Incorporated as a main thread throughout the strategy is an ambition towards
ZERO suicide, as agreed through the multi-partner suicide prevention implementation board in 2017.
This enhances the work already underway to prevent suicide locally, including ‘STOP Suicide’ and
the 111(2) First Response Service (FRS) for mental health crisis.
The strategy builds on and supports the National suicide prevention strategy – ‘Preventing suicide in
England, Dept. of Health 2012’1 but also includes a drive to aim for ZERO suicide. The key purpose is
to ensure that there is co-ordinated and integrated multi-agency agreement on the delivery of
suicide prevention services that is tailored appropriately to local need and is driven by the
involvement and feedback from service users. With a focus on Zero suicide, the strategy emphasises
the requirement for senior level engagement with all relevant organisations to ensure quality
improvement across the pathways of care for suicide prevention.
Six priority areas for suicide prevention in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough with recommendations
for actions are set out in sections 9-14 and accompanying action plan. A summary of the
recommendations is provided below.
Table 1 – Summary of suicide prevention priority areas and recommendations for actions
Priority area 1 – Reduce the risk of suicide in high risk groups
Recommendations
1.1 Continue to implement suicide prevention training (STOP suicide and ASIST) to professionals,
organisations and individuals in contact with people at risk of suicide. Develop and implement suicide
prevention training for GPs
1.2 Continue to develop and tailor suicide prevention resources for professionals, agencies and vulnerable
groups
1.3 Continue to raise awareness of STOP suicide and suicide prevention in community settings and to high
risk groups
1.4 Ensure access to resources to aid self-help in those at risk of suicide
1.5 Continue to develop integrated, appropriate and responsive services for those at risk of suicide –
including pathways for vulnerable groups such as those with co-occurring drug and alcohol and mental
health problems.
1.6 Reassess pathways for young people and adults known by mental health services at risk of suicide
1.7 Improve pathways and support for people taken into custody and newly released from custody at risk of
suicide

4

21

Priority area 2 – Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups
Recommendations
2.1 Continue to work with partners who are delivering the ‘Emotional wellbeing and mental health strategy
for children and young people’ to







Raise awareness and campaigning around self-harm
provide access to self-help resources that focus on building resilience in young people
Raise awareness on preventing bullying
assess pathways for support for children who are at risk of self-harm , particularly in vulnerable
groups of children and young people – youth offenders, children in care, children under the care of
people with mental health problems
Support initiatives that work with families to address children and young people’s mental health

2.3 Promote early interventions to aid prevention of mental health problems that could lead to suicide in
particular risk groups.
2.4 Promote training in mental health awareness, particularly with professional groups such as GPs to
recognise mental health issues and risk of suicide
Priority area 3 – Reduce access to the means of suicide
Recommendations
3.1 In line with regulations, ensure the removal of potential ligature points – particularly in places of
custody and in-patient settings
3.2 Continue to reduce the risk of suicide by jumping from high buildings accessible by the public including
multi-storey car-parks
3.3 Continue work to reduce the risk of suicide on railway lines
3.4 Work with Medicines Management teams at the CCG to ensure safe prescribing of some toxic drugs
3.5 Work with health and care professionals to establish and reinforce safety plans for individuals with
mental health problems
Priority area 4 – Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide
Recommendations
4.1 Ensure bereavement information and access to support is available to those bereaved by suicide
4.2 Implement a bereavement support service and pathway for those affected by suicide
Priority area 5 - Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behavior
Recommendations
5.1 Encourage appropriate and sensitive reporting of suicide
 Continue to provide information to professionals on the sensitive reporting of suicide
 Continue to work with local media to encourage reference to and use of guidelines for the reporting

5

22

of suicide
Priority area 6 - Support research, data collection and monitoring
6.1 Monitor real-time information on suspected suicides as they occur. Link this information to suicide data
provided on a quarterly basis by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough coroners. Include data from the Police
on suicides and near suicides.
6.2 Continue to conduct an annual audit of local suicides
6.3 Continue to disseminate current evidence on suicide prevention to all partner organisations
6.4 Evaluate and report on the suicide prevention implementation plan

1.1 Zero Suicide
The ambition towards Zero suicide as the ‘backbone’ of the strategy requires commitment by
organisations and individuals to create a cultural change in suicide prevention as summarised below.
Table 2 – Outline of the zero suicide ambition
Zero Suicide Ambition
Top level (Chief executive) engagement and commitment towards zero suicide for the main organisations
involved – CCG, CPFT, PCC, CCC, Police
Improve quality - Create a learning culture not a blaming culture that will review both suicide information
and information from people with lived experience to learn lessons and implement good practice.
Review and improve information sharing across agencies involved in the pathway of care of individuals with
mental health problems
Strengthen the suicide prevention implementation plan with a stronger emphasis on campaigns and
initiatives that raise awareness, educate and promote mental health across the population, but with a focus
on young people

2. PURPOSE
This document sets out the strategic priorities and recommendations to prevent suicide in
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough between 2017 and 2020. Accompanying the strategy is an action
plan that is updated from the previous suicide prevention strategy. The action plan is intended to be
used as a framework by key stakeholders for implementing the recommendations and for measuring
and evaluating suicide prevention outcomes.
Suicide is a major public health issue as it marks the ultimate loss of hope, meaning and purpose to
life and has a wide ranging impact on families, communities and society. Suicides more frequently
occur in the younger age group, and account for a larger proportion of years of life lost compared to
deaths from other causes. However, the National Suicide Prevention Strategy – Preventing Suicide in
6

23

England1 states that suicides are not inevitable and many can be prevented, thus supporting a call
for action to reduce suicide and the impact of suicide both at national and local level.
In line with national guidelines on preventing suicide, and to oversee the implementation of the local
strategy, a multi-agency suicide prevention implementation group meets on a quarterly basis with
input and membership from many organisations across public, charitable and voluntary sectors,
including:


Cambridgeshire County Council



Peterborough City Council



Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) - including CCG GP
leads for mental health and commissioning support



Police



Coroners



Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust



MIND



Lifecraft



Service User Engagement Network (SUN)



MindEd Trust



Youth Offender service



Rethink Carers



Prison and probation service



Samaritans



Individuals with lived experience

The strategy is refreshed as a result of the following key considerations:
Nationally






The National drive to prevent suicide – highlighted by the report “Preventing suicide in
England - a cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives HM Government September
2012”1 with progress reports including the most recent publication ‘Preventing suicide in
England: Third progress report of the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives’2
Public Health England’s guidance on ‘Local suicide prevention planning - a practice resource’
National momentum for Zero suicide including plans to create a Zero Suicide foundation.
Government commitment to improve mental health - a comprehensive package of measures
to transform mental health support in schools, workplaces and communities – as announced
in January 2017
7

24




Public Health England Guidelines to develop bereavement support services for those affected
by suicide: ‘Support after a suicide: a guide to providing local services’
The findings from the National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide and homicide by people
with Mental Health illness – Annual report 20168

Locally










Suicide prevention is specified in the STP improvement plan within the Primary Care and
Integrated Neighbourhoods (PCIN) delivery group, Mental Health Prevention and promotion
of mental wellness priority. This stipulates the continued implementation of the suicide
prevention strategy and findings of suicide audit.
The five year forward view on mental health states within the key priorities for investment
and focussed work 2016/17 and 2017/18 (primary prevention section): A local focus on
Continued implementation of multi-agency suicide prevention strategy and findings of
suicide audit (2016/17). By 2020/21 the number of people taking their own lives will be
reduced by 10% nationally compared to 2016/17 levels.
The Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Strategy identified five priorities to improve the
health and wellbeing of everyone in Peterborough including ‘to enable good child and adult
mental health through effective, accessible health promotion and early intervention
services’. The suicide prevention strategy includes areas that focus on mental health
promotion and early intervention. The findings of the Peterborough JSNA on the mental
health and mental illness of adults – 2015/2016 are also considered and help to focus the
suicide prevention action plan.
The development and implementation of a local Mental Health Crisis Concordat Declaration
and Action Plan. This work is being led by the Police, but is supported by members across
the partnership of organisations including the suicide prevention implementation group.
The suicide prevention strategy includes recommendations that link directly to the work
developed in the Crisis Concordat Action Plan.
Feedback consistently received from individuals affected by suicide and local agencies that
there is a need for:
o better support for those bereaved or affected by suicide
o clearer guidance where to seek help and advice for people who are worried that
someone they know might be at risk of suicide, or are presented with somebody
threatening suicide
o improved information sharing across the pathway of care for people at risk of
suicide
o improvements to training for GPs and other health professionals to identify and
manage those at risk of suicide

In developing recommendations and action plans for each priority area within the strategy, evidence
and information is drawn from national guidance and publications on what is effective in preventing
suicide. An emphasis is placed on local needs assessments and intelligence gathered from coroner
data. Consultation is made with service users and other organisations or groups including British
Transport Police, Probation services, Drug and Alcohol services, Public Health England and
8

25

Cambridge University Student welfare officers to identify groups at higher risk of suicide and gaps in
service provision.
Implementation of the recommendations and action plan are managed by a joint Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough Suicide Prevention Implementation Group. Multi-agency working across all
sectors, from NHS and mental health professionals to voluntary organisations, will be encouraged in
order to utilise expertise from these organisations to implement the proposed initiatives. Continuing
engagement with service users and their carers is expected for the successful development,
implementation and delivery of initiatives in each priority area. It is envisaged that working groups
will be established to address priority areas or particular recommendations and these will report to
the joint implementation group. The joint implementation group will be accountable for delivering
the strategy and will report progress on an annual basis to the various partner organisations;
Peterborough Adult Mental Health Stakeholder Group, Public Health Board and Health and
Wellbeing Board in Peterborough, the Health Committee in Cambridgeshire and the Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough Clinical Executive Committee.
2.1 Outcomes of the implementation of the suicide prevention strategy 2014-2017
The table below lists the progress made to date as a result of the suicide prevention strategy,
implementation plan and partnership working since 2014. Recent information is indicating a
reduction in overall suicide numbers between 2015 and 2016 of around 33% for Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough combined – see section 4.4 – annual suicide audit.
Table 3 – Summary of progress of the suicide prevention strategy 2014-2017
Priority area 1 – Reduce the risk of suicide in high risk groups
Suicide Prevention Training
Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST) Training
 Three ASIST trainers trained
 ASIST Courses delivered across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough targeting ‘Gate Keeper’
roles including those working with migrant communities and bereavement support
workers.
 An ASIST course was funded and delivered to peer support workers in Peterborough
prison.
 258 people trained in ASIST between October 2015 and January 2017
Bespoke stop suicide training - Locally developed ½ day STOP suicide course has been developed
and delivered. 21 STOP suicide workshops have been delivered reaching 236 people (From Oct
2015 to Jan 2017). These have included sessions with the following:






CAB
Three Homeless Charities
Oasis Community Centre (East European migrants)
NCS Programme (Peterborough)
UNISON

9

26






Junior Drs
Carers Trust
Cruse
Colleges (Impington, Homerton, Huntingdon, Ely, Peterborough)

Courses are also offered to the emergency services as part of MIND’s Blue Light Activity.
GP Training in suicide prevention
Funding has been secured through the STP for training of GPs across Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough in suicide prevention, which will focus on the patient/GP interaction, risk
identification, compassion and empathy as well as safety plans and follow-through care. Training
will be implemented from the Autumn 2017
Suicide prevention resources
Since October 2015 the STOP suicide Campaign Makers, partners and other local organisations
have helped us to distribute resources to at least 70 different locations across Fenland,
Peterborough, Melbourn, Cambridge i.e. pubs, leisure/sport centres, community centres, local
shops.
The Blue Light Programme team have also been giving out leaflets to emergency services across
Cambs and Peterborough.
In addition, Great Northern agreed to display STOP Suicide resources at its key railway stations
from end of July 2016 onwards
A website aimed at promoting mental health in children and young people has been developed –
‘Keep Your Head’ www.keep-your-head.com This includes a page designed with, and for, GPs. Crisis
information and suicide and self-harm information. Wide promotion of this resource has taken
place and is continuing.
A directory of Services App (MyHealth App) for the public and a professional directory of services
App (Midos) are being developed. These will be available along with the directory of services
produced by Lifecraft via ‘Keep Your Head’.
The development of an adult version of the ‘Keep Your Head’ website has been agreed with
funding secured from the ‘Better Care Fund’. This will be developed from September 2017 with
partner organisations and the Service User Network working together to create content.
Awareness raising in suicide prevention
Stop suicide website and pledge
As of January 2017 there were 1,220 personal pledges and 51 organisational pledges for STOP
Suicide. In addition, STOP Suicide had 1,343 twitter followers and 394 facebook fans. The STOP
suicide website has had 17,598 visitors and 45,047 page views. Approximately 3000 one to one
conversations with individuals around the subjects of mental health and suicide since September

10

27

2015. The campaign has recruited a total of 10 new Campaign Makers - four in Peterborough, five
in Cambridge and one in St Neots.
Promoting suicide prevention across the county:











‘No Shame In Talking’ video on ITV News Anglia – Fixers, 5 October 2016
http://www.fixers.org.uk/index.php?module_instance_id=11312&core_alternate_io_han
dler=view_fixer_news_video&data_ref_id=14785&news_data_ref_id=14784&video_no=1
– talk about STOP Suicide
‘Health Secretary Jeremy Hunt visits Cambridge's 'groundbreaking' mental health services’
– Cambridge News, 28 October 2016 http://www.cambridgenews.co.uk/news/health/health-secretary-jeremy-hunt-visits-12095230
CRC radio interview – talk about current campaigns, 2 December 2016
‘Cambridgeshire dad welcomes Theresa May's pledge to 'transform' attitudes to mental
health’ – Cambridge News, 10 January 2017 http://www.cambridgenews.co.uk/news/cambridge-news/cambridgeshire-dad-welcomes-theresa-mays12431838
‘Crisis cafes and community clinics among plans to improve mental health services in
Cambridgeshire’ – Ely Standard, 11 Jan 2017
http://www.cambstimes.co.uk/news/crisis_cafes_and_community_clinics_among_plans_
to_improve_mental_health_services_in_cambridgeshire_1_4844482
Promotion of suicide prevention awareness to coincide with suicide prevention day on
September 10th 2016 via a discussion hosted by radio Cambridgeshire

Develop Integrated services for those at risk of suicide
Vanguard/Crisis Care Concordat work has been successful at creating an integrated mental health
team with mental health nurses based in the police control room.
A First Response service (FRS)with crisis telephone number (111 option 2) was established in
September 2016 to help prevent people with mental health crisis going to A&E and being
admitted or sectioned under section 136 of the mental health act. In addition non health places of
safety (sanctuaries) have been established in Peterborough, Cambridge and Huntingdon for
people in mental health crisis to access via the FRS. This service has been shortlisted for the
Positive Practice in Mental Health Awards in the ‘Crisis and Acute Services’ category. In addition,
the FRS and Sanctuaries have been evaluated by the ‘Service User Network’ (SUN) against it’s ‘five
values’ of Empathy, Honesty, Inclusion, Personalisation and Working Together and have awarded
the FRS 3 stars (good rating) and Sanctuaries 4 stars (outstanding).
Data sharing - Information Sharing Agreements are in place across organisations to support the
Frequent Attenders CQUIN, in addition to MH and Acute Trusts this includes 111, ambulance
service, substance misuse, primary care (Work carried out through the Crisis Care Concordat).
PRISM (enhanced primary care) service for people with mental health problems is in place for
many areas across Cambridgeshire. This provides access to support and care for people struggling
with mental illness through referral via the GP or through ‘step down’ from secondary care. The

11

28

PRISM service is proving effective at reducing referrals to secondary care as people are managed
in the community.
Lifeline – continues to offer a free, confidential and anonymous telephone helpline service that
is available from 7.00pm – 11.00pm 365 days of the year for Cambridgeshire residents. The
Line provides listening support and information to someone experiencing mental distress or
to those supporting someone in distress. Lifeline is hosted by Lifecraft in Cambridge.

Priority area 2 – Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups
Anti-stigma work and mental health promotion targeting specific groups at higher risk
Funding to deliver courses to bar staff in Fenland as well as scoping work to assess feasibility of
training barbers/hair dressers. A need for mental health awareness and suicide prevention for
men working in the construction industry has been identified (through national data and suicide
surveillance) and will be a focus for the anti-stigma/suicide prevention work commissioned from
CPSL MIND
Other public engagement events through the ‘anti-stigma work:











Mental Health crisis support for young people event, Cambourne – 22 Sept
Shelf Help launch, Huntingdon library – 28 Sept
World Mental Health Day stand at South Cambs Council – 10 Oct
CCG Development Day stand – 13 October 2016
HRC Freshers’ Fair – 20 October 2016
Meeting a group of potential Campaign Makers, Wilbrahams Memorial Hall – 1 November
Hunts Forum AGM stand – 10 November 2016
Young people’s follow up event, Cambourne – 23 November 2016
Meeting with Cambs Football Association – 12 Jan 2017
TASC meeting, London – 13 Jan 2017

Children young people anti stigma/bullying in schools
Between October 2015 and January 2017 CPSL Mind have engaged approximately 555 young
people via workshops at Hills Road Sixth Form College, Kimbolton School, College of West Anglia,
Milton, Oliver Cromwell College, Chatteris, Thomas Clarkson Academy, Wisbech and Ramsey
College. Centre 33 have also been delivering mental health awareness sessions in schools.
Between September 2016 - March 2017 mental health awareness sessions had taken place in 11
with sessions booked for a further 7 other schools. Across the 11 schools a total of 821 students
engaged in the workshops. These sessions aim to challenge stigma and build understanding of
mental health.
The Stress LESS campaign launched in April 2016, aiming to support young people to manage
stress through the exam period. A range of resources were produced with over 6,500 being

12

29

downloaded and 2,695 website page views. Over 130 Stress LESS Action plans were made to
encourage people to ‘Take 5’ when revising.
Alongside the campaign a range of workshops are being run to enable school staff to deliver
‘Stress LESS’ sessions within their schools with pupils. As of Spring 2017 over 21 schools had been
involved in this training and a further 90 individuals were being trained over the summer term.
These workshops have been expanded to include information on how to respond to a young
person in distress (including discussion around self-harm and suicide).
Within schools that engage in the Stress LESS workshops, small grants are available to pupils who
have ideas they would like to develop to support the wellbeing of other students. These ideas are
taken forward by ‘Stress LESS’ champions in schools.
A range of training is provided by CPFT to upskill the children and young people’s workforce, this
includes specific training courses on areas such as responding to self-harm as well as a 14 day
CAMH foundation course. There is also tailored training for schools which includes the whole
school briefing which offers an introduction to mental health with a focus on the ethos and
culture around mental health in schools. Since 2015 there have been 49 schools that have held a
whole school briefing, which equates to 1,616 staff.
Tackling self-harm in young people
A self-harm conference was held in 2015 in Cambridgeshire for professionals and locally a guide to
‘understanding and responding to self-harm’ has been produced and is freely available (download
via the Keep Your Head website http://www.keep-your-head.com/CP-MHS/need-help-

now/suicide-and-self-harm-support). A self-harm support group for parents has been run by
PinPoint with support from local authority teams.
A range of training is provided by CPFT aimed at upskilling the children and young people’s
workforce in terms of mental health. Self-harm is covered within a number of courses, including
specific training on responding to self-harm. This training is free to access for many professionals.
Community based youth counselling services are run across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough,
with a bereavement service offered in Cambridgeshire also. These services offer face-to-face
counselling and support to young people. The Kooth online counselling service for young people
was commissioned in September 2016 to broaden the mental health support available for young
people.
Early interventions to prevent suicide
GP training
Funding obtained through STP for suicide prevention training for GPs. Funding is supplemented by
CCC Public mental health budget. A bespoke GP training package will be designed and
implemented hoping to cover 20-30% of GPs or practices within the next twelve months (from
September 2017) – see priority area 1. The training will help to improve GP recognition and

13

30

management of mental illness and use early intervention techniques to prevent escalation to
mental health crisis.
Money management/debt advice - debt prevention work is being funded with care leavers to
improve money management skills and ensure vulnerable young people know where to access
support if in financial trouble. A contract has also been awarded to support debt prevention and
money management support to those with a severe mental illnesses in Cambridgeshire. Both of
these pilot projects will be evaluated with a view to expanding provision in the future if successful.
Preventative work in schools (please see priority 2 for further details of training for school staff
and mental health awareness sessions with pupils).
In 2017/18 training is being offered to schools staff to develop peer mediation skills. This work
aims to support anti-bullying work locally. In addition a range of anti-bullying resources have been
developed locally by the PSHE service working together with schools in Cambridgeshire.

http://www5.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/learntogether/homepage/352/anti_bullying/
Drop in services for young people in Huntingdon and Peterborough and Cambridge as part of
Centre 33 and local authority partnerships. Delivering broad support as well as counselling.
Priority area 3 – Reduce access to the means of suicide
Car park barriers
The 2014-2017 strategy identified a need to reduce access to the means of suicide in
Peterborough carparks. There had been a number of suicides from Queensgate car park and
incidences of suicide at Northgate car park, both close to the city centre. There is strong evidence
for reducing access to the means of suicide in preventing suicide, particularly barriers at sights
where suicide has been frequent.
The suicide prevention implementation group along with other parties including the coroner in
Peterborough were successful in working with the owners of the Queensgate car parks to reach a
decision to erect barriers on all the car parks they operate in the city centre.
Car park barrier construction began in 2015 and was completed in 2017. There have been no
suicides from car parks in Peterborough since the start of the barrier construction.
It still remains a priority for the suicide prevention group to influence the owners of Northgate car
park in Peterborough and the Queen Anne car park in Cambridge to erect barriers
Suicide prevention on Railways
A range of work is being undertaken nationally as part of the railway Suicide Prevention plan –
Samaritans, Network Rail and British Transport Police.
-Samaritans/Network Rail campaign on the railway including printed messages on tickets and
posters at stations.
Some local stations are also displaying STOP Suicide resources.
14

31

-Staff training has been provided to railway employees to look out for and offer support to people
who may be considering taking their own life on the railway (provided by Network Rail nationally).
-Rail505 app – enables other passengers/anybody to report someone they are worried about or to
seek help themselves on the railway. https://www.rail505.com/
Safer medicines management
Following Child Death Overview Panel reports there was a communication to GPs regarding safe
prescribing to young people, this was also re-circulated.

Priority area 4 – Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by
suicide
Bereavement support - access to the ‘help is at hand’ leaflet for people bereaved as a result of
suicide:




Help is at hand booklet shared with Coroners Office (Feb15) and electronically shared
with Funeral directors. Information on ‘help is at hand’ circulated via the GP bulletin in
2015 and 2017.
Help is at Hand booklets circulated to all GP practices in Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough with instructions on how to re-order them.

Establishing a bereavement support service for people affected by suicide
STP Funding was granted in July 2017 to set up a reactive support service for people who have
been bereaved as a result of suicide. The service will be managed by a family liaison officer who
will offer support to families in the first weeks after bereavement. They will also signpost people
to follow-up services and peer support groups. Part of this work will be to set-up SOBS (Survivors
of bereavement due to suicide) groups in Cambridge and Peterborough and connect with CRUSE
counselling services.
Bereavement support resources
Bereavement support resources are promoted via the Stop Suicide Pledge website and Keep Your
Head website. These resources include specific sites for young people who are bereaved.
Priority area 5 - Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal
behavior
Communication with Cambridge News on the responsible reporting of suicide, including
information advice created by The Samaritans – this was initiated after a suspected suicide
incident was poorly reported by the Cambridge News. CCC Coms team have been involved in this
work.
Two visits were made to Radio Cambridgeshire to promote the responsible reporting of suicides.
Guidelines on suicide reporting were provided to the editor.
15

32

Support research, data collection and monitoring
Surveillance: suicide audit
An annual suicide audit was undertaken in 2015 (of deaths in 2014) and 2016 (of deaths in 2015)
The audits have helped to shape targeting of local work. The audit will continue to be undertaken
annually, with a detailed case review of a sample of files.
Work has been carried out together with the Coroner’s Office to improve the standardised regular
information received on deaths throughout the year. The quality of the information received has
improved.
Surveillance from British Transport Police
Data is received from BTP through an annual report and a warning system (national system).
Local, real-time surveillance system
A local real-time surveillance system has been established – This shares information from
Police/Coroner to Public health on suspected suicides as they occur. This information is essential
to establish a bereavement support service
The Coroner flags any notable patterns with the group or public health. The surveillance system
will also help to identify any concerns in terms of geographic/temporal patterns/clusters.
Suicide rates C&P
The suicide audit for 2014 showed 65 deaths as a result of suicide or unexplained deaths in
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. A similar audit of suicides for 2015 showed there were 66
deaths.

3. NATIONAL CONTEXT
This section reviews and reflects upon nationally available data on suicides in order to place local
information on suicides in context. With national reference points that include rates, trends, risk
factors, suicide methods and evidence of what works to prevent suicides, a local approach for
suicide prevention can be developed. This section summarises key findings from national data on
suicides and is intended to be used as a guide to draw comparisons with local data and information
presented in section 5.
Suicide is defined in England and Wales as a death with an underlying cause of intentional self-Harm
and/or an injury/poisoning of undetermined intent (ICD10 codes X60-X84 - all ages and Y10-Y34 – for
ages over 15 years). It is assumed that most injuries or poisonings of undetermined intent are selfinflicted, but there is insufficient evidence to prove that the person intended to take their own life.
16

33

This assumption however cannot be applied to children due to the possibility that these deaths were
caused by other situations – neglect or abuse for example. For this reason, data on suicides in
England only include persons aged 15 years and over for deaths from injury of undetermined intent
and may under-report deaths as a result of suicide in children.

3.1 Suicide rates and Trends
Data from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) The pattern of suicide since 2004 is a continued fall from
previous years, reaching a historical low in 2006 and 2007, a rise in 2008 and 2012, with intervening years
being lower, influenced by under-recording of “narrative” verdicts. Suicide rates have reduced since the peak
in 2012. Suicide rates are volatile from year to year and are influenced by and reflect social and
economic circumstances. Periods of high unemployment or severe economic problems have had an
adverse effect on the mental health of the population and have been associated with higher rates of
suicide.
Figure 1 – Rates of suicide in the general population in England, by gender.
Number of suicides included on the figure

Source: National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide and homicide by people with Mental Health illness
– Annual report 20168
3.2 Suicides by sex and age
Suicide in males is currently about three times the rate of suicide in females across all ages in
England. Of the total number of suicides in 2014, 3,457 were males and 1,098 were females.
Suicide occurs at all ages, however since 2006 the suicide rate was highest in men between the ages
of 45 and 54 years and has increased by 27%. In contrast, the suicide rate in younger men, aged 2534 has fallen since 2004 by 30% (figure 2). Middle-aged men are recognised as a one of the high-risk

17

34

groups and should be a focus for suicide prevention strategies. Suicide rates fell in women aged 2534 and rose in women aged 55-64 years.

Figure 2 – Male suicide rates in the general population in England in those aged 25-34, 45-54 and
55-64

Source: National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide and homicide by people with Mental Health illness
– Annual report 20168

3.3 Methods of suicide
National data from the ‘National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and homicide by people with
Mental Illness” – Annual report 20168 on methods of suicide over the last decade show that the most
common methods of suicide were hanging/strangulation, followed by self-poisoning (overdose) and
jumping/multiple injuries - mainly jumping from a height or being struck by a train
Less frequent methods were drowning, carbon monoxide (CO) poisoning, firearms, and
cutting/stabbing
Between 2001 and 2011, there were changes in method of suicide. Suicide deaths by hanging
increased, whilst those by self-poisoning and jumping decreased. Of the less common methods,
deaths by drowning, carbon monoxide poisoning, and firearms decreased.

18

35

3.4 Suicide Risk factors
Preventing Suicide in England, 20121 identifies groups of people at higher risk of suicide as follows:









young and middle-aged men
people in the care of mental health services, including inpatients
people with a history of self-harm
Physically disabling or painful illnesses including chronic pain
Alcohol and drug misuse
Stressful life events:
o Loss of a job
o Debt
o Living alone, or becoming socially excluded or isolated
o Bereavement
o Family breakdown and conflict including divorce and family mental health problems
o Imprisonment
Specific occupational groups, Low skilled male labourers, particularly construction workers,
building and finishing trades - plasterers and painters and decorators. Artistic, media and
literary occupations presented higher risk, particularly in females. Health professionals and
carers were at increased risk as were primary and nursery school teachers

Middle-aged men are identified as one of the high-risk groups and a priority for suicide prevention. A
recent report by the Samaritans suggested that middle-aged men, especially those from poorer
socio-economic backgrounds are particularly at risk of suicide due to a combination of factors. These
include social and cultural changes (for example, rising female employment and greater solo living)
that have particularly impacted on the lives of the cohort of men who are now in mid-life9
However, the greatest risk of suicide is found in people known to mental health services and
particularly in people during the four week period following discharge from psychiatric hospital
care8,21. It is important that the strategy focuses on identifying weaknesses in the system of care for
people with mental health problems and works towards reducing risk in these groups – See section 9
and 9.9 for details.

4. LOCAL CONTEXT
4.1 Local suicide rates
Analysis of suicide rates at a local level for national purposes, uses pooled data on suicides over
three year periods to provide a more consistent format to analyse suicide rates and trends when

19

36

small numbers are given annually. Standardised rates are used in order to make comparisons with
other regions.
4.2 Local suicide rates as measured by Public Health Indicator 4.10
The Public Health Outcomes Framework – 2013-201611 sets out the opportunities to improve and
protect health across the life course and to reduce inequalities in health. The Outcomes Framework
includes the Public Health Indicator 4.10 ‘Suicide Rate’ and reflects the importance to keep the
suicide rate at or below current levels.
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216159/dh_13236
2.pdf
A baseline suicide rate (deaths by suicide and injury of undetermined intent) is set for the period
2009-2011 using pooled three year average data. It is expected that each area will report and
compare the suicide rate on a yearly basis based upon pooled three year data.
4.3 Trends in local suicide rates
Data on pooled three-year rates for suicide are published on the Public Health Outcomes Framework
website: http://www.phoutcomes.info/ and show current indicators as measured against England
rates as well as recent trends in suicide rates. . The suicide rate in Peterborough has decreased
steadily since 2010-2012 when the rate was significantly above both the England and East of England
rates and is now similar to the England average. The suicide rate in Cambridgeshire has remained
similar to or slightly below the England average for the last five time periods. When the data for
Cambridgeshire is broken down to smaller local authority areas, all districts have recently had rates
of suicide which are similar to the England average, although in the past Cambridge City and Fenland
have both had periods of statistically higher suicide rates than average. No data is shown for East
Cambridgeshire due to small numbers.

Figure 3 – PHOF Indicator 4.10 – Suicide Rate. Directly age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000
for PETERBOROUGH compared with England

20

37

Figure 4 - Peterborough suicide rates (2013 -2015) with nearest CIPFA comparators

Although not significantly lower than the England rates, Peterborough has lower suicide rates than
most of the CIPFA comparators for the latest data collection time period (2013-2015). Comparators
are chosen as nearest and most similar local authority areas in terms of demographics and socioeconomic information.

21

38

Figure 5 – PHOF Indicator 4.10 – Suicide Rate. Directly age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000
for CAMBRIDGESHIRE compared with England

Figure 6 -Cambridgeshire suicide rates with nearest CIPFA comparators

Although not significantly lower than the England rates, Cambridgeshire has lower suicide rates than
most of the CIPFA comparators for the latest data collection time period (2013-2015). Comparators
are chosen as nearest and most similar local authority areas in terms of demographics and socioeconomic information.

22

39

Figure 7 – PHOF Indicator 4.10 – Suicide Rate. Directly age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000
for CAMBRIDGE CITY compared with England

Figure 8 – PHOF Indicator 4.10 – Suicide Rate. Directly age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000
for FENLAND compared with England

Figure 9 – PHOF Indicator 4.10 – Suicide Rate. Directly age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000
for HUNTINGDONSHIRE compared with England
23

40

Figure 10 – PHOF Indicator 4.10 – Suicide Rate. Directly age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000
for SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE compared with England

Source: Figure 10 data is taken from The Public Health Outcomes Framework information on
indicator 4.10 – suicide rate. Rates are based upon pooled data for the three year periods shown.
24

41

Rates are age- standardised and show the number of deaths per 100,000 population from suicide
and injury undetermined - ICD10 codes X60-X84 (all ages) and Y10-Y34 (for ages 15 and over)
registered in the respective calendar years, aggregated into quinary age bands (0-4, 5-9,…, 85-89,
90+). Counts of deaths for years up to and including 2010 have been adjusted where needed to take
account of the ICD-10 coding change introduced in 2011. The detailed guidance on the
implementation is available at http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126245.
4.4 Local annual suicide audit
A recommendation in the 2014-2017 strategy was to conduct a local suicide audit annually for
monitoring purposes and to inform the suicide prevention implementation group of any information
about concerns, or risk factors that could help focus the prevention work. Two full local suicide
audits have taken place so far – for 2014 and 2015 and an audit of suicides for 2016 is expected to
be initiated in the Autumn of 2017. It is important that the annual audit continues, particularly as
interventions are focused as a result of audit findings. This will allow data to be gathered to
understand effectiveness of interventions and where gaps and need may present. With ‘zero suicide’
as an overall ambition, the suicide audit will become embedded in the learning culture as case notes
are examined for lessons to be learned on a regular basis.
The local suicide audit for 2014 and 2015 showed there were 65 and 66 suicides and unexplained
deaths, respectively for these years in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.
The main findings from the 2014 and 2015 Suicide audits are summarised below. Due to the
sensitive nature of the information, details cannot be published.
In Peterborough there were 19 deaths in 2014 and 18 deaths in 2015 classified as suicide or
unexplained. The majority of suicides or unexplained deaths were by males ( 67%). 63% (2014) and
42% (2015) had current or previous contact with mental health services and 30% in 2015 had
contact within six months of death with mental health services.
In 2015, there was a noticeably high number of deaths in under 30 year olds in Peterborough and
Eastern European populations were overrepresented.
The 2015 audit results for Cambridgeshire & Peterborough showed:







In males the highest number of deaths was in under 25 year olds and 50-59 year olds.
In females the age pattern was more mixed, with highest numbers in 30-39 year olds and 7074 year olds.
The highest rate locally was in Peterborough, but Fenland and South Cambridgeshire also
have high rates compared to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough average. None of the
areas were statistically significantly above that of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough as a
whole though.
Around 30% had been in contact with mental health services within the 6 months prior to
death.
Where a mental illness diagnosis was recorded in the audit records, almost three-quarters
mentioned depression, as well as 29% with recorded anxiety.

25

42






Two thirds of people had been in touch with primary care in 2015 or within a maximum of 6
months prior to death.
19 people were found to have physical health problems, including 12 with long term
conditions (such as diabetes).
Alcohol misuse was noted in 9 records and 7 mentioned drugs, such as cannabis, cocaine,
amphetamine and crystal meth.
Bereavement was noted in 10 records.

4.5 CPFT Suicide Audit report 2013/14 and 2014/15 data
In 2015, a comprehensive audit on all suicides and possible suicides reported by the CPFT ‘Datix’
system during the period 2013/14 and 2014/15 was completed by the Trust. This covered suicides
and possible suicides of people who have been in contact with care of secondary mental health
within twelve months prior to death.
The audit identified 29 deaths in 13/14 with a 3:1 ratio of men to women. 32 deaths were identified
in 14/15 with a 1:1 ratio of men to women. Nationally, there is a 3:1 ration of men to women who
have died due to suicide, known to mental health services and therefore the 14/15 CPFT data shows
a divergence from the national trend.
For men the highest risk factors in both years were being single, unemployed, living alone and
experiencing relationship problems. For women, the highest risk factors were being unemployed,
and/or experiencing relationship problems. Behavioural risk factors included a history of self-harm
and previous suicide attempts.
31% (13/14 data) and 25% (14/15 data) had had contact with CPFT within seven days prior to death.
In both years, the majority of suicides were nCPA (Care Programme Approach) patients (55% in
2013/14 and 59% in 2014/15).
In 2013/14 14% had been referred to CPFT and were awaiting assessment at the time of death,
another 14% had been assessed as not requiring CPFT services, and another 14% had been assessed
and refused CPFT services. In 2014/15, the proportion was smaller for those who had been referred
to CPFT and were awaiting assessment at the time of death or had been assessed as not requiring
CPFT services. However, in 2014/15, 41% had been discharged from CPFT at the time of death.
National data has shown an increase in suicides from CRHT services and as of 2013 there were three
times as many suicides in CRHT services as in inpatient care in England. CPFT audit data also reflects
this national information.

5. NATIONAL AND LOCAL PUBLICATIONS AND GUIDANCE RELEVANT TO SUICIDE PREVENTION
The local suicide prevention strategy must reflect the latest national information, evidence and
guidance on improving mental health and preventing suicide for the population. In addition, the
suicide prevention strategy must reflect, support and build upon other local strategies that support
mental health. This section summarises the latest national and local publications that underpin the
suicide prevention strategy.
26

43

5.1 No health without Mental Health
Suicide prevention starts with a better understanding of mental health and improving the mental
health of populations, particularly those at high risk of mental health problems. No health without
mental health, published in 201110, is the government’s mental health strategy. Published alongside
this is an implementation framework to set out what local organisations can do to turn the strategy
into reality, what national organisations are doing to support this, and how progress will be
measured and reported.
5.2 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG Commissioning Strategy for the Mental Health and
Well-Being of Adults of Working Age 2013 – 20162
Our local Commissioning Strategy for the Mental Health and Well-Being of Adults of Working Age
provides detailed information on the commissioning intentions and objectives for the next three
years. Four key priority areas are identified and within these, priority objectives are listed. Many of
the objectives are relevant to suicide prevention in our local area and are listed in table 2 below –
extracted from the Commissioning Strategy for the Mental Health and Well-Being of Adults of
Working Age 2013 – 20162.
Table 4 – Extract from ‘the Commissioning Strategy for the Mental Health and Well-Being of Adults
of Working Age 2013 – 2016’ showing key priority areas and objectives that are relevant to suicide
prevention
Key Commissioning
Priority Area
1. Prompt Access to

Objectives relevant to suicide prevention



Effective Help





2. The “Recovery”
Model.







Introduce a single-point of access Advice and Resource
Centre (ARC) to local mental health services for referrers,
carers and service users CCG-wide.
Seek to expand the range of treatment options available –
including self-help, online resources, counselling, etc. for
people experiencing mild-to-moderate mental health
problems that could be effectively helped without the need
to access specialist mental health services;
Improve the help and support offered throughout the CCG
to offenders with mental health problems
Ensure more equal access to voluntary sector services
throughout the CCG.
Improve support for Carers and engagement in care
planning of loved ones.
Robust discharge planning processes
Ensuring there is access to a specialist community-based
forensic mental health service for former offenders
throughout the CCG.
Improved partnership working between primary care,
secondary services, and voluntary organisations to
27

44



3. The Inter-



Relationship between



Physical Health and
Mental Health
4. Improve Our
Commissioning



strengthen the local response to people who may be at risk
of suicide
Ensure that there is appropriate training in mental health for
key stakeholders such as GPs
Support the introduction of Liaison Psychiatry Services at
Hinchingbrooke and Peterborough hospitals.
Ensure people with Dual Diagnosis promptly receive the
help they need for both their mental health and substance
misuse problems
Ensure that the services we commission are safe, effective
and value-for-money

Processes
5.3 Preventing suicide in England1
Preventing suicide in England is the national strategy intended to reduce the suicide rate and
improve support for those affected by suicide. The strategy builds on the successes of the earlier
strategy published in 2002. The overall objective of the strategy is to reduce the suicide rate in the
general population in England and to better support for those bereaved or affected by suicide. It sets
out key areas for action and brings together knowledge about groups at higher risk as well as
effective interventions and resources to support local action.
The main changes from the previous national suicide prevention strategy are the greater
prominence of measures to support families - those who are worried that a loved one is at risk and
those who are having to cope with the aftermath of a suicide. The strategy also makes more explicit
reference to the importance of primary care in preventing suicide and to the need for preventive
steps for each age group.
The Six key areas for actions to prevent suicide are listed as follows:
o
o
o
o
o
o

Reduce risk of suicide in key high risk groups
Improve mental health in specific groups
Reduce access to the means of suicide
Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide
Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal
behaviour
Support research, data collection and monitoring

The strategy outlines a range of evidence based local approaches and good practice examples are
included to support local implementation. National actions to support these local approaches are
also detailed for each of the six areas for action.

http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/files/2012/09/Preventing-Suicide-in-England-A-cross-government-outcomesstrategy-to-save-lives.pdf
1

28

45

The inclusion of suicide as an indicator within the Public Health Outcomes Framework - 4.1011 will
help to track national and local progress against the overall objective to reduce the suicide rate.
5.4 Key findings for England from the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by
People with Mental Illness, 20168:
This report analyses data on deaths by suicide and undetermined cause in people known to mental
health services. Data is compared with that obtained for the general population. Factors leading to
or contributing to suicide are analysed and recommendations for service improvements are made as
a result of these findings.
The main findings on suicides by people known to mental health services are:















During 2004-14, 18,172 deaths (28% of suicides in the UK general population) were by
people under mental health care
In the UK in 2014, around 460 patient suicides were recorded - in acute care settings – inpatient and post-discharge care and crisis teams.
In-patient suicides have continued to fall with a decrease of around 60% during 2004-14.
This fall is partly attributed to the removal of ligature points to prevent deaths by hanging
but there has been a reduction in suicides on and off the ward by all methods. However,
despite this success, there were 62 suicides by in-patients in the England in 2014.
There are three times as many suicides by patients under the care of the Crisis Resolution
Home Treatment service CHRT - in the community, as there are in in-patients.
Of the patients who died by suicide who were under the care of CRHT services, a third were
known by the service for less than one week and a third had recently been discharged from
hospital. 43% of those who died by suicide lived alone. The report suggests that CRHT may
not be a suitable setting for their care and raise concerns that CRHT has become the default
option for acute mental health care because of pressure on other services, particularly beds.
Suicide risk is high in the first three months post discharge with highest risk during the first
two weeks. Deaths are associated with preceding short term admissions and lack of care
planning. However, there has been a fall in postdischarge deaths occurring before first
service contact, and this points to a recognition of the need for early follow-up.
Of the patients who died by suicide, over 50% had a history of alcohol or drug misuse.
Hanging, followed by self poisoning were the most common methods used for suicide in
patients. However, jumping from a height or in front of a train was the third most common
method . Suicide prevention initiatives by mental health services should consider how to
address the physical safety of their local environment
Economic challenges were seen to have an impact on patient suicide as 13% of patients who
died by suicide had experienced serious financial difficulties in the previous 3 months.
New migrant status is noted in 5% of patient suicides - people who had been living in the UK
for less than five years. 20 deaths over a four year period were recorded in people who were
seeking permission to stay in the UK

Recommendations made by the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People
with Mental Illness, 20168

29

46

The following table is taken from the National Confidential Inquiry report and lists recommendations
for safer patient care to avoid suicide:
Table 5 – Recommendations by the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by
People with Mental Illness, 20168

Source: the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness, 20168

The findings above are used to strengthen recommendations for local interventions as part of the
action plan that accompanies this strategy.
Figure 11 - Number of patient suicides by week following discharge, England?, 2004-2014

Source: the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness, 20168

30

47

5.5 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Emotional well-being and mental health draft strategy
for children and young people 2014-20166
The suicide prevention strategy takes account of recommendations made in the Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough CCG ‘Emotional well-being and mental health strategy for children and young people
2014-2016’. This document recognises that the mental health and wellbeing of children and young
people is everybody’s business and by partnership working, more efficient use of resources to
provide the right intervention at the right time to the right people will result.
The specific areas for action listed in this draft strategy are:
1. The commissioning of mental health services will be outcome-focussed, maximising the
capacity of statutory and voluntary sector organisations
2. Mental health support will be everyone’s business, all partners will understand the role they
can play and support will be co-ordinated, integrated, evidence based and cost effective.
3. There will be clear pathways of care across agencies, with the right level of expertise and a
shared professional knowledge
4. Services will be available for all levels of need, maximising the opportunities for early
intervention and prevention, whilst also providing for those with severe and enduring
mental health problems
5. Ensure that children and young people’s mental health needs are identified early and
support is easy to access and prevents problems getting worse
6. Standardised principles of practice will be adopted across all organisations
5.6 Mental Health Crisis Concordat – Improving outcomes for people experiencing mental health
crisis – February 201412
The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat is a national agreement between 22 national bodies
involved in the care and support of people in crisis and includes health, policing, social care,
housing, local government and the third sector. The concordat sets out how partners will work
together to ensure that people receive the help they need when they are in mental health crisis.
The Concordat focuses on four main areas:




Access to support before crisis point – making sure people with mental health problems
can access help 24 hours a day and are taken seriously.
Urgent and emergency access to crisis care – making sure that a mental health crisis is
treated with the same urgency as a physical health emergency.
Quality of treatment and care when in crisis – people are treated with dignity and
respect, in a therapeutic environment.

31

48



Recovery and staying well – preventing future crises by ensuring that people are
referred to appropriate services.

Although the Crisis Care Concordat focuses on the responses to acute mental health crises, it also
includes a section on prevention and intervention. This strategy includes and reflects some of the
key messages and recommendations from the concordat, aiming to reinforce a commitment by
partners to work together in preventing and managing crises. To this end, members of the suicide
prevention strategic group will support the development of the mental health crisis care concordat
declaration and action plan to ensure a joined-up approach to effective crisis management and
prevention.
5.7 Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2013 – Public Mental Health Priorities: Investing in
the Evidence
The report from the Chief Medical officer focuses on epidemiology and the quality of the evidence
base for public mental health and includes a chapter on suicide prevention13. The report highlights
the recent increase in both the suicide and self-harm rates (since 2006/7), and suggests that the
economic recession is the most likely cause for the increase. The risk of suicide in the year following
self-harm is much greater than that of the general population. In addition, risk of suicide is high in
people who are admitted for psychiatric treatment and remains high in the immediate postdischarge period. However, around three quarters of suicides occur in people not known to
psychiatric services.
Suicide prevention should be based on evidence of what is effective. To improve safety of mental
health services, access to 24 hour crisis services, policies for patients with dual diagnoses
(drug/alcohol problems in combination with mental illness) and multidisciplinary reviews after
suicide are effective strategies. Suicide prevention in the general population should focus on
restricting of access to means of suicide, population approaches to reduce depression and
improvements in detecting and managing psychiatric disorders with increased voluntary sector and
internet based support. It is also recommended that work is carried out with media and internet
providers to ensure responsible reporting of suicide. Self-harm should be followed up with a
psychosocial assessment and access to psychological therapy upon discharge and screening for dual
diagnoses. Importantly, it is recommended that surveillance should be in place to ensure that
information about changes and trends in suicides are identified to enable public health action.
This strategy learns from the recommendations made in the CMO report, and this is reflected in the
details contained within the accompanying action plan.

6. LOCAL ACTIVITY TO PREVENT SUICIDE - MAPPING SUICIDE PREVENTION SERVICES
PROVIDED IN CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH
It is important to understand the current services and pathways with regard to suicide prevention in
order to form a map of available interventions with which to identify any gaps and weaknesses in
the system. A summary of the available services is provided in the following sections:

32

49

6.1 Services for people with mental health problems
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG currently commissions services for local adults with
mental health problems on a pathway basis from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS
Foundation Trust (CPFT). In addition, NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG along with
Cambridgeshire County Council and Peterborough City Council commission mental health services
from a range of local independent and voluntary sector organisations. Some mental health services
are commissioned as part of the mental health Crisis care work that includes police.








CPFT Locality Teams; IAPT, Psychosis, Affective Disorders, Assertive Outreach
Acute Care Pathway (including crisis resolution and home treatment (CRHT) and Psychiatric
Intensive Care Pathway). The acute pathway may include contact with liaison psychiatry
services
PRISM
111 (2) mental health crisis telephone line with First Response Service (FRS)support into the
community.
Community Sanctuaries (in Cambridge, Peterborough and Huntingdon) for people to be
referred to by the FRS if in mental health crisis
CAMEO (NHS service that provides specialised assessment, care and support to young
people experiencing a first episode of psychosis)

Third sector organisations involved in supporting people known to have mental health problems and
suicidal risk include:










MIND in Cambridgeshire
Group Therapy Centre
Cambridge Counselling Services
Choices
Oakdale
Relate Counselling
LIFECRAFT
The Richmond Fellowship
Rethink Carers

6.2 Services for people at risk of suicide not known by mental health services


Independent and Voluntary Sector Services Voluntary sector organisations play a significant
role in local mental health service provision, often for people who may struggle to access the
“mainstream” services
o Samaritans
o Lifecraft
o Lifeline
o MIND
o Richmond Fellowship
o Bereavement services – CRUSE bereavement
33

50

6.3 Gap analysis in suicide prevention service provision – information from the 2014-2017 strategy
Service user feedback is crucial in determining where the gaps in service provision lie for suicide
prevention across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG Commissioning Strategy for the Mental Health and
Well-Being of Adults of Working Age 2013 – 20162 consulted with service users, carers,
HealthWatch, GPs and the Patient Experience Team to identify gaps in service provision relevant to
suicide prevention as follows:












Raising awareness and mental health promotion to ensure better access to services, and
linking between physical and mental health services. Make the best use of existing
campaigns to raise awareness
Improved information and services for carers
Improved crisis support
Prompt access to appropriate services
Prompt and appropriate response by services – particularly in crisis
acknowledge the role of carers in supporting people with severe and enduring mental illness
Commissioners and providers review practice to ensure recipients of mental health support
services always have details of who they can contact when in distress 24 hours a day.
greater emphasis throughout services upon prevention, early intervention, support and selfmanagement
prompt access for GPs to obtain advice and effective help for patients presenting at
surgeries in distress or “crisis”
partnership working across local service providers (including the voluntary sector) in order
that patients receive an integrated and seamless service across all interfaces

These issues were used to inform the suicide prevention implementation plan 2014-2017. Some of
the needs are being addressed through workplans initiated in the last few years and details can be
found in the implementation plan and summary of suicide prevention work to date. However, many
of the needs are still relevant and additional needs are identified through consultation work through
the suicide prevention implementation group










Access to sanctuaries during mental health crisis in all areas of Cambridgeshire, including an
unmet need in Fenland
Better working relationships between and across the statutory services and third sector
agencies to ensure sharing of information and timely and appropriate response to those
requiring mental health support and crisis resolution
Faster access to therapy, particularly for those with depression.
Support for drug and alcohol users with mental health problems who do not meet the
threshold for treatment under the dual diagnosis pathway
Walk in centres – there is a lack of walk in voluntary centres that offer support and help to
people at risk of suicide. Cambridge has Lifecraft and Centre 33 (for people aged below 25
years). No similar walk in centres exist in Fenland, Peterborough or Huntingdon.
Bereavement support services for people bereaved as a result of suicide
Mental health promotion targeted to men at higher risk of suicide
34

51

7. A STRATEGIC LOCAL PARTNERSHIP APPROACH TO SUICIDE PREVENTION IN
PETERBOROUGH AND CAMBRIDGESHIRE
In line with National guidelines on preventing suicide, and in recognition that an effective local
public health approach is fundamental to suicide prevention, a multi-agency local suicide prevention
group was established to provide input and recommendations to develop and refresh this strategy.
The group is formed from partner organisations and stakeholders and includes representatives from
the NHS – GPs and clinical commissioners, public health, mental health trusts, police, coroners and
charitable organisations –such as The Samaritans, Lifecraft and MIND (see section 2 for details). An
important aspect to developing a local strategy for suicide prevention will be engagement with
‘service users’ – those who have been affected by suicide or at risk of suicide. With service user input
and feedback, the strategy should reflect what is needed and what would work to minimise suicide
risk in the population.
Note: service user and stakeholder consultations on this strategy and action plan are scheduled for
the Autumn of 2017
8. THE ZERO SUICIDE AMBITION
There has been national and local interest to embrace what is termed as a ‘zero suicide initiative’.
Zero suicide was conceived through the ‘Detroit model’ for suicide prevention15 , which has been
successful in America - creating a cultural shift in how patients with mental health problems are
cared for with the emphasis on an ambition to achieve a zero rate of suicides as a core responsibility
of the ‘caring’ organisations. The core principles and values of the ‘Detroit model’ are based on six
dimensions and ten rules for perfect care:
Table 6 – Six dimensions and ten rules of perfect care according to the ‘Detroit Model’
Six Dimensions of Perfect Care
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Safe
Effective
Patient Centred
Timely
Efficient
Equitable

Ten rules of perfect care
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

Care is relationships
Care is customised
Care is Patient centred
Share knowledge
Manage by Fact
Make safety a system priority
Embrace transparency
Anticipate patient needs
Continually reduce waste
Professionals Cooperate

More information about zero suicide nationally and internationally – more information to be added.
Mersey care – more information to be added.
Zero suicide foundation – more information to be added.
35

52

The suicide prevention group has also agreed to endorse the Detroit principle to aim to work
towards zero suicides in our local area. This will form the overarching principle for all suicide
prevention as outlined in this strategy. Zero suicide requires high level commitment by all partner
organisations and support by individuals to drive through the cultural change required to make this a
success.
A Workshop in July 2017 consulted key stakeholders on the zero suicide ambition and what this
means locally to support the suicide prevention implementation plan. The themes that emerged are
presented in the box below.
As Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have already established the ‘STOP suicide campaign’ , which
is now recognised widely across the county and has the support of all major organisations involved
in mental health care, the ambition towards ‘zero suicide’ will not be viewed as a new initiative but
embedded as the core principle for the local strategy and STOP suicide campaign.
Table 7 – Local goals for the zero suicide ambition
Zero Suicide Ambition – Main goals for implementation locally
Top level (Chief executive) engagement and commitment towards zero suicide for the main organisations
involved – CCG, CPFT, PCC, CCC, Police
Improve quality at the organisational level- Engagement with organisational workforce to create a learning
culture not a blaming culture. Part of this process will involve reviewing both suicide information and
information from people with lived experience to learn lessons and implement good practice.
Improve quality at the individual level – win over ‘hearts and minds’ for zero suicide so it is at the forefront
of peoples’ minds during day to day organisational business and becomes part of life.
Review and improve information sharing across agencies involved in the pathway of care of individuals with
mental health problems
Strengthen the local STOP suicide campaign and suicide prevention implementation plan with a stronger
emphasis on campaigns and initiatives that raise awareness, educate and promote mental health across
the population, but with a focus on young people

9. SUICIDE PREVENTION PLAN
The zero suicide ambition will provide the main thread for suicide prevention and its work will be
embedded in all areas within the plan. The suicide prevention plan is divided into six priority areas
based upon the national guidance ‘Preventing suicide in England, 20121:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups
Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups
Reduce access to the means of suicide
Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide
Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behavior
36

53

6. Support research, data collection and monitoring.
In tackling each priority area, evidence and information is taken from national guidance and
publications on what is effective in preventing suicide, but an emphasis is placed on local needs and
information gathered from the suicide audit and stakeholders that identify groups at higher risk of
suicide and gaps in service provision. In all areas there will be encouragement of multi-partnership
working across all sectors from NHS and mental health professionals to voluntary organisations that
will utilise expertise from these organisations to implement the proposed initiatives. Continuing
engagement between the dedicated members of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough suicide
prevention group and service users and their carers is essential for the successful design,
development, implementation and delivery of initiatives in each priority area.
Each priority area is discussed in detail and recommendations for action are made in the following
sections of this strategy document.
10. PRIORITY 1 - REDUCE THE RISK OF SUICIDE IN KEY HIGH-RISK GROUPS
Data presented in ‘Preventing suicide in England1’ identified particular groups at higher risk of
suicide – see section 3.4. It is important to compare and contrast the high risk groups identified
nationally with local data on suicides as well as local information based upon health and wellbeing
needs assessment in order to focus suicide prevention resources appropriately to those in greatest
local need.
10.1 Identifying People at higher risk of suicide
The suicide prevention strategic group includes Peterborough and Cambridgeshire coroners who are
providing comprehensive local suicide data to the group on a regular basis. Analysis of the local data
on suicides has enabled the identification of local suicide risk factors and emerging issues. In
particular, men from Eastern European migrant populations – Polish and Lithuanian nationals
residing in Peterborough and Fenland regions are emerging as a high risk group for suicide. In
addition, unemployment, bereavement, drug or alcohol use are factors that have been recognised
through the local suicide audits as potential risk factors. Groups of people, such as middle aged
men (particularly those working in building and construction or IT), people in custody, gypsies and
travellers and homeless are also identified as at increased risk of mental health issues and suicide.
Cambridge has a higher proportion of students in the population compared with similar sized cities
as it is home to both the university of Cambridge and Anglia Ruskin University. Although the risk of
suicide in the Cambridge student population has not been established, ONS data has shown a
substantial increases in both male and female suicides in the student population from 2007-20117
Based upon the evidence above of people at high risk of suicide both nationally and locally, the
following groups of people will form the basis for targeted interventions (table 3):

37

54

Table 8 - Groups at high risk of suicide – Cambridgeshire and Peterborough















New migrants – Polish and Lithuanian people
People in contact with mental health services – including people recently
discharged from psychiatric hospital care
Unemployed people and those in financial difficulties
Students
Middle-aged men
Gypsies and travellers
Young offenders
People in custody
People who self-harm and have had a history of self-harm
Alcohol/drug users
Bereaved people and those bereaved by suicide
Veterans
Gay, lesbian, transsexual people
Children with mental health problems at risk of self-harm

The strategy recognises that individuals may fall into two or more high-risk groups. Conversely, not
all individuals in the group will be vulnerable to suicide. Other risk factors, such as loneliness, social
circumstances and physical illness, must also be considered within the wider context or risk
Preventing suicide in England, Department of Health, 20121
10.2 Creating tools and resources to aid suicide prevention in high risk groups
The evidence base for suicide prevention highlights particular interventions that have been shown as
effective in reducing risk or raising awareness of suicide. The best suicide prevention strategies use a
combination of tools and interventions.
Based on the evidence of what is effective in preventing suicide, the following tips have been
developed to aid the development of the suicide prevention strategy:







Emphasise self-help and provide solutions for self-help
Emphasise that suicide is preventable - there are preventative actions individuals can take if
they are having thoughts of suicide or know others who are at risk of suicide.
The impact of mental illness and substance abuse as risk factors for suicide can be reduced
by access to effective treatments and strengthened social support.
Don’t glorify or romanticize suicide or people who have died by suicide. Vulnerable people,
especially young people, may identify with the attention and sympathy garnered by
someone who has died by suicide.
Teach people how to tell if they or someone they know may be thinking of harming
themselves and how to protect them from this harm.

38

55

10.3 Recommendations to prevent suicide in high risk groups
This strategy reflects what is known from the evidence base on suicide prevention and uses
knowledge of local gaps in service provision to make the following recommendations for actions in
preventing suicide in high risk groups:
1. Suicide prevention training – for professionals and other front-line workers in contact with
vulnerable groups at risk of suicide
2. Develop suicide prevention resources for professionals in contact with vulnerable groups
and for self-help
3. Promote awareness raising campaigns to prevent suicide
4. Ensure integrated, appropriate and responsive services to those at risk of suicide
5. Reassess pathways for people known by mental health services at risk of suicide – ensure
follow-up provision of care upon discharge from services.
6. Improve pathways and support for offenders and people taken into custody at risk of
suicide.
Each of these recommendations for action is discussed in detail below, highlighting how they will
reach out to the target groups at high risk of suicide across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
10.4 Recommendation 1.1 - Suicide Prevention Training
The recommendation is to enable mental health and suicide prevention training throughout
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough for professional groups and third sector organisations in regular
contact with adults who are at risk of suicide. The training will equip people in recognising the signs
and symptoms of mental health problems and suicidal behaviour in people they encounter through
the work they do. Moreover, it will give them the skills and confidence to respond appropriately to
affected individuals – to support and refer them appropriately.
From 2017 -2020 suicide prevention training will continue after initial funding in 2014 from the
Strategic Clinical Network. This helped to set-up the local STOP suicide initiative, that included
training. From 2015, funding for suicide prevention training was provided by Cambridgeshire County
Council (CCC) with support funding from Peterborough City Council (PCC) to continue the work of
the STOP Suicide initiative. MIND in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire with support from Lifecraft in
Cambridge deliver the suicide prevention training on behalf of the partnership.
Training in suicide prevention aims to reach beyond “traditional” models of suicide prevention by
engaging with a much wider range of agencies, including voluntary organisations and faith groups
who are likely to come into contact with the two thirds of suicides who are not in contact with
mainstream mental health services.
Suicide prevention training is provided from a recognised and evidence-based source such as
‘Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training’ (ASIST )16. ASIST is a two-day suicide prevention course
that aims to help both professionals and lay people to become more willing, ready and able to
recognise and help persons at risk of suicide. ASIST is intended as ‘suicide first-aid’ training, and is
focused on teaching participants to recognise risk and learn how to intervene effectively to reduce
the immediate risk of suicide. A study by the London School of Economics estimated the cost39

56

effectiveness of implementing ASIST training to GPs and concluded that the cost per QALY (Quality
Adjusted Life Year) saved was £1,573 – extremely cost effective in terms of medical interventions
A bespoke, half day ‘STOP suicide’ suicide prevention training course has been developed by MIND
and Lifecraft and is offered as an alternative to the two day ASIST training.
In addition, Cambridgeshire County Council continues to support Mental Health First Aid (MHFA)17
training, in order to promote general mental health awareness in professional groups and
organisations likely to be in contact with people with a broad range of mental health needs is
recommended.
CPFT also offer suicide prevention training as do Samaritans – details to be added
Suicide prevention training will be targeted to individuals and organisations who are most likely to
encounter people at risk of suicide, with priorities given to people working with those with
recognised risk locally, for example, Eastern European migrants or men working in the
building/construction industry.
In order to create a culture that encourages an understanding and appreciation of the roles and
responsibilities of other agencies, suicide prevention training, where possible will be offered to
mixed groups of professionals. This would promote partnership working between agencies and
deliver consistent messages on suicide prevention across the professional groups. Mixed groups will
also facilitate a better understanding of each other’s roles and responsibilities when dealing with
people in crisis.
GP Training in suicide prevention
Funding has been secured through the STP with some support from CCC and PCC for training of GPs
across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough in suicide prevention. GPs are most likely to have contact
with people at risk of suicide in many of the ‘high risk’ categories listed in Table 3.The 2015 audit of
suicides and deaths from undetermined intent for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough found that two
thirds of people had been in touch with primary care in 2015 or within a maximum of 6 months prior
to death. Suicide prevention training for GPs can potentially enable greater identification of those at
risk, and earlier referral to evidence based treatment services (Suicide in primary care in England
2002-201118. Training will focus on the patient/GP interaction, risk identification, compassion and
empathy as well as safety plans and follow-through care. Training will be implemented from the
Autumn 2017.
10.5 Recommendation 1.2 - Develop suicide prevention resources for professionals in contact with
vulnerable groups and for self-help
Different professional groups and organisations with direct contact with people at risk of suicide will
have differing responsibilities towards these people. Often there is a lack of clarity or understanding
about what is appropriate in terms of responding to a person who may be suicidal or in signposting
that person to sources of self-help. In order to bridge this gap, it is recommended that resources be
developed for professional groups and organisations that will act as protocols and provide
signposting information in any circumstances where professionals are in contact with people at risk
of suicide. Resources will help to empower organisations with information to help vulnerable people
40

57

in mental health crisis. Examples of suicide prevention protocols for GPs and for people working for
MIND are provided in Appendix 1
A variety of resources and information was developed and collated as a result of the 2014-2017
suicide prevention implementation plan. These included the development and promotion of the
STOP suicide initiative, including the STOP suicide website: http://www.stopsuicidepledge.org/. The
development of the local ‘Keep Your Head’ website with resources and information aimed at young
people, their carers and professionals: http://www.keep-your-head.com/CP-MHS. Wide promotion
of the Crisis (111/2) service has been undertaken by the partnership. The suicide bereavement
support leaflet has been distributed via GPs, police, coroners and will be promoted on a regular
basis.
There has been support and agreement by partners involved in suicide prevention work to create an
adult version of the ‘keep your head’ website, which will contain information, resources and selfhelp guides for people experiencing mental health problems or suicidal thoughts. This work will be
initiated in the Autumn of 2017, with funding in place to support (through the Better Care Fund).
A directory of services has been produced by Lifecraft in Cambridge and a professional and service
user App (MiDos and MyHealth), are being created to contain information about mental health
support and services with funding through the Mental Health Delivery Board. These will be
promoted through the various websites mentioned above.
An opportunity exists to work with professionals to develop care plans for people known by mental
health organisations to ensure up-to-date self-help resources and contact information is included to
help prevent escalation of mental health problems into crisis. This can be facilitated through the
proposed GP training.

10.6 Recommendation 1.3 – Awareness-raising campaigns and the Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Pledge to reduce suicide
The 2014-2017 suicide prevention strategy recommended the development of a range of awareness
raising initiatives and campaigns in collaboration with service users through focus group feedback.
Service users representing particular high-risk or hard to reach groups should be sought to ensure
resources and advocacy services are developed appropriately. Resources will need to be translated
into other languages, including Polish and Lithuanian and be culturally appropriate if they are to
reach out to all vulnerable groups.
In addition the development of the ‘Cambridgeshire and Peterborough STOP suicide Pledge’ to
reduce suicide was recommended. The pledge is intended to raise awareness in individuals and
organisations about responding to the risk of suicide by encouraging self-help and helping others.
Development and roll-out of the ‘Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Pledge’ to reduce suicide was
initially supported by funding from the SCN Pathfinder programme and is now receives continuing
support and funding from CCC and PCC.
As of January 2017 there were 1,220 personal pledges and 51 organisational pledges for STOP
Suicide. In addition, STOP Suicide had 1,343 twitter followers and 394 facebook fans. The STOP
41

58

suicide website has had 17,598 visitors and 45,047 page views. Approximately 3000 one to one
conversations with individuals around the subjects of mental health and suicide since September
2015. The campaign has recruited a total of 10 new Campaign Makers - four in Peterborough, five in
Cambridge and one in St Neots.
The Samaritans run a national campaign ‘We’re in your corner’ that raises awareness of the issue of
men and suicide and encourages these men to seek help – see https://www.samaritans.org/mediacentre/our-campaigns/were-your-corner. It would be beneficial for local campaigns targeted at
reducing suicide in men (such as STOP suicide) work with the Samaritans to share idea and resources
in order to maximise benefits.
Continuing support for campaign work and promotion of the STOP suicide pledge is recommended.
It is recommended that awareness-raising will be supported by promotion of ‘World Suicide
Prevention Day’ each year on September 10th and world ‘mental health awareness day on October
10th in addition to local initiatives throughout the year.
10.7 Recommendation 1.4 – Aspire to develop integrated, appropriate and responsive services
to those at risk of suicide
This work is the backbone to suicide prevention with an aspiration to create a seamless pathway of
care that has no cracks for people to fall between. Service improvement and driving up quality of
care is the key theme behind the zero suicide ambition. A first step to achieving this is to create a
culture of learning across the system. Learning from case reviews of suicides is recommended as a
pilot but also learning from people with ‘lived experience’ to determine what works as well as what
has gone wrong.
The last year has seen the implementation of initiatives to improve the pathway of care for people in
mental health crisis (through the work of the Crisis Care Concordat partnership). The suicide
prevention strategy endorses and continues to support this work:





Continue support for Integrated Mental Health teams – Mental health nurses in police
control rooms
Continue support for Crisis 111(2), First Response Service and the continuing roll-out of
sanctuaries or places of safety in the community for people in mental health crisis to use.
Ensure suicide prevention initiatives link to Crisis Concordat work and include pathways of
care for people pre crisis, during crisis and post crisis
Develop and expand data sharing agreements and protocols (see recommendation 1.6
below)

A recent audit of drug and alcohol related deaths highlighted the high rate of mental health
problems in people who have died as a result of drug and/or alcohol abuse. Likewise, the suicide
audit highlighted drug and/or alcohol problems in a proportion of deaths. It is clear that there are
gaps in services that do not cater sufficiently for people who do not meet the thresholds for a ‘dual
diagnosis’ of concurrent drug/alcohol abuse and severe mental illness. These may be people who are
substance or alcohol users with common mental health disorders such as depression. They may be
treated for their substance use but their mental health needs are overlooked. A recommendation in

42

59

this strategy is to encourage and facilitate systems that allow engagement with other services where
appropriate – particularly with drug and alcohol teams.
Other recommendations in this section include:






The development of guidance for GPs and primary care – resources, sign posting and selfreferral as well as safety plans and links with PRISM
Develop bereavement support services for those affected by suicide – see Recommendation 4.1
Improve data sharing between agencies– The Vanguard and Concordat work has required data
sharing protocols. Data flow following a bereavement is being reviewed.
Continue work to map and update pathways and ensure all partners are aware of contacts and
resources for self-help as well as pathways and how they operate
Encourage professionals and organisations to work together in identifying gaps and
opportunities in pathways to prevent suicide – particularly at points where services meet when
a person is transferred from one service to another

10.8 Recommendation 1. 6 - Reassess pathways for people known by mental health services at
risk of suicide
Approximately 30% of people who die as a result of suicide are known to the mental health services.
People recently discharged from psychiatric care are the group with the highest risk of suicide,
particularly within the first two weeks post discharge8. A retrospective case control study showed
that 55% of suicides by people known by psychiatric services, died within a week of discharge from a
psychiatric unit21. The study concluded that factors associated with increased suicide risk during this
period included hospitalization of less than 1 week, recent adverse events, older age, and comorbid
psychiatric disorders. Factors associated with decreased risk included patients receiving enhanced
aftercare. Based on these findings, work should be conducted in partnership with CPFT to identify
gaps or weaknesses and areas for improving the care of people upon discharge from psychiatric
care.
To assess and improve pathways of care for people known to mental health services, it will be
important to work in partnership with CPFT and the Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat Working
group. To this end, the following are recommended:








Ensure Crisis Concordat work aligns with this priority area. Pathways of care to be assessed
include those pre crisis, during crisis and post crisis.
Assess pathways to ensure that information is shared across agencies in the patient’s best
interest
Assessment of pathways for people who are discharged from psychiatric care. This would
include ensuring that careful and effective careplans and follow-up arrangements are in
place. Link with PRISM as a ‘step down’ or ‘step up’ process in community settings
Explore models for strong community and joined-up support at locality level for people pre
and post crisis as part of the ‘Neighbourhood model’.
Consider a Suicide prevention audit of Accident and Emergency Departments – a toolkit for
an audit of this type has been developed by the NHS Mental Health Network – NHS
43

60









Confederation – see: http://www.nhsconfed.org/Documents/Preventing-suicide-toolkitfor-emergency-departments.pdf
Engage with Rethink Carers group – for carers of people with mental health illnesses –
understand concerns about pathways of care and provide information to carers in order to
support them in their care role for someone at risk of suicide
Engage with service users to establish the strengths and weaknesses in pathways of care in
response to crisis – including a review of the use of Police section 136 and the use of places
of safety
Encourage development of pathways that are comprehensive and organised around the
patient – particularly where organisations meet during transition points – acute sector
transition into the community, for example
Enable ongoing support for people with mental health issues and for those people in the
community who do not meet the threshold for secondary mental health services – through
links with PRISM

10.9 Recommendation 1.7 - Improve pathways and support for people taken into custody and
newly released from custody at risk of suicide.
Prisoners and people taken into custody have been identified as a group with specific requirements
due to the nature of the crisis that has increased their risk of suicide. To this end, the following is
proposed:










Liaise with NHS England and Public Health England to work with probation, prison and police
staff to understand the screening risk assessment procedure at court and upon reception of
prisoners and people taken into custody to include risk of suicide/self-harm.
In partnership with NHS England, liaise with prison managers to promote the use of prison
listeners to prevent suicide.
Assess pathways of care for people in police custody and working with NHS England, assess
pathways of care for people in prisons at risk of suicide. Review self-help advice and
information, screening and risk assessment upon reception into custody
Promote access to the Samaritans in custody suites.
Continue to support suicide prevention training of prison staff and prison listeners (section
9.4).
Promote access to support from drug and alcohol services for people in custody with mental
health and drug/alcohol problems.
Assess discharge pathways for people who have been in custody, including a review of care
plans for people with mental health problems. Recognise the need to promote joined-up
services with an understanding of the roles and responsibilities of other organisations
including the probation service.

11 PRIORITY 2 - TAILOR APPROACHES TO IMPROVE MENTAL HEALTH IN SPECIFIC GROUPS
The Preventing Suicide in England strategy identified specific groups of people for whom a tailored
approach to their mental health is necessary if their suicide risk is to be reduced:

44

61












children and young people, including those who are vulnerable such as looked after children,
care leavers and children and young people in the youth justice system
survivors of abuse or violence, including sexual abuse
veterans
people living with long-term physical health conditions
people with untreated depression;
people with autism or Asperger’s spectrum disorders
people who are especially vulnerable due to social and economic circumstances
people who misuse drugs or alcohol
lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people; and
Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups and asylum seekers.

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG Commissioning Strategy for Mental Health and Wellbeing of Adults of Working Age 2013-20162 sets out an implementation plan with four themes as
follows:
Theme 1 – Easier and prompt access to effective help
This includes a section on addressing the barriers to access to ‘main stream’ services for
marginalised groups
Theme 2 – The Recovery Model
Theme 3 – The inter-relationship between physical health and mental health
Theme 4 – Improve our commissioning processes
The National publication ‘No health without mental health’ 2011 set out six mental health
objectives:







More people will have good mental health – this included a statement to continue to work
to reduce the national suicide rate
More people with mental health problems will recover
More people with mental health problems will have good physical health
More people will have a positive experience of care and support
Fewer people will suffer avoidable harm – includes fewer people self-harming and
safeguarding children and young people and vulnerable adults
Fewer people will experience stigma and discrimination

11.1 Recommendations to improve mental health in specific groups
Recommendation 2.1 Assess pathways of care for children and adults who self-harm
Emergency admissions for self-harm in young people remains a concern in Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough with data showing rates of admission above those for England and the East of
England. It will be important to work in partnership highlight strengths, gaps and weaknesses within
the pathways of care for children and adults who self-harm and identify areas for improvement,
particularly with respect to follow-up care for people discharged from services.
45

62











Monitor admissions to the Accident and Emergency departments for self-harm to assess any
impact on service developments. Repeat admissions of people who self-harm would be
particularly useful to monitor as the strategy should focus on the best interventions to
prevent repeat episodes of self-harm
assess pathways for support for children who are at risk of self-harm , particularly in
vulnerable groups of children and young people – youth offenders, children in care, children
under the care of people with mental health problems
Promote the ‘Keep Your Head’ website for children and young people to professionals
including liaison psychiatry to highlight resources and directory of services for self-help and
signposting
Develop an adult version of the ‘Keep Your Head’website to contain information about
resources, services and self-help guidance for people with mental health problems
Ensure follow-up care plans are robust for people discharged from services
Assess plans for people who self-harm if mental health services are not involved. Link this
work to the PRISM service (Enhanced primary care service for people with mental health
issues).

11.2 Recommendation 2.2 Work with partners who are developing the ‘Emotional wellbeing and
mental health strategy for children and young people’ to promote the following:






Continue to raise awareness and campaigning around self-harm
Continue to provide access to self-help resources that focus on building resilience in young
people, including the ‘Keep Your Head’ website
Continue work that raises awareness and develops resources aimed at preventing bullying
and promoting mental wellbeing in schools and colleges- see ‘beat bullying’ teaching
resources – www.beatbullying.org/dox/resources.html
Support and promote the projects that work with families to address self-harm, for example
Pinpoint.

11.3 Recommendation 2.3 – Promote early interventions to aid prevention of mental health
problems that could lead to suicide
Prevention interventions to promote good mental health and avoid decline towards suicidal
tendencies are essential to this strategy:








Review access to support in the community before crisis situations arise.
Work with communities and community liaison teams to raise awareness of sources of help,
for example, debt management, relationship counselling, housing organisations
parent/children centres
Promote Information and provide training to health professionals including GPs and health
visitors to encourage use of signposting, advice and self-help resources (through the Keep
Your Head websites, for example
Engage with service users and public to understand gaps in service provision and focus
efforts on improving the system to support individuals where appropriate
Review the potential to provide a tangible presence of a mental health drop-in facility in
Peterborough city centre
46

63

11.4 Recommendation 2.4 - Promote training in Mental Health Awareness
For detailed information – see section 9.4. Continue to roll-out training that promotes mental health
awareness and prevention of mental health problems that could lead to suicide. Implementation of
bespoke training packages in mental health awareness and suicide prevention began in 2014. This
work is continuing to be funded as well as additional training in suicide prevention aimed at GPs.
Training for General Practice staff should include awareness around risk assessment for mental
health issues by assessing patient histories, particularly around a past history of self-harm.
12 PRIORITY 3 - REDUCE ACCESS TO THE MEANS OF SUICIDE
The 2014-2017 strategy reported that the most common method for suicide was hanging but there
was considerable concern about information on deaths as a result of multiple injuries associated
with falling from height from car parks in both Peterborough and Cambridge. The strategy made
clear recommendations to help address these issues but vigilance is still required and more work can
be done as follows:
12.1 Recommendation 3.1 – In line with regulations, ensure the removal of potential ligature
points – particularly in places of custody and in-patient settings
Most suicides are the result of hanging. It is therefore important to remove potential ligature points
in places likely to have people at high risk of suicide – including places of custody, prisons and
hospitals in line with national regulations and guidance https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/117555/saferdetention-guidance-2012.pdf
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/AIMS-PICU%20Standards%20-%20Second%20Edition%20%20FINAL%20new%20template.pdf
Regular audit of potential ligature points should continue as good practice in places of safety
including psychiatric hospitals and places of custody taking into account recommendations made by
coroners.
12.2 Recommendation 3.2 Reduce the risk of suicide by jumping from high buildings accessible by
the public including multi-storey car parks
Preventing access to the means of suicide by physical barriers in locations where people may choose
to jump is one of the most effective mechanisms for preventing suicide22,23. There is no evidence to
suggest that people will find an alternative mechanism for suicide if one method is made
inaccessible23
The suicide prevention implementation group fully endorses the erection of barriers at all multistorey car parks in Cambridge and Peterborough to ensure safety by preventing access to any area
with a sheer drop that could lead to a suicide attempt. This would make a clear statement and
showcase Peterborough and Cambridge as places that take positive steps to prevent suicide.
The suicide prevention implementation group is delighted with progress to date; barriers have been
erected on all the Queensgate shopping centre car parks in Peterborough. No deaths have been
reported as a result of jumping from car parks since the work began to construct the barriers. In
Cambridge, the Queen Anne car park in Cambridge should to be reviewed in terms of protective
47

64

measures to prevent people from jumping from the building.
Training in suicide prevention has been provided to staff working at both Peterborough and
Cambridge shopping centres by the Samaritans. Similar training should be considered for all staff
working in the multi-storey car parks in Peterborough and Cambridge.
12.3 Recommendation 3.3 – Reduce the risk of suicide on railway lines
A range of work is being undertaken nationally as part of the railway Suicide Prevention plan –
involving Samaritans, Network Rail and British Transport Police. There have also been local initiatives
to support this work:





Samaritans/Network Rail campaign on the railway includes printed messages on tickets and
posters at stations. Some local stations are also displaying Stop Suicide resources.
Staff training has been provided to railway employees to look out for and offer support to
people who may be considering taking their own life on the railway (provided by Network
Rail nationally).
The Rail505 app – enables other passengers/anybody to report someone they are worried
about or to seek help themselves on the railway. https://www.rail505.com/

Continuing implementation of these initiatives is supported by this strategy
In addition, the annual suicide audit will be used to assess whether there are any ‘black spots’ for
suicide on railway lines locally. An assessment of any requirements for physical barriers should be
made at any location with heightened risk of suicide.
12.4 Recommendation 3.4 – Work with Medicines Management team at the CCG to ensure safe
prescribing of some toxic drugs
Self-poisoning accounts for about a quarter of deaths by suicide in England and is the second most
common method for suicide in men and women. Safe prescribing regulations were introduced in
1998 to limit the size of packs of paracetamol, salicyates and their compounds sold over the counter,
supported by guidance on best practice in the sale of pain relief medication (MHRA, 200925).
The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) will be developing a quality standard
on safe prescribing, as part of a library of approximately 170 NHS Quality Standards covering a wide
range of diseases and conditions.
The suicide prevention implementation group should work with the CCG Medicines Management
team chief pharmacist to ensure that there is a focus on suicide prevention as part of
implementation of forthcoming NICE guidance – quality standard on safe prescribing. Further
consideration needs to be given to the prescribing of some toxic drugs, where safer alternative
medicines are available26
Promotion of suicide prevention through pharmacies and with pharmacists is recommended to raise
awareness of suicide risk due to some forms of prescription medication.
12.5 Recommendation 3.5 - Whenever possible, medical professionals should be reinforcing safety
plans for individuals with mental health problems
48

65

Promote the adoption of personal safety plans for people with mental health illness, or who have
previously suffered from mental illness and/or are at risk of suicide as identified by GPs and other
health professionals. This includes those who have never been in Secondary Care services.
Personal safety plans are essential as part of the process of care and need to cross over
organisational boundaries and be person held. There is an opportunity to promote the use of safety
plans with GPs and other health professionals through the suicide prevention training from the
autumn of 2017 (funded with STP money). Included in the safety plan is an assessment of access to
means of suicide and dialogue should be promoted between the health professional and patient
about how to eliminate access to the means of suicide. This should include exploring and adopting
best models for reducing hanging in the community.
Educational resources and information for GPs will continue to be disseminated by engagement with
GP leads and clinical networks through the CCG.

13 PRIORITY 4 - PROVIDE BETTER INFORMATION AND SUPPORT TO THOSE BEREAVED OR
AFFECTED BY SUICIDE
It was recognized in the 2012 Preventing Suicide in England strategy that bereavement by suicide
was an area poorly covered by previous suicide prevention strategies.
Public Health England have published a suite of recent guidelines on supporting people after suicide.
These highlight the need for change to ensure all suicide prevention strategies include postvention
(activities for people bereaved by suicide to support their recovery and prevent adverse outcomes).
The guidelines include several case studies of reactive approaches to postvention support as well as
information on how to implement and evaluate similar initiatives.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-after-a-suicide-a-guide-to-providinglocalservices
Locally, no specific bereavement support service exists for people and families who have been
affected by suicide. Bereavement is in itself a risk factor for suicide and a conservative estimate is
that 10 people are directly affected by each suicide death. Friends and relatives of people who die by
suicide have a 1 in 10 risk of making a suicide attempt after their loss. When compared with people
bereaved through other causes, those bereaved by suicide are also at an increased risk of psychiatric
admission and depression.
There are several bereavement charities and organisations, some of which specialize in helping
those affected by suicide.
 CRUSE – a charity dealing with bereavement in general – supported by the CCG
 Survivors of bereavement by suicide
 Compassionate Friends – a charity dedicated to helping families of children who have died
In addition, The ‘Help is at hand’ booklet produced by the Department of health27 is designed for
people affected by the loss of a loved one through suicide.

49

66

13.1 Recommendations to support those who are bereaved and bereaved as a result of suicide
Recommendation 4.1 Ensure bereavement information and access to support is available to those
bereaved by suicide
Funding has been approved through the Systems Transformation Programme (STP) to implement a
local, county wide suicide bereavement support service (approved in July 2017). A pathway will be
developed so that bereaved individuals will be asked whether they would like to be contacted by a
support officer upon initial contact (usually by a police informing the family of the death by suicide
of a loved one). If they consent to be contacted, this information will be passed to the family support
officer and they will make contact with the family or bereaved individual within the first week after
bereavement to offer support and signposting to services (such as CRUSE a charity to help bereaved
people) and self-help resources. It may be important to ascertain whether there are any other
individuals outside the family context (friends, colleagues for example) who may be affected by the
suicide.
The bereavement support service will also help facilitate the setting up of local ‘Survivors of
Bereavement due to Suicide (SOBS) groups, that will be run as friendship or ‘peer support’ groups for
people affected by suicide.
Information for those bereaved as a result of suicide will continue to be made available through
professionals and other organisations in first contact with bereaved people (Police Officers,
coroners, GPs, death registration professionals and funeral directors).
 Continue to distribute ‘help is at hand’ leaflets to these professionals.
 Provide details of local bereavement charities if not included in ‘help is at hand’ leaflet. A local
bereavement support leaflet should be developed to signpost people to locally available
services and resources for self-help. This should be provided to individuals who have been
affected by suicide.
The families of people who have died as a result of suicide who are known to mental health services
may be particularly vulnerable after bereavement. It will be important to review and map the
processes in place to ensure that appropriate support is available to families and close contacts after
bereavement. Any gaps in the services should be highlighted and recommendations made to
improve outcomes.
14 PRIORITY 5 - SUPPORT THE MEDIA IN DELIVERING SENSITIVE APPROACHES TO SUICIDE AND
SUICIDAL BEHAVIOR
It is known that the reporting of suicides by the media can promote other suicides – particularly
using the same method or at the same location and that responsible reporting of suicide or reduced
reporting can decrease suicides at ‘hotspot’ locations28.
There are media guidelines on the reporting of suicide from ‘The Samaritans’29 that set out clear
instructions and recommendations on what an article should contain when it reports a death by
suicide.

50

67

14.1 Recommendation 5.1 – Encourage the appropriate and sensitive reporting of suicide
 Ensure all professionals in contact with the media are aware of guidelines for reporting
suicide. Some professionals such as coroners and police may be contacted by journalists
after a suicide in order to obtain details for an article to report the suicide.
 Continue to work with local media to encourage reference to and use of guidelines for the
reporting of suicide. Work with Communications teams within the local authorities to
encourage responsible reporting of suicide by the local newspapers.
Highlight the following:
o Media guidelines produced by Samaritans
o Encourage a positive report on the deceased person
o Do not sensationalise the suicide or suicide method
o Protect bereaved families from intrusion – press complaints commission
o Use of language by the media - Avoid referring to suicide in the headline of a
story – it is more sensitively reported in the body of the story.
o Avoid terms such as “successful”, “unsuccessful”, or “failed”.
15 PRIORITY 6 - SUPPORT RESEARCH, DATA COLLECTION AND MONITORING
Suicide prevention relies on information about local suicides to determine who is at risk of suicide
and where and how suicides happen locally. This data is important in order to focus resources. It is
also important to monitor local suicides and reports of self-harm by assessing up-to-date
information. This will enable appropriate response to any changes in rates of suicides and self-harm
and will help to understand the impact of implementing the recommendations set out in this
strategy.
To this end, the following recommendations are made:
15.1 Recommendation 6.1 Continue to collect detailed suicide data on a quarterly basis and carry
out an annual audit of local suicides
Data should continue to be collected from Cambridgeshire and Peterborough coroners and include
information on age, sex, nationality, occupation, marital status, contact with mental health services,
contact with primary care services and in particular services in two weeks prior to death, place of
death, resident address, method of suicide.
A suicide audit will be conducted on an annual basis and used to inform development of initiatives
targeted to people at risk locally. The information contained in the audit will also be used as part of
the evaluation process for this strategy.
Real-time suicide surveillance has been implemented that sends information on suspected suicides
as they occur from police to public health. This enables the suicide prevention implementation group
to react if necessary to any concerns, for example linked suicides, or suicide in young people that
may affect other young people at school or colleges.
In addition, and as part of the Zero suicide ambition, it is proposed that a sample of suicide case files
be reviewed on a quarterly basis to learn lessons and identify preventative actions that could be
implemented locally.
51

68

All data is held securely by public health analysts as part of the suicide prevention partnership.
15.2 Recommendation 6.2 Disseminate current evidence on suicide prevention to all partner
organisations
As evidence emerges on the best practice interventions and measures to reduce the risk of suicide,
there should be a mechanism for ensuring that this is disseminated to all partner organisations
working to prevent suicide. This may be facilitated through the suicide prevention group meetings
with an assigned person responsible for checking the evidence base on a regular interval.
15.3 Recommendation 6.3 Coroners should notify the Suicide Prevention Strategic Group about
inquest evidence that suggests patterns and suicide trends and evidence for service development
to prevent future suicides
Coroners are best placed to review and assess evidence during the year as inquests to suicides occur.
This may provide opportunities to identify concerns about local suicides – patterns or trends, for
which action may be required. In addition, coroners may highlight concerns about services or
opportunities to improve services where failings have occurred.
16 EVALUATION – HOW WILL WE KNOW WE ARE MAKING PROGRESS? Recommendation 6.4 Evaluate and report on the suicide prevention implementation plan
Evaluation is an important component to this strategy and will provide essential information and
evidence on what is effective in suicide prevention and what areas require more work or are
ineffective.
A set of Key Performance Indicators will be developed to monitor the progress against the strategy
and aligned with the suicide prevention implementation plan 2017 - 2020.
Public health outcome indicator 4.1011 expects suicide rates to be reported annually based on three
year rolling average rates for local populations. A baseline has been set as the average rate of
suicides for the period 2009-2011 and this should be used to compare future statistics and the
impact of implementing this strategy.
Evaluation should also include surveys of various groups for effectiveness of particular actions or
interventions.





Survey of GPs
Survey of mental health professionals
Survey of people trained in suicide prevention
Survey of service users

Soft data should be used as part of the evaluation – data collected by each implementation subgroup. For example; actions taken, resources disseminated or used and numbers of people reached
by the initiative.

52

69

16.1 RESOURCES FOR IMPLEMENTING INITIATIVES TO PREVENT SUICIDE AND SUSTAINABILITY
The implementation of the strategy will require a mixture of input and work from partner
organisations, cultural and organisational change and funding for the delivery of specific initiatives.
Implementation of the recommendations and action plan will be managed by a joint Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough Suicide Prevention Implementation Group. Multi-agency working across all
sectors, from NHS and mental health professionals to voluntary organisations, will be encouraged in
order to utilise expertise from these organisations to implement the proposed initiatives.
Continuing engagement with service users and their carers is expected for the successful
development, implementation and delivery of initiatives in each priority area.
17 REFERENCES
1. National Strategy: Preventing Suicide in England, 2012:
http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/files/2012/09/Preventing-Suicide-in-England-A-crossgovernment-outcomes-strategy-to-save-lives.pdf
2. Preventing suicide in England: Third progress report of the cross-government outcomes
strategy to save lives
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/suicide-prevention-third-annual-report

3.

4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

10.
11.

Support after a suicide: A guide to providing local services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-after-a-suicide-a-guide-to-providinglocal-services
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group Commissioning Strategy for
the Mental Health and Well-Being of Adults of Working Age 2013 – 2016
http://www.cpft.nhs.uk/Downloads/rod%20files/2013_0816_CCG_Adult_MH_Commissioni
ng_Strategy_2013_FINAL.pdf
JSNA Cambridgeshire – health and wellbeing strategy see:
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20116/health_and_wellbeing_board
JSNA Peterborough Mental Health
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/pdf/HealthAndSocialCare-JSNA-Mental%20Health.pdf
Suicide Prevention Strategy CPFT 2013-2016 (closed document ) – for details please contact
author or CPFT
Emotional well-being and mental health strategy for children and young people 2014-2016
(draft strategy)
Suicides in students http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/about-ons/what-we-do/publicationscheme/published-ad-hoc-data/health-and-social-care/november-2012/index.html
National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide and homicide by people with Mental Health illness
– Annual report 2013
http://www.bbmh.manchester.ac.uk/cmhr/centreforsuicideprevention/nci/reports/AnnualR
eport2013_UK.pdf
Samaritans report –men suicide and society:
http://www.samaritans.org/sites/default/files/kcfinder/files/Men%20and%20Suicide%20Re
search%20Report%20210912.pdf
No health without mental health:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215811/d
h_124057.pdf

53

70

12. Public Health Outcomes Framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216159/d
h_132362.pdf
13. Mental Health Crisis Concordat – Improving outcomes for people experiencing mental health
crisis, February 2014. Department of Health
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281242/3
6353_Mental_Health_Crisis_accessible.pdf
14. Annual Report of the Chief Medical officer 2013 – Public Mental Health Priorities: Investing
in the Evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/351629/A
nnual_report_2013_1.pdf
15. Saving Lives: Our Healthier Nation; Department of Health, 1999:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/saving-lives-our-healthier-nation
16. Detroit model for suicide prevention:
http://zerosuicide.actionallianceforsuicideprevention.org/sites/zerosuicide.actionalliancefor
suicideprevention.org/files/PerfectDepressionCarearticles.pdf
17. ASIST suicide prevention training: http://www.chooselife.net/Training/asist.aspx
18. Mental Health First Aid training England: http://mhfaengland.org/
19. Suicide in primary care in England 2002-201118
http://www.bbmh.manchester.ac.uk/cmhr/research/centreforsuicideprevention/nci/report
s/SuicideinPrimaryCare2014.pdf
20. Knapp et al 2011, Mental health promotion and prevention: The economic case.
http://www.lse.ac.uk/businessAndConsultancy/LSEEnterprise/pdf/PSSRUfeb2011.pdf
21. The Use and Impact of Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST) in Scotland: An
Evaluation Social research: The Scottish Government,
http://www.chooselife.net/uploads/documents/19-ASISTEvaluationFullReport.pdf
22. Bickley, H et al 2013; Suicide within two weeks of discharge from psychiatric inpatient care.
A case control study Psychiatric Services 2013
http://ps.psychiatryonline.org/article.aspx?articleID=1673604
23. Cox et al 2013; Interventions to reduce suicides at suicide hotspots: a systematic review
BMC Public Health 2013, 13:214
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3606606/pdf/1471-2458-13-214.pdf
24. Mann et al, 2005 Suicide Prevention Strategies: A systematic Review. JAMA.
2005;294(16):2064-2074
25. We are in your corner – Samaritans: http://www.samaritans.org/media-centre/ourcampaigns/were-your-corner
26. MHRA – Best practice for the sale of medicines for pain relief http://www.mhra.gov.uk/home/groups/pl-p/documents/websiteresources/con065560.pdf
27. Hawton K, Bergen H, Simkin S et al (2010) Toxicity of antidepressants: rates of suicide
relative to prescribing and non-fatal overdose. British Journal of Psychiatry 196: 354-358
28. ‘Help is at hand’ a resource for people bereaved by suicide and other sudden, traumatic
death http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Suicide/Documents/Help%20is%20at%20Hand.pdf
29. Preventing Suicide - A Resource for Media Professionals: A resource guide produced by the
Department of Mental Health at the World Health Organization in 2000.
http://www.who.int/mental_health/media/en/426.pdf
30. Media guidelines for reporting suicide – Samaritans:
http://www.samaritans.org/sites/default/files/kcfinder/files/press/Samaritans%20Media%2
0Guidelines%202013%20UK.pdf
31. NHS England and Public Health England ‘A call for Action: Commissioning for Prevention’
November 2013. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk

54

71

32. WHO For which strategies of suicide prevention is there evidence of effectiveness
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/74692/E83583.pdf

55

72

APPENDIX 1
Examples of Suicide Prevention Protocols for specific professional groups
1. Suicide Prevention Pathway developed by Peterborough
MIND -Peterborough and Fenland Mind Suicide Protocol
Who should you call is you are faced with a Suicidal Person (SP)?

Rarely a SP may behave out of control on in a
way suggesting harm to themselves or others. If
this is the case you should call the Police on 999.
See point 1 if this is the case.

Normally the SP will speak of thoughts or plans
of suicide alone and appear distressed. If this is
the case see point 2 for the key questions you
need to ask.

Point 1
The police are able to detain someone
under the Section 136 of the Mental Health
Act if they believe the SP to have a ‘mental
disorder’ and are in need of immediate
need of care and control.

Point 2
If you feel the person is distressed and can be
spoken through what they are experiencing you
should stay calm, show interest and concern, not
show judgement or shock. You should be positive
that the right help they can feel better.

They will first remove the SP to a place of
safety, preferably a hospital or police station
where they will be held until approved by an
Approved Mental Health Professional. One
or two doctors will also assess the SP for up
to 72 hours.

You should then encourage them to see their GP
as a matter of priority whilst still addressing nonmedical concerns. The agreed response you need
here is for the person to let you contact their GP.
The SP may suggest this is pointless but
nevertheless it should be the first port of call
unless consent is firmly withheld. If you are given
consent see point 4, if you are not see point 3.

This power cannot be used to detain
someone if they are on private premises.
Point 3
If the SP refuses for you to get in
contact with their GP then you
must respect their request for
confidentially. You should then
offer the SP a ‘Feeling on the
Edge’ leaflet and tell them they
can return to you if they decide
they want help from the service
to access their GP. The
expectations to this strict rule are
(a) Imminent threat of self- harm,
then call the police (b) Vulnerable
Adult such as Dementia, Learning
Disability or Abused Domestic
Violence when a SOVA approach
is required.

Point 4
If you are given consent you should then ring the GP and
explain to the receptionist who you are, who the SP is and why
you are calling. They should use a password (perhaps a Suicide
Prevention Alert) and ask to speak to the Duty GP.
The GP will speak to you and they should use their
professional judgement and personal knowledge to decide on
the best pathway which will often result to a same day
appointment. If the GP cannot speak to you immediately then
you are to ask for a ring back and an urgent same day
appointment for the SP.
If the surgery is uncooperative or unresponsive and you feel
they are still carrying the risk then they should log the
experience and feedback to the Administrators as a possible
Quality Issue and also ring ARC for assistance.
56
You are to record all contacts of SP anonymously to gather
important data.

73

Appendix 1

2. Example of suicide prevention protocol for GPs

74

75

1

This page is intentionally left blank

76

DRAFT Joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Suicide
Prevention Three Year Action Plan
2017-2020

77

The joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough suicide prevention three year action plan accompanies the refresh of the Joint Suicide Prevention Strategy
(2017-2020) and builds upon the work undertaken between 2014-2017. The action plan is a working document and will be adjusted and updated as work
proceeds to implement the recommendations. The action plan is split into two tables. The first describes the actions relevant to the overarching ‘zero
suicide ambition’ and the second will detail actions that align with the suicide prevention strategy priorities. The Zero suicide ambition is the overarching
focus for suicide prevention and will be overseen by a governance board.
Implementation of the strategy according to the action plan will be the responsibility of partner organisations as described in the suicide prevention
strategy. A joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Suicide Prevention implementation group oversees the implementation of the action plan and will
report progress to the Safeguarding Executive Board as well as the Health and Wellbeing Board in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire.
The 4 key organizations responsible for the commissioning and/or provision of mental health services – Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), Cambridgeshire County Council (CCC), Peterborough City Council (PCC) and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation
Trust (CPFT) have committed to putting achievement of the zero suicide ambition at the heart of mental health care – commissioning and delivery - in
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. While the Suicide Prevention Implementation Group brings together partners responsible for delivering the Plan and for
reporting progress with delivery, a number of Boards and Groups will support the group to achieve delivery including the Adult Mental Health Joint
Commissioning Group, the MH Delivery Board (Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Crisis Concordat Group) and the OPMH Delivery Board. During the
1

second half of 2017/18 commissioners will work with CPFT and the Suicide Implementation Group to embed the Suicide Implementation Plan in
commissioning and operational plans for 2018/19.
The joint suicide prevention strategy document provides detail for each recommendation and should be used for cross-reference when implementing the
action plan.
Funding to support recommendations and actions will depend upon on-going support from the partner organisations.

78
2

DETAILED ACTION PLAN FOR SUICIDE PREVENTION

79

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Zero Suicide
Ambition

1. Ensure support for zero suicide
through commissioning and delivery
approaches: embedded in strategic
and operational plans of CPFT, CCG,
CCC and PCC, included in contracts.
work towards organisations
commissioned being required to sign
up to the Zero suicide and suicide
prevention strategy and develop and
report against action plans to support
their commitment.
2. Facilitate the development of a
learning culture - that looks at what
works and what could be done
differently to ensure safety and drive
up quality of care to prevent suicide
3. To be confirmed upon wider
consultation

To be confirmed after
consultation

Suggested
performance
measure
To be
confirmed

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

3

Recommendation

Actions

80

Priority 1 - Reduce the risk of suicide in high risk groups
Recommendation
1. Continue ASIST and STOP suicide
1.1 - Suicide
training as follows:
● ASIST courses delivered to individuals
Prevention
Training
and priority organisations identified
(as agreed in contract with CPSL
MIND)– ensuring training reaches out
to people working or in contact with
the most vulnerable or hard-to-reach
groups at risk of suicide
● STOP suicide courses delivered with
agreed target for participation
● Evaluation of training effectiveness –
at the end of each course (by survey)
and follow-up.
2. Develop and deliver GP suicide
prevention training programme (funded
through STP with support from CCC
3. Continue delivery of MHFA through
workplace health – funded by CCC
(Cambridgeshire only)

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

Training funded
through CCC and PCC
and contract awarded
to CPSL MIND

CPSL MIND –
STOP Suicide

Three ASIST trainers trained

Evaluation of training
– on an annual basis

Numbers of
people
trained
List of
organisations
receiving
training and
numbers of
staff trained
within each
organisation-

On-going training
supported by
Samaritans

80%
satisfaction
with training

Ongoing delivery of
ASIST and STOP
suicide training

GP training in suicide
prevention from
Autumn 2017 for one
year

On-going
support from
Cambridgeshir
e and
Peterborough
suicide
prevention
group

ASIST Courses delivered
across Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough targeting ‘Gate
Keeper’ roles including those
working with migrant
communities and
bereavement support
workers.
An ASIST course was funded
and delivered to peer
support workers in
Peterborough prison.
258 people trained in ASIST
between October 2015 and
January 2017
Locally developed ½ day
STOP suicide course has been
developed and delivered. 21
STOP suicide workshops have
4

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

81
Recommendation
1.2 – Develop
suicide prevention
resources for
professionals in
contact with
vulnerable groups
and for self-help

1. Collect and collate available resources
and a directory of services
2. Promote and update the directory of
services (created by Lifecraft) –through
existing apps/websites e.g. Keep your
Head, MyDOS, MyHealth and STOP
suicide

Ongoing updates and
maintenance to STOP
suicide and Keep Your
Head (CYP)websites –
CPSL MIND, Public
Health

Evaluation of
STOP suicide
and ‘Keep
Your Head’
Website
visitor
statistics and
monitoring –

CPSL MIND –
STOP suicide
resources
Public Health
and partner
organisations
– ‘You’re your

Progress to date
been delivered reaching 236
people (From Oct 2015 to Jan
2017).
Funding to deliver courses to
bar staff in Fenland as well as
scoping work to assess
feasibility of training
barbers/hair dressers.
ASIST course funded for peer
support workers in
Peterborough prison.
Evaluation forms are
completed by participants
and feedback is collected
following courses (see details
in Suicide Prevention
Strategy).
STOP suicide website
developed. As of January
2017, STOP Suicide had 1,343
twitter followers and 394
facebook fans. The STOP
suicide website has had
17,598 visitors and 45,047
page views.
5

Recommendation

82

Actions

Timescale

3. Provide access to resources and
information – via the STOP suicide and
Keep Your Head (CYP) website; develop
an adult version of ‘Keep Your Head’
website with information and
resources for signposting and self-help
4. Continue to distribute ‘help is at hand’
bereavement support leaflet through
partner organisations
5. Work with GP and CPFT professionals
to develop care plans for people
known by mental health organisations
to ensure up-to-date self-help
resources and contact information is
included (through GP training and CPFT
training)
6. Continue to promote resources to
support people bereaved as a result of
suicide – including distribution of ‘Help
is at hand’ leaflet and a local
information leaflet on bereavement
services and support

Keep Your Head (adult
version) website to be
developed from
September 2017 with
Launch in spring 2018
Autumn 2017 onwards
– GP training with
promotion of
resources for
signposting and selfhelp as well as
development of care
plans
SOBS established from
January 2018…

Suggested
performance
measure
including
resource
pages ‘hits’
Directory of
services
developed
and used by
partner
organisations
Feedback
from GP
training and
bereavement
support
service –
including
leaflets
disseminated
Survey of
service users
and carers to
evaluate

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners
Head’
websites
Report to
Cambridgeshir
e and
Peterborough
suicide
prevention
implementatio
n group

Progress to date

Further development of
resources to enhance STOP
suicide (including beer mats
in March 2017).
In addition the www.keepyour-head.com website has
been developed to support
children and young people’s
mental health. This includes
a page designed with, and
for, GPs. Crisis information
and suicide and self-harm
information is included. Wide
promotion of this resource
has taken place and is
continuing.
Self-help resources including
apps included on the Keep
Your Head website for
children and young people.
In addition Stress LESS
6

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

83

7. Facilitate the setting up of SOBS
(Survivors of Bereavement due to
Suicide) and/or other similar self-help
groups managed by bereaved
individuals – to link with the
bereavement support service
8. Continue to promote the 111(2)
FRS/Sanctuary service through multiple
media connections. Include promotion
to BME communities, using the FRS
video in other languages

Recommendation
1.3 – Awarenessraising campaigns
and promote the
Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough
STOP Suicide

1. Continue to engage with and consult
service users on how to reduce risk in
high risk and hard to reach groups –
developing appropriate resources and
advocacy services ensuring
appropriateness to different vulnerable

Suggested
performance
measure
awareness of
resources

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date
campaign promoted during
exam time in schools.
Directory of Services
(MyHealth app) and plans to
further develop central point
of information for adult
mental health (linked to Keep
Your Head).
Update to Lifecraft Directory
of services (Spring 2017).

Ongoing through
contract with CPSL
MIND for STOP suicide

GP referral document
updated (mental health
services) by Claire Harris and
promoting to GPs via
bulletin. Patient version also
updated.
Number of
Public health
STOP suicide: As of January
individuals
will continue
2017 there were 1,220
signing
to develop and personal pledges and 51
pledge
manage the
organisational pledges for
Number of
KYH CH and YP STOP Suicide.
Website statistics given
organisations site and
oversee the
above.
7

Recommendation

Actions

pledge to reduce
suicide

2.

3.

84
4.

5.

groups. Resources will need to be
translated if they are to reach out to
the Polish and Lithuanian population at
higher risk of suicide.
Make use of partnership working when
targeting campaigns aimed at reducing
suicide in men. Samaritans and STOP
suicide share idea and resources in
order to maximise benefits.
Continue work by STOP suicide to use
public events and other community
opportunities to promote the STOP
suicide pledge and raise awareness of
suicide prevention
Continue to Identify localities for
specific awareness raising and special
events such as suicide prevention day
(10th September) and world mental
health awareness day (10th October)
Continue development of the STOP
suicide website and create a website

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure
signing
pledge
Survey to
assess
awareness in
the
community

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners
development
of KYH adults
with the
Service Users
Network.
CPSL MIND
with support
from Lifecraft
will oversee
STOP suicide
website, GP
training and
bereavement
support

Progress to date
Approximately 3000 one to
one conversations with
individuals (mental health
and suicide) since September
2015. The campaign has
recruited a total of 10 new
Campaign Makers - four in
Peterborough, five in
Cambridge and one in St
Neots.
National recognition has
been received for work.
Webinars including suicide
prevention developed as part of
‘keep your head’

Link with
Samaritans’
‘We’re in your
corner’
campaign
targeted at
men

8

Recommendation

Actions

85

for adults to promote mental health
(Keep Your Head (adults))
6. Explore use of social media in
awareness raising
7. Include suicide prevention in other
mental health awareness campaigns
8. Include awareness raising and suicide
prevention material in bulletins that
are sent out to GPs
9. Link with local media partners and
‘time to change’ campaigns
Recommendation
Link to learning through the ZERO suicide
1.4 –Aspire to
ambition.
1. Create a culture of learning from case
develop
integrated,
review of suicides. Embed a cultural
expectation that people receive
appropriate and
responsive services
appropriate and timely services.
for those at risk of 2. Ensure suicide prevention initiatives
suicide
link to Crisis Concordat work and
include pathways of care for people pre
crisis, during crisis and post crisis

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Ongoing work carried
over from Suicide
Prevention Strategy
2014-2017

Survey of
service users
on
integrated
pathways for
suicide
prevention.

GP training from
Autumn 2017
Improvement
monitored and
exceptions addressed;
quarterly reporting to

Consider an
audit of
pathways

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

All Partners
as part of the
Crisis
Concordat
team,
including
Police, CPFT,
CCG primary
care and
public health
support.

Vanguard/Crisis Care
Concordat work including:
-Integrated Mental Health
Team – mental health nurses
based in the police control
room.
-First Response service with
crisis telephone number (111
option 2).

9

Recommendation

86

Actions

Timescale

3. Develop and expand data sharing
agreements and protocols (see
recommendation 1.6 below)
4. Support the development of systems
that allow engagement with other services
where appropriate – particularly with drug
and alcohol teams
5. Continue the support for Lifeline in
Cambridgeshire
6. Ensure that GPs receive core training in
suicide prevention (See Recommendation
1.1) and ensure development of guidance
for primary care – resources, sign posting
and self-referral as well as safety plans and
links with PRISM
7. Develop bereavement support services
for those affected by suicide – see
Recommendation 4.1
8. Work with the Suicide Prevention
Governance Board (Safeguarding Executive
board) to monitor delivery and develop the

the Safeguarding
Executive board
Revised improvement
plan agreed: 01.04.18

Suggested
performance
measure
used by each
service –
police,
ambulance,
A&E, liaison
psychiatry
Consider an
audit of
information
sharing
protocols,
once agreed

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners
Ensure
partnership
support from
Crisis
Concordat
group

Progress to date
-The Sanctuaries – nonhealth based places of safety.
-Sharing data – continued
work as a system to improve
data sharing and establish
agreements. Vanguard work
and Concordat work has
required data sharing
protocols. Data flow
following a bereavement
now being reviewed.
This work undertook a range
of mapping and pathways
work in terms of crisis
support.

10

Recommendation

Recommendation
1. 6 - Reassess
pathways for
people known by
mental health
services at risk of
suicide

Actions

87

improvement plan to achieve the
outcomes required
Link to learning through the ZERO suicide
ambition.
1. Create a culture of learning from case
review of suicides
i) Ensure Crisis Concordat work aligns
with this priority area. Pathways of
care to be assessed include those
pre crisis, during crisis and post
crisis.
ii) Refer to Crisis concordat
recommendations on developing
information sharing processes
across the mental health system
but particularly for people in
mental health crisis - across
agencies in the patient’s best
interest
2. Ensure that sharing Agreements are in
place across organisations to support the
Frequent Attenders CQUIN

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

On-going Work in
partnership with Crisis
Concordat group -

Evaluation of
111(2), FRS
and
Sanctuaries
by SUN
Report use
of 111 (2)
and
Sanctuaries
with
outcome
measures
compared
with A&E
attendances
for CRISIS

Crisis
concordat

CPFT sub group to develop
strategy and action plan
under ther4r4 Zero Suicide
initiative

Local Authority MOSAIC & BTP
Link with prisons and
Offending, Prevention
and Management
Strategic Needs
Assessment

CPFT to identify gaps
or weaknesses and
areas for improving
the care of people Pre,
during and post crisis
including upon
discharge from
psychiatric care.

Training to GPs and
other CRISIS

Assess use of
Section 136
and places of
safety

Modestas
Kavaliauskas

CPFT Zero
suicide work
will assess
pathways of
support post
discharge and
learning from
case reviews
Engagement
with service
users and
carers through
the mental
health
stakeholders
group –
quarterly

Work through the Crisis Care
Concordat: Information
Sharing Agreements are in
place across organisations to
support the Frequent
Attenders CQUIN, in addition
to MH and Acute Trusts this
includes 111, ambulance
service, substance misuse,
primary care.
the FRS and Sanctuaries have
been evaluated by the
‘Service User Network’ (SUN)
against it’s ‘five values’ of
Empathy, Honesty, Inclusion,
Personalisation and Working
Together and have awarded
11

Recommendation

Actions
i)

88

Assessment of pathways for
people who are discharged from
psychiatric care and A&E
care/liaison psychiatry – review of
care plans and information
contained within care plan,
including consent to share
information between agencies
3. CPFT to review all the ISA's in place or
ISA's being established to support MH
crisis care pathway and explore how
information could be further shared
shared between organisations
(Cambridgeshire Information Sharing
Framework)
i) Explore models for community and
joined-up support at locality level
for people post crisis – and ongoing
support for people with mental
health issues in the community who
do not meet the threshold for
secondary mental health services link with the PRISM service

Timescale
professionals from
October 2017 (as part
of STP funding)

Suggested
performance
measure
GP training
evaluation –
referrals,
awareness of
services and
avoiding
CRISIS

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners
meetings
across
Cambridgeshir
e and
Peterborough

Progress to date
the FRS 3 stars (good rating)
and Sanctuaries 4 stars
(outstanding).

Consider an
audit of Care
plans in
place for
people
discharged
from services
Consider a
survey to
assess the
resources
and support
offered to
those in
community
settings who
12

Recommendation

89
Recommendation
1.7 - Improve
pathways and
support for people
taken into custody
at risk of suicide
and for people
newly released
from custody.

Actions
ii) Continue to engage with service
users to establish the strengths and
weaknesses in pathways of care in
response to crisis – including the FRS
service and Sanctuaries – see
outcomes (SUN evaluation)
iii) Training to GPs, and CRISIS
professionals on pathways and risk
identification
iv) Engage with Rethink Carers group
– for carers of people with mental
health illnesses – through the
mental health stakeholders group
Link with prisons and Offending,
Prevention and Management Strategic
Needs Assessment - understand the
screening risk assessment procedure at
court and upon reception of prisoners and
people taken into custody (including police
custody) to include risk of suicide/selfharm.

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure
do not meet
the
threshold for
secondary
mental
health
services

Ongoing work with
police, prisons and
probation

Reduction in
suicides in
people in
custody –
baseline
2009-2011
Suicide audit
of case files
to ensure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

CPFT, police,
probation,
Samaritans
and custody
staff as
members of
the suicide
prevention

Progress to date

ASIST course funded for peer
supporters in Peterborough
prison.
A number of issues were
highlighted as part of the
Substance Misuse JSNA
(criminal justice section) and
support is being given to the
upcoming needs assessment
being undertaken by the
13

Recommendation

Actions

●

●

●

90

●

Continue to work with prison
managers to promote and train peer
support ‘prison listeners’.
Broaden and promote access to the
Samaritans in custody suites and in
courts by raising awareness and
supporting partnerships, learning from
good practice
Promote access to support from drug
and alcohol services for people in
custody with mental health and
drug/alcohol problems. Raise
awareness and promote partnership
working
Assess discharge pathways for people
who have been in custody, including a
review of care plans for people with
mental health problems.

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure
inclusion of
people
released
from custody
Prisons and
Offending,
Prevention
and
Management
Strategic
Needs
Assessment

Consider
evaluation
survey to
show use of
Samaritans
in custody
suites

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners
implementatio
n group

Progress to date

NHS England
to lead on
suicide
prevention
initiatives in
prisons with
support from
the suicide
prevention
implementatio
n group

Work is being done to look
into issues around transfer of
health information at point
of entry to prison.

Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioners Office.

Engagement
with Public
Health
England for
support

Numbers of
police
custody,
prison staff
14

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

91

Priority 2 - Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups
Recommendation
1. Signpost CYP to ‘Keep Your Head’
Ongoing work linked
2.1 Work in
website and directory of services at with pathway design
partnership with
for suicide prevention
the point of contact (through
CPFT to assess
and Emotional wellliaison psychiatry).
pathways of care
being and mental
2. Review the use of follow-up care
for children (10-24
health group for
plans for people discharged from
year olds) and
children and young
services
adults who selfpeople.
harm
3. Assess plans for people who selfharm if mental health services are
not involved
4. Review resources to help people
who self-harm or have a history of
self-harm, for example; ‘Harmless’
http://www.harmless.org.uk A
national organisation based in
Nottingham

Suggested
performance
measure
and prison
listeners
trained in
suicide
prevention

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

Report on
pathways
available to
children and
adults who
self-harm
Including
recommenda
tions for
improvemen
ts

CPFT lead (to
be agreed)
Input from
CCG and
voluntary
organisations

-Directory of services – Keep
Your Head (includes specific
information on self-harm)
and MyHealth app.

Admission
rates for self
–harm
reported to
suicide

-Public Health are currently
reviewing self-harm
admissions data to establish
if there are any data
reporting errors (Cambs).
- Providing a psycho social
assessment and safety plan
for Emergency Department
(ED) patients is at the heart
of what the Liaison
Psychiatry ED teams provide,
and also would would
15

Recommendation

92

Recommendation
2.2 Work with
partners who are
developing the
‘Emotional
wellbeing and
mental health
strategy for
children and young
people*

Actions

Timescale

1. Raise awareness and promote Ongoing work
campaigns to address self-harm
2. provide access to self-help
resources that focus on building
resilience in young people
3. raise awareness and develop
resources aimed at preventing
bullying in schools and colleges
4. assess pathways for support for
children who are at risk of selfharm , particularly in vulnerable
groups of children and young
people – youth offenders, children
in care, children under the care of

Suggested
performance
measure
prevention
group
Trends in
admission
rates
recorded

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Data on selfharm in
children

CCG, local
authority
children and
family
services,
Public Health
advice and
support from
suicide
prevention
implementatio
n group

Training
delivered for
emotional
wellbeing
support of
children
Partnership
working to
deliver
resources
and
awareness

Progress to date
provide through FRS if
needed.
-Commissioning of Kooth and
expansion of face-to-face
counselling services for
young people.
Holly Gilbert to be a link and
provide updates between the
two groups.
Self-harm initiatives and antibullying work being reviewed
at CCC and PCC.
PCC identified key schools to
engage based on self-harm
data. A steering group of the
emotional health and
wellbeing board for
Peterborough is taking the
actions forward.
Videoscribe work on mental
health.
16

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

people with mental health
problems
5. assess pathways for teenagers and
young adults who have attended
A&E due to self-harm, particularly
upon discharge

Suggested
performance
measure
raising –
Number of
workshops
and events
run and
feedback
obtained

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

CCC ran a self-harm
workshop, primarily focused
at school representatives.
Actions are being taken
forward and include
improving communication
with schools and improving
uptake to training
opportunities and supporting
whole school approach to
mental health.

Achieve zero
suicides in
children

93
Recommendation
2.3
Promote early
interventions to
aid prevention of

Prevention interventions to promote good
mental health and avoid decline towards
suicidal tendencies.

1. Promote ‘Keep Your Head’
website for CYP to raise

Ongoing and
continuing work on
‘Keep Your Head’ CYP

Consider
survey of
service users
and the
public to

Progress to date

Suicide
Prevention
implementatio
n group to
lead -

Self-harm support groups for
parents have been run by
PinPoint and support from
Locality Teams (Cambs).
Training delivered by CPFT
(free of charge) –
understanding and
responding to self-harm.
-Broader range of
information provided
through counselling services
(advice).
17

Recommendation
mental health
problems that
could lead to
suicide

Actions

Timescale

awareness and promote early
interventions and signpost to
support

94

2. Develop ‘Keep Your Head’ adult
website to raise awareness of
sources of help, for example, debt
management, relationship
counselling, housing organisations
parent/children centres
3. Training and Information to health
professionals including GPs and
health visitors to promote
resources and advice services
4. Engage with service users and
public to understand gaps in
service provision and focus efforts
on improving the system to
support individuals where
appropriate
5. Consider the potential to provide a
tangible presence of a mental

Autumn 2017 –
development of ‘Keep
Your Head’ adult
mental heal website
Debt and money
management services
to be developed from
Sept 2017
Ongoing preventative
work in schools

Suggested
performance
measure
assess
awareness of
prevention
resources.

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date
-In 17/18 there will be debt
management (preventative)
work funded with care
leavers as well as those with
mental illnesses in
Cambridgeshire.
-Preventative work in schools
includes training to improve
understanding of Mental
Health in teaching/pastoral
staff. Aiding identification of
those who need support.
Drop in services for young
people in Huntingdon and
Peterborough and Cambridge
as part of Centre 33 and local
authority partnerships.
Delivering broad support as
well as counselling.

18

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

Training for
professionals including
GPs is ongoing

Number of
people
trained in
Mental
Health
Awareness
and suicide
prevention

CPSL MIND
and CCC

-ASIST training and Stop
Suicide workshop training
delivered to a range of
professionals (delivered by
Mind). Also Children’s
Mental Health training
delivered to a range of
professionals, delivered by
CPFT.

health drop-in facility in
Peterborough city centre
Recommendation
2.4 Promote

95

training in mental
health awareness,
particularly with
professional groups
such as GPs to
recognise mental
health issues and
risk of suicide

See recommendation 1.1 as this is a subset
of ‘suicide prevention training’
Training for GPs to include awareness
around risk assessment for mental health
issues by assessing patient histories,
particularly around a past history of selfharm

GP training funded through
STP with support from CCC
Priority 3 – Reduce access to the means of suicide
Recommendation
1. CPFT audit of ligature points and
3.1 – In line with
other suicide risks in inpatient
regulations, ensure
settings and residential care
the removal of
settings in line with regulations
potential ligature
2. Audit of ligature points in places of
points – particularly
in places of custody
custody
and in-patient
settings

This is ongoing - on a
yearly basis

Audit of
potential
ligature
points is
conducted
annually in
inpatient
wards and

CPFT lead for
inpatient audit
Police lead for
audit of police
custody suites
NHS England
lead for audit
in prisons
19

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

3. Share information on identifying
potential ligature points between
agencies (CPFT, Coroners, Police
and Prisons)

Recommendation
3.2 – Reduce the
risk of suicide by
jumping from high
buildings accessible
by the public
including multistorey car-parks

96

1. Support training provided by
Samaritans to identify risk of suicide in
people on high buildings
2. Work with coroners to continue to
lobby car park owners where there is
still a risk of suicide to erect barriers as
a mechanism to restrict the means to
suicide
3. Assess information designed to offer
help to those at risk to prevent suicide
- posters displayed in car parks and
shopping centres to aid self-help (to
Samaritans for example)

Ongoing work
following the success
of barriers at
Queensgate shopping
centre in
Peterborough.
Advocate for
construction of
barriers at remaining
car parks where there
is a risk of suicide

Suggested
performance
measure
places of
custody
Potential
ligature
points
removed or
made safe
Achieve zero
suicides at
car parks in
Cambridge
and
Peterboroug
h
Barriers to be
erected at
multi-storey
car parks with
suicide risk

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

Joint suicide
prevention
Implementation
group to lead.

Barriers erected at Queensgate
shopping centre in
Peterborough following
discussions and lobbying by the
suicide prevention
implementation group,
including the coroner.
No suicides reported from
Peterborough car parks since
the work began to construct
barriers

20

97

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Recommendation
3.3 – Reduce the
risk of suicide on
railway lines in
Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough

1. Support the national railway Suicide
Prevention plan and initiatives by
British Transport Police to reduce
suicides on railways
2. Use the annual suicide audit to assess
whether there are any ‘black spots’ for
suicide on railway lines locally. An
assessment of any requirements for
physical barriers should be made at
any location with heightened risk of
suicide.
3. Continue to promote STOP suicide at
local railway stations

Ongoing work

Suggested
performance
measure
Training of
rail staff in
suicide
prevention
Posters
available to
aid self-help
in railway
locations
Achieve zero
suicides on
railway lines

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners
Joint suicide
prevention
Implementatio
n group to
lead. Link with
British
Transport
Police

Progress to date
-A range of work is being
undertaken nationally as part
of the railway Suicide
Prevention plan –
Samaritans, Network Rail and
British Transport Police.
-Samaritans/Network Rail
campaign on the railway
including printed messages
on tickets and posters at
stations.
-Some local stations are also
displaying Stop Suicide
resources.
-Staff training has been
provided to railway
employees to look out for
and offer support to people
who may be considering
taking their own life on the
railway (provided by
Network Rail nationally).
-Rail505 app – enables other
passengers/anybody to
report someone they are
21

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date
worried about or to seek
help themselves on the
railway.

Recommendation
3.4 – Work with
Medicines
Management team
at the CCG to
ensure safe
prescribing of
some toxic drugs

1. Continue to make contact with the CCG
medicines management team chief
pharmacist to ensure quality standards
on safe prescribing. Further
consideration needs to be given to the
prescribing of some toxic drugs, where
safer alternative medicines are
available. (Hawton et al 2010)

Update on an annual
basis to the Suicide
prevention
implementation group

Prescribing
data to reflect
safe
prescribing
guidance

Suicide
Prevention
Implementatio
n Group to
liaise with
Chief
pharmacist at
the CCG

Ongoing through
training of professional
staff and GP training in
suicide prevention

Number of
GPs trained

CPFT and CPSL
MIND

https://www.rail505.com/
-Following Child Death
Overview Panel reports there
was a communication to GPs
regarding safe prescribing to
young people, this was also recirculated.

98

2. Promotion of suicide prevention through
pharmacies and with pharmacists is
recommended to raise awareness of
suicide risk due to some forms of
prescription medication.
Recommendation
3.5 - Whenever
possible, medical
professionals
should be

Education and training for health
professionals including General Practice
staff on use of personal safety plans for
patients with mental health problems. This
includes plans for those who have never

Consider an
audit of safety
plans

Some training of GPs and
mental health specialists
through the training offered by
CPSL MIND and CPFT

22

Recommendation

Actions

reinforcing safety
plans for
individuals with
mental health
problems

been in secondary care services – see
section 1.1 – GP training

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

99

Priority 4 – Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide
Recommendation
1. Ensure availability of ‘Help is at hand Ongoing work to
Help is at
4.1 - Ensure
booklet ‘for those bereaved as a
disseminate ‘Help is at hand leaflets
bereavement
result of suicide (GP surgeries,
Hand’ leaflet
are available
information and
coroners offices, police and funeral
to police,
Funding approved
access to support
directors).
coroners,
is available to
2. Create and disseminate a local
through STP to create funeral
those bereaved by
directors and
bereavement support leaflet to
a bereavement
suicide
GP practices
support service for
signpost people to services and
self-help support information.
people affected by
3. Develop and implement a
Establishmen
suicide. This should
bereavement support service for
t SOBS
be available towards
people affected by suicide. Link
groups and
the end of 2017
this to existing groups such as
numbers
SOBS groups to be set attending
CRUSE bereavement services
up from the end of
meetings
4. Facilitate the formation of Survivors
2017
of Bereavement due to Suicide
(SOBS) groups in Cambridge and
Bereavemen
Peterborough – run by people with
t support

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date

Joint suicide
prevention
Implementatio
n group to
lead

Help is at hand booklet
shared with Coroners Office.
Feb15.

CPSL MIND
and Lifecraft
to lead
bereavement
support
service
implementatio
n

Electronically shared with
Funeral directors.
Information circulated via
the GP bulletin in 2015 and
2017.
Help is at Hand booklets
circulated to all GP practices
in Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough with
instructions on how to reorder them.
23

Recommendation

Actions
experience of bereavement due to
suicide.
5. Link with other East of England
suicide prevention groups to
develop a self-help networks for
people bereaved by suicide.

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure
service in
place.
Number of
contacts
made.
Evaluation
survey

100

Priority 5 - Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behavior
Recommendation
Continue to liaise with local media to
Ongoing work initiated Sensitive and
5.1 –Encourage
encourage reference to and use of
in 2014. Ad hoc
responsible
appropriate and
guidelines for the reporting of suicide.
contact with local
reporting of
sensitive reporting Ensure the involvement of Comms teams in media
suicide by
LAs and CCG.
of suicide
local media
based on
Samaritans
guidelines

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date
Focus in 2017 will be
establishing a bereavement
support pathway postsuicide.
Bereavement support
resources are promoted via
the Stop Suicide Pledge
website and Keep Your Head
website. These resources
include specific sites for
young people who are
bereaved.

Joint suicide
prevention
Implementatio
n group

Liz Robin has liaised with
Editor of Cambridge News,
looking at how engage other
local papers with the comms
team.
Two visits were made to
Radio Cambridgeshire to
promote the responsible
reporting of suicides and to
24

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

Progress to date
ensure that discussions
around Peterborough car
park suicides were handled
sensitively. Guidelines on
suicide reporting were
provided to the editor.

101

Priority 6 - Support research, data collection and monitoring
Recommendation
1. Form sub-group to ensure data
6.1 Collect detailed
collection and audit.
suicide data on a
quarterly basis
Audit on a yearly basis to report changes to
suicide numbers, methods, demographics,
from
Cambridgeshire
risk factors.
and Peterborough Report on suicide rates in relation to public
coroners and carry health outcome:
out an annual
‘Reduce the rate of suicide in the
audit of local
population’
suicides
2. Encourage data gathering and consent
to collect and share data – self harm in
A&E Departments. Audit of self-harm data
if available to identify those at risk

On-going quarterly
collection of data and
full audit on a yearly
basis

Public Health
Indicator
4.10 –
Baseline
period =
2009-2011
Achieve 10%
reduction in
suicide rate
by 2020
Suicide
statistics on
three year
rolling basis

Joint suicide
prevention
Implementatio
n group to
lead
Sub-group
Public health
data analysts
to lead
Coroners to
supply data

Suicide Audit undertaken for
2014 and 2015 with case files
reviewed for all those
available in 2015. This audit
has shaped targeting of local
work. The audit will be
undertaken annually,
although the detailed case
review will be of a sample of
files.
Work has been carried out
together with the Coroner’s
Office to improve the
standardised regular
information received on
deaths throughout the year.
25

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Suggested
performance
measure

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners

3. As part of the zero suicide ambition –
consider reviewing a sample of suicide case
files on a quarterly basis to create a culture
of learning

Progress to date
The quality of the
information received has
improved.
Data is now received from
BTP through an annual
report and a warning system
(national system).

102

Recommendation
6.2 Disseminate
current evidence
on suicide
prevention to all
partner
organisations

Ensure membership of implementation
groups by all partners with correspondence
list kept up to date for sharing resources
Agenda item for suicide prevention
implementation group

On-going sharing of
information with
partner organisations

Implementat
ion group
meeting
minutes and
email
records

Public health
to lead, collate
and ensure
dissemination
of evidence

A local real-time surveillance
system has been established
– This shares information
from Police/Coroner to
Public health on suspected
suicides as they occur.
Relevant national
publications and evidence is
circulated via group
distribution list.

26

103

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Recommendation
6.3 Coroners
should notify the
Suicide Prevention
Strategic Group
about inquest
evidence that
suggests patterns
and suicide trends
and evidence for
service
development to
prevent future
suicides

Ongoing updates to the suicide prevention
strategic group by the coroners as required

Ongoing

Recommendation
6.4 Evaluate and
report on the
suicide prevention
implementation
plan

Evaluation methods created for each area
of suicide prevention as listed in the
recommendations above.

Report to Health
Committee and HWB
as requested

Evaluation of suicide audit data – changes
to suicide methods or risk of suicide.
Changes to rates of suicide

Suggested
performance
measure
Data is sent
on a
quarterly
basis to
public health
lead analyst
in
Cambridgesh
ire

Responsibility
/Involvement
of partners
Coroners to
lead – liaising
with the
Suicide
Prevention
Strategic
Group

Collation and
analysis of
any
evaluation
and survey
data
Analysis of
suicide audit
data

Public Health
to lead

Progress to date
The Coroner flags any
notable patterns with the
group or public health. The
‘real time’ surveillance
system will also help with
this in terms of
geographic/temporal
patterns.

See columns above

27

Recommendation

Actions

Timescale

Suggested
Responsibility Progress to date
performance /Involvement
measure
of partners
Evaluation
and
outcomes
from all
recommenda
tions listed
above
* When referring to ‘children and young people’, the definition from the emotional wellbeing and mental health of children strategy is used; “all children
and young people and their families in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, from conception to their 18th birthday or their 25th year if disabled or have
complex needs”.
This is a live action plan that was last updated on 5th October 2017.

104
28

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 6

6 NOVEMBER 2017

PUBLIC REPORT

Report of:
Contact Officer(s):

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP)
Aidan Fallon, Head of Communication & Engagement,
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough STP
Aidan.fallon1@nhs.net

Tel. 07970 195351

CAMBRIDGESHIRE & PETERBOROUGH SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION
PARTNERSHIP (STP) UPDATE REPORT
RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee note this update report.

1.

PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

1.1

This report has been prepared at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee in order to
provide an update on STP implementation progress.

1.2

This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3,
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council
- Public Health and Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

2.

BACKGROUND

2.1

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough health system faces significant challenges due to:
• the health and care needs of our rapidly growing, increasingly elderly population;
• significant health inequalities, including the health and wellbeing challenges of diverse ethnic
communities;
• workforce shortages including recruitment and retention in general practice;
• quality shortcomings and inconsistent operational performance; and
• financial challenges which exceed those of any other STP area in England.

2.2

In order to address these challenges, the NHS (including general practice) and local government
came together in 2016 to develop a five-year Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) to
improve the health and care of our local population and bring the system back into financial
balance. The STP seeks to do the following:
• deliver a shift from reactive to proactive care, with a holistic approach to care planning,
coordination, and delivery that empowers people to take as much control of their care as
possible. This approach aims to manage the growth in demand for services through better
prevention, self-management, re-enablement and intensive management of rising risk and high
risk people;
• deliver care pathway changes, standardised care and reduced variation to maximise quality
and minimise unit costs through, for example, improved clinical networks, reduced Length of
Stay in hospital and staff skill mix;
• deliver knowledge sharing, breaking down organisational and setting boundaries;
• close the under-funding gap as quickly as possible and maximising income growth;

105

• reduce overheads within and across the health and care system by, for example, managing
our Estate more effectively, maximising joint procurement across health and other public sector
organisations, and integrating organisations and functions; and
• use technology to improve modes of interaction/intervention.
2.3

Health and local government partners agreed a unifying ambition for health and care in
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. This is to develop the beneficial behaviours of an
‘Accountable Care System’ by acting as one system, jointly accountable for improving our
population’s health and wellbeing, outcomes, and experience, within a defined financial envelope.

2.4

Through discussion with NHS staff, patients, carers, and partners, we articulated four priorities
for change and we have also developed a 10-point plan to deliver these priorities, as set out
below.
Priorities for change

10-point plan

At home is best

1. People powered health and wellbeing
2. Neighbourhood care hubs

Safe and effective hospital
care, when needed

3. Responsive urgent and expert emergency care
4. Systematic and standardised care
5. Continued world-famous research and services

We’re only sustainable
together

6. Partnership working

Supported delivery

7. A culture of learning as a system
8. Workforce: growing our own
9. Using our land and buildings better
10. Using technology to modernise health

3.

STP PROGRAMME ARRANGEMENTS

3.1

In early 2017, we moved from the planning phase to the delivery phase of the STP. We put in
place Fit for the Future (STP) programme arrangements, with a delivery governance structure to
ensure effective implementation and this is illustrated at Annex 1.

3.2

The Committee is asked to note that the Programmes governance arrangements have undergone
a recent review to ensure that they continue to be fit for purpose and a number of proposed
changes are subject to agreement and implementation.

3.3

The programme has, at its core, six Delivery Groups, each one responsible to Accountable
Officers who are Chief Executive Officers from across the health and social care system, as set
out below.
Delivery groups

Primary Care & Integrated
Neighbourhoods Delivery Group

Planned Care Delivery
Group

Urgent & Emergency Care
Delivery Group

Shared Services Delivery Group

The Delivery Groups are expected to set up project groups to deliver their
workstreams

Enabling groups

Local Workforce Advisory Board

Digital Delivery Group

106

3.4

The Delivery Groups cover clinical services, workforce and support services and are designed to
encourage system-wide working and to allow for person-led care to be at the forefront of
everything we do. Membership includes clinicians from organisations across the system as well
as patient and public representation.

3.5

Improvement Project Groups have been established within each Delivery Group to take forward
specific aspects of work and, again, these groups include clinical membership and patient and
public representation.

3.6

It is important to bear in mind that STP delivery will take place over several years and we
are seeking to ensure a good balance of pace that will deliver real changes for people as
quickly as possible but without overwhelming the health and care system’s ability to
process the changes.

4.

STP DELIVERY IN 2017/18

4.1

In Cambridgeshire & Peterborough, there are too many people ending up in hospital
unnecessarily and/or spending too long in hospital unnecessarily. We have, therefore, focused
much of our attention in 2017/18 on addressing this issue by creating more community based
services and capacity to care for people in more appropriate settings. This work is being driven
mainly through the Urgent & Emergency Care Delivery Group and the Primary Care & Integrated
Neighbourhoods Delivery Group.

4.2

Urgent and Emergency Care
This Delivery Group is seeking to manage demand for urgent and emergency care services which
have seen significant increases over recent years resulting in clinical and financial challenges for
the system. The increase in demand in Cambridgeshire & Peterborough is driven mainly by
population growth and, in particular, by growth in the older frail population, as well as a lack of
community based services to support vulnerable people.
The key interventions this year are:

4.2.1

Extending our Joint Emergency Team (JET):
This team intervenes to support vulnerable patients in their homes and/or the community and we
are expanding and enhancing this service to enable it to care for more patients. We have invested
£2m to expand this service with more than 70 additional staff and, as of the end of September,
almost 50 job offers have been made with approximately 20 new staff in post.
Early outcomes are encouraging and include, as at the end of September:
 169 referrals in the last week of September against an average of 148 referrals per week in the
year to date;
 80% of referrals result in a first contact with patient, based on the same time period data;
 % utilisation of JET capacity weekdays is 71% versus 57% reported at the end of July
 % utilisation of JET capacity weekends is 63% versus 28% reported at the end of July.
 % of referrals resolved without an Acute Hospital transfer = 89%.
 % first contact within 2 hours of referral date/time = 65%

4.2.2

Stroke Early Supported Discharge (ESD):
We are investing £0.7m to establish a service which will provide both intensive stroke discharge
support and home based neuro rehabilitation. The operational model will result in therapy staff
rotating between hospitals, the community based neuro rehabilitation teams and the stroke ESD
team. This will result in an enhanced and multidisciplinary team with better joint working and
communication across the patient pathway. We are currently recruiting to 35 additional posts to
provide this service.

107

4.2.3

Discharge to Assess
This service focusses on people in hospital who are at a point where care and assessment can
safely be continued in a non-hospital setting and they do not require an acute hospital bed, but
may still require care services. The principal is to provide short term, funded support to be
discharged to their own home (where appropriate) or another community setting. Assessment for
longer-term care and support needs is then undertaken in the most appropriate setting and at the
right time for the person. This approach can be otherwise known as, ‘home first’, ‘safely home’,
‘step down’. This does not detract in any way from the need for agreed multi professional
assessment or from the requirement to ensure safe discharge and it may work alongside time for
recuperation and recovery, on-going rehabilitation or reablement.
We are investing over £6m in 2017/18 to recruit 155 additional posts (mainly Integrated Care
Workers).
Again, early outcomes are encouraging and, in the first week of September, we have supported
25% more patients to be successfully discharged across the system than normal weekly average,
leading to a reduction in delayed transfer of care numbers at both North West Anglia Foundation
Trust and Cambridge University Hospitals Foundation Trust. Many of these patients have very
complex needs and had been awaiting discharge from hospital for over 20 days. By working
across our system, these patients are now being supported in the community.

4.3

Primary Care and Integrated Neighbourhoods

4.3.1

The purpose of this Delivery Group is to implement integrated health and care neighbourhood
teams providing proactive care stratified by different levels of need, as determined by peoples
medical and psychosocial conditions, and as illustrated in the diagram below. We have brought
together previously disparate work on healthy ageing, long-term conditions management, and
mental health for the first time in this delivery programme.

108

4.3.2

Key 2017/18 Interventions:
• More specialist support for people with long term conditions such as diabetes, lung problems
and heart disease.
• Extra help for people who are at risk of falls by strengthening existing services. This will
mean more staff in the community to help to prevent falls and help people recover if they do
get injured.
• More case managers to identify patients who need the most support to remain at home and
to ensure they get the help they need (this will be piloted in four neighbourhoods in the first
instance and then expanded to other areas on the basis of the evidence from these pilots).
• Improving the prevention of stroke by identifying more patients with atrial fibrillation, a heart
problem which is a significant risk factor, by giving them medication that will help earlier
• More support for people with dementia at all stages of the disease.

4.3.3

Key Achievements in 2017/18 to date
• £1m invested in respiratory, stroke prevention and falls prevention services
• £1.9m Diabetes funding awarded from national bid

5.

REVIEW OF STP GOVERNANCE AND LEADERSHIP

5.1

Establishing an STP Board
We have established an STP Board in order to improve accountability to partner organisations
as well as to ensure better ownership of collective decisions as we move towards an accountable
care system approach. Membership of the STP Board is currently as follows:







Chair: Independent Chair
Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer of the CCG
Chairs and Chief Executives of all partner NHS organisations
Local Authority Representation
STP Executive Programme Director
STP Care Advisory Group Chair

A process is underway to appoint an Independent Chair. The post holder is expected to be in
post by the November meeting.
Key documentation, including the ToRs and the STP Governance Framework, is being revised
to clarify the respective responsibilities of the STP Board and the HCE (see diagram above).
Broadly, the HCE will be operationally focused while the STP Board will be responsible for setting
medium and long term STP strategy; as follows:

109

5.2

STP Executive Leadership
Tracy Dowling, the current Accountable Officer for the STP, will continue in the role for the
medium term. Catherine Pollard has been appointed as Executive Programme Director and has
replaced Scott Haldane who has resumed his full-time responsibilities as Finance Director at
CPFT

6.

KEY STP RISKS

6.1

We have included, at Annex 2, the key strategic risks to the effective delivery of the STP, as well
as a summary of the interventions and mitigations to these risks.

7.

APPENDICES

7.1

Annex 1 - Fit for the Future Delivery Governance Structure
Annex 2 - STP Strategic Risks

110

ANNEX 1: Fit for the Future Delivery Governance Structure

111

ANNEX 2: STP Strategic Risks (page 1 of 2)

Ref
No.

R-06

R-08

R-15

Risks/Issue Description

There is a risk that deterioration of our core financial position may lead to
failure to access additional monies such as sustainability funds.

There is a risk that, if we do not effectively engage with patients,
members of the public and other stakeholders, STP implementation may
be compromised due to lack of support.

There is a risk that Clinicians will not engage with STP implementation if
they believe that clinical conclusions and agreed care models will not be
implemented.

Risk
Score

Post
Mitigating/resolution/ Actions

Risk
Score

CCG Financial turnaround plan aligned to STP delivery plan. CUHFT and
NWAngliaFT financial recovery plans and operational Plan assumptions
aligned to STP. Delivery of QIPP and CIP.

16

20

Communication & Engagement Strategy in place and to be routinely
refreshed. Training & guidance in how to effectively engagement with
stakeholders provided to all STP staff and clinicians. Active patient
involvement in STP Delivery Groups and Improvement Areas. Routine
stakeholder communication via, for example, STP Website, newsletter,
social media and proposed Stakeholder Group.

12

20

Clinical Engagement Strategy that 1) establishes Strategic Clinical Networks
to lead clinical planning and proposed care models in areas such as
Cardiovascular and Stroke 2) ensures clinical leaders are in place for every
significant implementation area 3) puts in place Evaluation Task & Finish
Groups and 4) strengthens, in collaboration with communication colleagues,
engagement with specific clinical groups e.g. GPs.

12

25

Engagement with councillors via Health Committee, Health & Wellbeing
Board and processes, specific meetings and fora to ensure two-way
dialogue that informs elected representatives of the case for change and
ensures that there is an opportunity for councillors to influence solutions.
Routine meetings with MPs, individually and collectively, to brief on issues.

20

Sustainable General Practice strategy group to provide assurance over
implementation of GP Forward View. CCG investment in GP time to
support GPs to be involved in redesign work. Communications Cell to
devise system-wide GP engagement strategy.

20

112

20

R-16

There is a risk that proposed solutions are not supported by MPs,
councillors and other elected representatives.

R-17

There is risk that Primary Care as providers are not engaged or included
in system wide leadership conversations.

25

R-20

There is a risk the system will not have the ability to capture sufficient
savings opportunities in 2017/18 due to the lack of dedicated delivery
resources.

16

R-25

There is a risk that negotiations with national bodies (Department of
Health, Treasury) are un-coordinated among system partners, reducing
negotiating leverage and likelihood of getting desired changes (e.g. to
Market Forces Factor, for estates / infrastructure investment)

20

Prioritise where to focus effort and response for 2017/18. CCG have
realigned staff to priority projects. Focussed oversight of delivery by SDU.
Application of MOU behaviours regarding sharing intelligence about
strategic intent, via updates to HCE and/or FPPG. CEO commitment to
speaking as a system, with one voice when negotiating with national bodies.
HCE & CPSB meeting quarterly with shared agenda priorities agreed.

12

16

ANNEX 2: STP Strategic Risks (page 2 of 2)

Ref
No.

Risks/Issue Description

Risk
Score

Post
Mitigating/resolution/ Actions

Risk
Score

113

R-26

There is a risk that ineffective STP Governance may lead to failure to
deliver on agreed actions.

20

Revision of Governance Framework underway and seeks to strengthen
accountability and decision making.

16

R-27

There is a risk of delivery of STP wide projects due to capacity of teams
and SROs alongside business as usual pressures.

20

Accountable Officer to actively monitor delivery of STP objectives, seek to
resolve any delivery issues and escalate unresolved issues to HCE.

12

R-29

There is a risk that competing pressures placed on the CCG and
Providers from National Bodies to deliver short term turnaround could
be at the detriment of longer turn sustainability and deliverability of the
STP.

20

HCE to monitor delivery of programme and to raise concerns honestly and
openly in the HCE meetings in the first instance and escalate any
unresolved issues to Bi-partite meeting with NHS England and NHS
Improvement.

12

25

Deploy appropriate resource to ensure bids for national monies are
completed to a high standard to maximise opportunity to be awarded funds.
Utilise the virtual task and finish group to support the process. Seek other
funding sources. If funding is not granted reassess STP objectives and
identify other opportunities to deliver savings and objectives. Engaging with
local MPs.

20

20

R-30

There is a risk that the system will be unable to secure external funding
required to support delivery and this will result in the programme failing
to achieve its objectives.

R-31

There is a risk that if a number of business cases all rely on recruiting
new staff it may be difficult to recruit to all positions and if they are
recruited from within the system this may cause problems for existing
services

25

Delivery Groups to work closely with their Workforce lead to develop an
appropriate recruitment strategy.
Workforce leads to liaise to maintain an overview of Workforce requirements
to ensure the needs of all business cases do not conflict and to ensure that
the impact of large scale recruitment may have on other parts of the system
is understood.

R-32

There is a risk that current transformation staff within all organisations
aren't fully aligned to the STP and could result in the programme failing
to achieve its objectives.

25

Accountable Officers to actively monitor delivery of STP objectives, seek to
resolve and any unresolved issues to be escalated to HCE.
Review engagement and communication strategy within organisations to
ensure understanding and awareness of the STP.

20

R-33

The is a risk that as a consequence of being drawn into the Capped
Expenditure Process (CEP) the system will be required to focus on short
term actions and/or restrict the systems ability to focus on delivery of the
STP programme of work.

20

Accountable Officers to continue to engage national bodies to understand
and, where possible, influence the CEP.

12

This page is intentionally left blank

114

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 7

6 NOVEMBER 2017

PUBLIC REPORT

Report of:
Contact Officer(s):

Jessica Bawden, Director of Corporate Affairs, Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group
Mary Hennells
Jessica Bawden, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
Executive
Mustafa Malik, Greater Peterborough Network Ltd.
Assistant
07980 739 225

PRIMARY CARE UPDATE PETERBOROUGH
RECOMMENDATIONS
FROM: Director of Corporate Affairs

Deadline date: N/A

It is recommended that Health Scrutiny Committee:
1. Receives and notes the updates provided in this report.

1.

ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1

The Committee has requested an update report on primary care in Peterborough, further to the
report discussed at the Committee meeting in January 2017.

2.

PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1

The report is being presented to provide an update on primary care, and specifically general
practice, to Committee members. The Committee received a report in January 2017 which
advised members of the local implementation plans of the national General Practice Forward
View (GPFV). There was a particular focus on workforce and recruitment. This report provides
further information on the local strategy and key areas of implementation.
Information provided in this report is for the whole of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough as,
moving forward, it is essential to work as a whole system. However, where appropriate, specific
data or information on Peterborough has been included.

2.2

This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3,
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council
- Public Health and Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

3.

TIMESCALES
Is this a Major Policy
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO

115

If yes, date for
Cabinet meeting

N/A

4.

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1

The General Practice Forward View (GPFV) was published in April 2016 as a response to the
pressures facing general practice and outlines how the government plans to act. It contains
specific, practical, and funded steps on five areas: investment, workforce, workload,
infrastructure, and care redesign1
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) developed a local
strategy in conjunction with local stakeholders and in response to the national ambitions of the
GPFV. The strategy was submitted to NHS England and was assured as being a robust plan to
be implemented locally. The local strategy is attached at Appendix 1.
The local ambitions align with the national strategic direction and are grouped under similar
headings. The overarching aims are to support the resilience of general practice to be fit for the
future and to form a strong platform of primary care within wider health and care as set out in the
system-wide Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).
This report provides an update on each of the key areas, detailing progress to date and
highlighting any relevant risks. The risks are managed through the CCG’s assurance framework
and directorate risk registers and, where possible, mitigations are identified and documented.
Since the presentation of the report in January 2017, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
has accepted delegated commissioning responsibility for all general practice contracts from NHS
England. The transfer of responsibility took place on 1 April 2017 and brings decision making in
relation to general practice provision and contract management back into the local health system.
The GPFV and its local plan and implementation set a visible context in which decisions relating
to general practice can be made.

4.2

Investment
The GPFV presents a range of opportunities over five years for local systems and practices to
benefit from the associated national investment.
To date, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG has received direct allocations relating to the
following areas:
 Ongoing provision of Extended Access in Greater Peterborough: the hub-based delivery
of extended access to routine primary care appointments continues in this financial year.
Peterborough was an original national pilot site and the service in place enables any
patient registered with a Peterborough GP to access appointments during the week until
8pm in the hub at Boroughbury Medical Centre, or at a range of “spoke” practices. At
weekends patients can be booked into appointments in advance, or may be directed to
the service after having contacted NHS 111 or attended A&E with a non-urgent care need.
The service provides access to a range of primary care staff, not just GPs. The CCG is
required to roll out the provision across the rest of Cambridgeshire throughout 2018/19
with a target of achieving 100% population coverage by April 2019. The contract in
Greater Peterborough, currently held by the GP federation, Greater Peterborough
Network Ltd. (GPN Ltd), will be re-commissioned in this timeframe.
 Support for training of general practice receptionists to become Care Navigators: this will
enable patients to be better signposted to social care, voluntary services, or other places
to better support the need they are presenting with in general practice. To date, over 120
local GP receptionists have completed the bronze level training. Subsequent courses and
silver and gold level training are also planned.
 Support the development of Medical Assistant roles in general practice: this focuses on
expanding the skills of administrative staff and Health Care Assistants in general practice
to cover tasks relating to correspondence management. This supports the reduction in
time that GPs spend dealing with hospital letters and enables their attention to be focused
on those requiring clinical input. The CCG is working with groups of practices in “testbeds”

1

NHS England (2016) General Practice Forward View

116







4.3

to look at improving efficiency within practice systems. A testbed in Peterborough and one
in south fenland are piloting the support packages to develop robust document
management.
CCG investment in the Transformation of Primary Care: the GPFV requires local
investment of £3 per head of registered population over two years to support
transformation activities linked to the implementation of the local strategy. The plan for
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough includes investment to support the development of
new models of care through emerging at-scale models and collaborative working between
practices; initiatives to support recruitment, development, and retention of the general
practice workforce; support for preparation for the implementation of extended access;
and a programme of Time to Care Testbeds in three areas to support the implementation
of the nationally recognised “10 High Impact Changes” to improve general practice
efficiency and ways of working.
In Peterborough, the transformation fund is being used to support the federation of
General Practices, GPN Ltd, to develop its integration ambitions through more robust
working arrangements with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust
(CPFT) and North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust (NWAFT), initially in respiratory
and cardiology pathways and more focussed working with community Neighbourhood
Teams. This is in line with nationally emerging models of care known as Multi-Specialty
Community Providers.
The CCG is accountable to NHS England in demonstrating our progress against the
ambitions set out in the local strategy, maximising the national funding opportunities, and
delivering investment commitments. The CCG’s local GPFV Delivery and Engagement
Group provides a place for a range of key stakeholders, including Healthwatch, to shape
the delivery plans and implementation challenges.

General Practice Workforce
Further to the more detailed information provided at the January 2017 meeting, the CCG has
been working to develop the general practice workforce strategy and implementation plans. As
the detail of the national programme has emerged, CCGs have been asked to resubmit their local
plans by the end of October 2017. The focus of the refreshed strategy is the achievement of the
challenging targets around recruitment and retention of doctors working in primary care.
In Peterborough, the actions to attract GPs and other doctors will be supported by having been
selected as a pilot site in the national International GP Recruitment Programme. A joint bid
submitted by GPN Ltd. and the CCG resulted in a successful outcome. The programme is being
led nationally and will learn from early pilot sites in Essex and Lincolnshire. If successful, the
anticipated outcome is for 30 GPs to be identified through the programme to come and work in
Peterborough. The timescales for achieving this are in the process of being finalised.
Other initiatives to improve GP recruitment and retention include the development of portfolio
career opportunities through a three-year GP Fellowship programme; working to identify GPs
who plan to retire in the next few years to link them into GP retainer programmes, and to develop
different career options for those who wish to reduce their clinical commitments by introducing
new roles in such areas as education, mentoring, and commissioning.
Efforts to support the wider skill mix in general practice include:
 The development of a General Practice Nursing Strategy in line with NHS England’s newly
published “10 Point Plan for General Practice Nursing”.
 Additional funding through the CCG’s Transformation Fund to support the three local
Community Education Provider Networks, hosted by GP federations, to appoint a Joint
Manager to align their work plans and improve efficiency.
 The completion of first cohort of Care Navigation training (120 practice receptionists/HCAs
trained).
 Recruitment of clinical pharmacists in general practice through the national programme
to support this.
 Supporting the Local Medical Committee to offer training and development to all GP
Practice Managers.

117

More generic approaches include the promotion of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough as positive
places to live and work, linking in with other initiatives to attract public sector workforce as
appropriate. Emerging new models of care support alternative ways of working which may
encourage clinical professionals back into general practice or suit individuals looking for different
shift patterns or employment status. It is important to work with newly qualified clinicians, or those
who have been working in different sectors, to understand what would keep them in, or encourage
them to embark on, a career in primary care.
Key risks in this area relate to the ability of the planned actions and initiatives to attract and retain
the clinical workforce as required; the national management of the International GP Recruitment
Programme diluting the impact that the scheme may have locally; and the increased requirement
of the primary care workforce to cover extended hours, putting additional strain on an already
stretched group of staff and impacting on other out of hours and urgent care services.
4.4

Workload Management
The increasing demand on general practice requires a focus on revised and more efficient ways
of working. The CCG has supported three groups of GP practices to form “Time to Care Testbeds”
to work together to identify more streamlined ways of working; explore how scaling up can support
greater efficiencies and cost benefits; and implement examples from the national “10 High Impact
Changes”. A group of 12 Peterborough practices has formed one of the three testbeds and is
focussing on sharing good practice, improving document management, and looking at
collaborative ways of working.
There is now an opportunity to link into the national Time to Care Programme which will be
promoted at a forthcoming showcase event in early November. The intention is to engage a wider
number of practices in the initiatives and to support their engagement by providing financial
support for backfill of staff.
Another funding stream to support better workload management is the regionally awarded GP
Resilience funding. In this financial year, six bids covering 12 practices have been approved or
partially approved for funding from the GP Resilience Fund. This represents £127,000 in total
and covers a range of supportive approaches particularly in relation to supporting recruitment,
accessing training, and management support.
Key risks include the rapidly increasing population across the county and the ability for general
practice capacity to flex sufficiently to meet the needs of existing and new populations. The
workload management initiatives will not succeed in isolation of the ambitions to strengthen
workforce and the accelerated approach required to embrace new models of care.

4.5

Infrastructure
The Estates and Technology Transformation Fund (ETTF) identified in the GPFV has allocated
capital of approximately £7m over three years into schemes proposed by Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough practices and CCG Information Management and Technology (IM&T) leads. This
is to support premises improvements and technological developments. In Peterborough there are
five practices which have schemes to improve their practice premises receiving capital
contributions through this fund. The three year funding window has resulted in these being smaller
scale improvements, such as practice extensions, rather than larger, strategic estates solutions.
Technological improvements include a range of schemes such as the roll out of Wi-Fi to all
practices for staff and patient use and support for mobile working through improved hardware for
clinical staff.
A key risk associated with this fund is the requirement for the CCG to pick up the revenue
consequences of the capital investment. GP practice premises costs are funded in line with the
national Premises Cost Directions and any expansion of premises footprints results in increased
rental contributions to be covered by the CCG.

118

The ETTF forms one funding stream for premises improvements. Others include NHS England
Improvement Grants, third party investments, and investment through developer contributions for
health infrastructure through Section 106 or Community Infrastructure Levy contributions. The
CCG is working closely with NHS England and local authority planning leads to maximise health
contributions associated with the high levels of planned growth for the county.
4.6

New Models of Care
The GPFV plan submission set out the intentions to support the new models of care that are
developing across the different geographies. These include the Local Urgent Care Services
Hubs (LUCS) in Wisbech, Ely, and Fenland; the emerging Multi-speciality Community Provider
(MCP) approach in Greater Peterborough; and the Primary Care Home model in South
Cambridgeshire being led by the Granta Practice. Other business cases are being prepared to
signal the level of investment required by each scheme to support its progression, within the
parameters of the budget.
Although operating under different names, the underlying characteristics of the new models being
trialled are similar. They recognise the need to develop local networks or hubs of provision, in
line with the 30,000-50,000 population size being encouraged nationally, and are seeking to
strengthen that provision to patients through more integrated and seamless service delivery
across organisational boundaries. The LUCS Hubs have an initial emphasis on urgent care
provision. The MCP is developing around long term condition pathways, starting with respiratory
and cardiology. The Primary Care Home is focussed on integration with community services and
supporting improved same day access. Learning from these emerging models and from a number
of Vanguard projects around the country will inform future organisational forms and contract
frameworks to be commissioned.

5.

CONSULTATION

5.1

Wide stakeholder engagement was undertaken at the time of preparing the local GPFV strategy
and continues through the CCG’s GP Forward View Delivery and Engagement Group.
Any decisions which result in changes to the provision of primary care services will require
bespoke consultation and engagement to be planned and implemented prior to variation requests
being made to the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee. This is a formal subcommittee of the CCG’s Governing Body and is constituted to be able to transact the delegated
responsibilities that passed to the CCG from NHS England in April 2017. These committee
meetings are held in public for maximum transparency and engagement.

5.2

There are no other consultations to be suggested at this time.

6.

ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1

The Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the progress that the CCG and wider health and
care system are making in response to the national General Practice Forward View.
This is a complex programme of initiatives and opportunities centred on the transformation of
general practice services to increase their resilience and ensure their sustainability for the future
needs of local populations. It is recognised that there are frailties in existing provision and that
increased demand is driving the need for practices to consider their models of delivery and seek
at-scale solutions to workforce, workload, and infrastructure issues.
The federation of GPs in Peterborough is working hard to support the creation of scale locally
and to drive forward potential new ways of working to create sustainable solutions and increase
collaboration. The CCG continues to explore ways to commission services at this higher scale to
support full population coverage of service and to encourage greater collaboration for shared
workforce and resources.

7.

REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

119

7.1

The Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the update. As it is part of a longer term
programme of implementation, in line with national policy and investment, it is anticipated that
further updates can be brought for review at the Committee’s request.

8.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1

There are no alternative options to consider.

9.

IMPLICATIONS
Financial Implications

9.1

There are no financial implications for the Committee to consider.
Legal Implications

9.2

There are no legal implications for the Committee to consider.
Equalities Implications

9.3

Equalities Impact Assessments are undertaken as part of the individual initiatives within the wider
programme.
Rural Implications

9.4

Rural implications to consider include the issue of creating scale and collaborative ways of
working without compromising local accessibility. It is about maximising the stabilising benefits of
working in larger entities covering wider populations but without losing the local responsiveness.

10.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1

NHS England (2016) General Practice Forward View

11.

APPENDICES

11.1

Appendix 1 - Cambridgeshire and Peterborough GPFV Plan – February 2017 submission

120

Appendix 1

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s
General Practice Forward View Strategy
2017 - 2020
121

DRAFT February 2017

Table of Contents
i

Foreword

1. Introduction ...........................................................................................................5
2. Model of Care .......................................................................................................8
3. Improving Access ...............................................................................................14
4. Workforce ...........................................................................................................17
5. Workload ............................................................................................................22
6. Infrastructure ......................................................................................................27
122

7. Investment ..........................................................................................................29
8. Governance and Programme Management .......................................................33
9. Appendices .........................................................................................................36

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

2|Page

i.

Foreword

We are committed to addressing the current challenges facing primary care, and creating a sustainable future for General
Practice in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (C&PCCG) has been tasked, under the National Operational Planning
and Contracting Guidance1 (2017-2019) with the development of a General Practice Forward View (GPFV) strategy. This comes at an
opportune time. We currently have 105 practices in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, with dedicated staff finding new and innovative
ways of delivering high quality, responsive care for their patients. They are united in wanting the best for their patients: local GPs have
told us “we all want to deliver the kind of care we would want for our families.” Yet, an increasing number of practices are struggling.
Demand continues to grow, and patient needs are changing and becoming more complex: this is reflected in practices struggling with
operational, clinical and financial challenges. General Practice is at a cross-road, and it must evolve to meet the needs of both the
patients and the workforce.

123

Over the past four months, we have engaged with patients, local GP leaders, GP Federations, the Local Medical Committee (LMC), our
local Sustainability Transformation Programme (STP) clinical working groups, as well as external partners such as Social Care and
HealthWatch, to distil their views of the future of general practice.
Our strategy is built around a vision of practices working together to engage a wide range of staff to deliver proactive, standardised and
integrated care. We have outlined, in this document, key strategic actions to deliver this vision. Our ambitions are set out below, and then
described in more detail in the rest of the document.
1. Our new care model will be enabled by practices working increasingly at scale, with redesigned incentives for better ways of
working and full population coverage.
2. We will redesign how care is delivered, with a particular focus on patients in care homes, patients with multiple long-term
conditions, and patients with urgent care needs. This care will need to be delivered by groups of practices, focusing on populations
of at least 30,000-50,000 patients, working closely with community teams, voluntary and social care services.

1

Planning guidance states: CCGs will need to submit one GPFV plan to NHS encompassing the specific areas outlined in this guidance. Plans will need to reflect local circumstances, but must – as a
minimum – set out: • How access to general practice will be improved • How funds for practice transformational support (as set out in the GPFV) will be created and deployed to support general practice •
How ring-fenced funding being devolved to CCGs to support the training of care navigators and medical assistants, and stimulate the use of online consultations, will be deployed.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

3|Page

3. We are required by NHS England to determine how we will improve access to routine primary care over evenings and weekends.
We will ensure this access is used to support patients with the greatest need, aligned to the care model above.
4. Our workforce programme’s ambition is to support our primary care staff in working safely, through improving supply and retention,
leadership development and capacity creation. We will create new opportunities for employment within the new care model to
ensure our primary care system can benefit from the additional clinical workforce being sourced through the national programmes
of the General Practice Forward View.
5. We will begin by supporting the creation of capacity in primary care, finding strength and resilience through enabling practices to
adopt proven methods of addressing workload challenges and through working together more effectively, the CCG has reprioritised its staffing to provide significant additional support to general practice from early 2017;
6. Our strategy will be enabled by ambitious digital and estates strategies. We wish to maximise the benefits of modern information
technology in supporting care and creating capacity, and to develop a clear approach to premises investment linked to the service
and provider developments above.

124

7. If we take on delegated commissioning in 2017, we will focus on ensuring a smooth transition of responsibilities, work to improve
contract administration and responsive contractual decision-making.
Our health and care system rests on the foundation of general practice. Our patients want, and need, general practice to be resilient and
sustainable. We believe we have an ambitious plan which will allow us to achieve that goal over the coming four years, whilst providing a
responsive, high quality service which will serve our patients well. This document sets out our strategy for delivering the commitments
made in the GPFV. The aspirations and plans in this document are in line with both the GPFV and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) which details how we – as a whole system - propose to improve services and become
clinically and financially sustainable.

Dr Gary Howsam
Clinical Chair & Chief Clinical Officer CCG

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

4|Page

1.

Introduction

1.1 Vision
Our vision for a sustainable future involves practices working together to engage a wide range of staff to deliver proactive,
standardised and integrated care.
In our vision for care in Cambridgeshire & Peterborough, general practice will continue to provide excellent evidence-based care for our
patients. It is a place where communities and patients play a fuller role in maintaining good health, and when physical or mental health is
in need of support, a responsive, broader primary care team can signpost the most relevant health professional to help the patient and
enable people to manage their own needs and return to their normal lives.

125

Our vision for the future involves practices increasingly operating at scale. In the next five years, we see practices triaging patients to the
most appropriate destination for their care, with an appropriate suite of services available in the community to wrap around patients.
Practices will have access to a diverse team, all operating at the top of their license, such as pharmacists, mental health support workers
and physiotherapists. Specialised support, both from GPs with a special interest, and from secondary care, will link into these at-scale
models to provide input directly to patient care as well as up-skilling GPs, nurses and other community professionals.
We will reshape how we commission care to reflect the increasing prevalence of multi-morbid patients. We will ask our providers
(including general practice to proactively manage long-term conditions, and focus on the holistic needs of the patients). We will support
them to help patients regain control of their health and gain confidence in dealing with their conditions. At the same time, we will lead the
integration of care around these patients so their interactions with community teams, social care, voluntary sector and secondary care
are joined up around their needs.
Similarly, primary care will continue to have a responsibility to support patients who are urgently ill, but we wish to support practices to
manage on the day demand in new and innovative ways. This will give people access to their GPs when they most need it, but also make
most effective use of the wider urgent care team - with paramedics, A&E, NHS 111 and other urgent response services in
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough.
Patient safety and quality will underpin everything we do.
This will be a place where new GPs and other clinical professionals look to build careers in general practice taking on several roles as
their careers progress. A system where people are fulfilled by their roles, and where all staff feel valued and work in teams they are proud
to be part of.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

5|Page

1.2 Current STP and General Practice Landscape
Our health and care services face multiple challenges. Ours is one of the most, if not the most, challenged health systems in England,
making it essential that we work together to develop robust plans for long-term change. The population of Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough is growing rapidly (940,112 as at 1 October 2016). Our population is diverse, it is ageing, and it has significant inequalities.
There are also more people with long term conditions, such as diabetes, and there are high levels of obesity.
In addition, we are facing practical challenges:

126

•

healthcare is not as good in some places as in others, and does not always meet the standards that it should

•

recruiting and retaining staff is a challenge for all health and care services

•

our health, local authority, and other care services are not always joined up. They do not always meet people’s individual needs,
and they do not always balance physical health with mental health and wellbeing

•

local needs are growing and changing. Our average age and levels of sickness are all growing, and faster than in other parts of
the country

•

overall, we spend too much of our time and resources treating illnesses which can be prevented or kept under control in better
ways

•

The current health system is financially unsustainable. The local system has a total annual budget of more than £1.7billion for
NHS services, but we spend about £160million more than that each year. We need to deliver our current plans and radically
change the way we provide services. If we don’t do both of these things the deficit is projected to increase to £500million by
2020/21.The Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) proposes ways in which we can deliver the best possible care to keep
our population fit for the future, and address our service and financial challenges2.

General Practice is at a cross-road. It cannot continue in its current form and must evolve to meet the needs of both the
patients and the workforce
General practice in Cambridgeshire & Peterborough increasingly does not have a sustainable operational model. Demand is steadily
growing and primary care is struggling to manage. Increasingly complex care pathways are not consistent or readily adaptable, and
primary care services are currently ill-equipped to manage complex elderly and multi-morbid patients. The impact is being seen with a

2.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough’s Fit for the Future STP. Sourced from world wide web: http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/what-were-doing/publications/

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

6|Page

number of practices being identified as requiring support to become more resilient. We need to change the way primary care operates, to
better manage the demand and complexity coming through our doors.
General practice faces a workforce shortage. Our current workforce is ageing, and we are struggling to recruit and replace primary care
staff in many areas. We need to enable general practice to be a more attractive place for people to work and to create the employment
opportunities for new roles across the skill mix.
General practice does not have a sustainable financial model. Operational and workforce pressures are resulting in an increasing number
of financially challenged practices, including some where the salaried physicians are earning more than the practice partners, or where
practices are failing to find solutions to the impending workforce crisis.

127

Our patients’ needs and expectations are changing. Our population is ageing and experiencing more long term conditions, including
lifestyle related illnesses. Previously unaddressed needs such as mental health problems are being recognised, with a requirement to
meet them. We need to improve the ways we address issues of prevention in primary care, working with our public health and social care
colleagues. Patients with long term illnesses need and want integrated, proactive care to keep them healthy and well at home. They
value continuity of care with their primary care team. At the same time, we are seeing increased ‘health seeking behaviours’ and demand
for care, with patients looking to GPs to address health and wellbeing needs beyond those which are traditionally the scope of general
practice. We need to better manage patient expectations and usage of primary care, and focus on providing the type of care which most
improves patient health.
Patients want a seamless service experience across health and care organisations. Services are often co-located in the same buildings,
but not integrated with each other. There are barriers to information sharing and a lack of resource in both Primary Care and Community
Care. Professionals are currently unable to manage their workload to allow GPs and other primary care clinicians to focus on what they
do best. We need to work better with our STP partners in community, social, voluntary and secondary care.
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough’s GPFV strategy recognises the need to ensure the foundation of general practice is sustainable, but
also to build a strong primary care platform that will enable us to deliver on future STP ambitions.
1.3 Priorities for Action
As this strategy forms part of our system’s wider STP, the priorities for action have been aligned to its implementation. These actions also
reflect the nine ‘must do’ priorities for 2017/18 and 2018/19, as set out in the NHS operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 20172019. A high level delivery plan and risk register is attached for your information (please refer Appendix One and Appendix Two
respectively), which sets out the CCG’s work programme for the next two years. This programme will evolve and be refreshed as this
strategy is implemented and it is further aligned to the implementation plans and work programme of the STP.
GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

7|Page

2.

Model of Care

Ambition 1: Our new care model will be enabled by practices working increasingly at scale, with redesigned incentives for
better ways of working
The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough health and care system aims to work together to eliminate the perverse incentives which prevent
proactive, integrated care from being delivered to patients. The Health and Care Executive 3 want to see the behaviours of an
Accountable Care Organisation4 mirrored in the system. For general practice, this requires reorganisation and a different model of care.
There are currently three General Practice Federations within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. Collectively they cover 80 (76%)
practices and a total population of 684,500 (73%). Over the past two years, the CCG has financially supported the development of each
Federation and will continue to encourage practices to reap the benefits of working collectively, through shared back-office functions,
collective purchasing, shared workforce, and implementation of standardised best practice processes. Shared administration teams can
help manage correspondence and test results; pharmacist teams can help manage medication changes and reviews; shared business
intelligence will support case finding and proactive care delivery.

128

Funds for transformational support have been identified by the CCG, over 2017/18 and 2018/19, based on £1.50 per head per year. It is
intended that this will fund initiatives to maximise the benefits of at-scale provision including further phases of local Time to Care
Testbeds, increased support for practice reconfiguration including specialist facilitation and professional advice; and support.
Aligned with the vision of the Five Year Forward View, the type of organisational model that is starting to emerge across Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough is the Multispecialty Community Provider (MCP). One form of this is the Primary Care Home, “a model that aims to reshape the way primary care services are delivered, based on population need" (National Association of Primary Care, 2017).
Although not one of the 15 vanguard sites to take this model forward, one of the practice reconfigurations in South Cambridgeshire,
Granta Medical is currently developing its services, in partnership with other agencies, to deliver a stronger patient centred health and
well-being model of care. It is developing this model in discussion with the National Association of Primary Care and other health and
social care partners within Cambridgeshire.

3
4

Comprising the Chief Executives of the CCG, Provider Trusts, and with representatives from Peterborough City Council and Cambridgeshire County Council and general practice.
An Accountable Care Organisation is an organisation which adopts accountability for the full health needs of a population, coordinating care to improve the patient experience and population health. It
provides elements across of care across the care continuum, including primary care, and is supported by capitated payment mechanisms, patient-linked IT datasets and a culture of continuous
improvement.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

8|Page

In Peterborough, the GP Federation is currently exploring how it might transform into a multispecialty community provider. It is aspiring to
become a future vanguard and is supported by both the CCG and local NHS England team in this endeavour. It will be specifically
focussed over the next 12 to 18 months on:


stabilizing the general practice landscape, which includes supporting Time to Care development and the introduction of
pharmacists into the general practice team



understanding and defining what a MCP entity would be and what would be different to the current GP Federation model



developing the model with member practices that will provide a strong primary care platform to deliver the priorities of the STP,
which aims to:
o coordinate care better, so that it meets the needs of the individual
o pay close attention to the health and care services necessary to keep people living at home successfully, because we know
this is the best way to keep people healthy and to maintain their independence
o take every opportunity to spot warning signs and focus local support to help people live with long term health conditions.

129

o Support and encourage more joint working between local health and social care, with GPs playing a central role, supported
by hospital clinical teams; as much care as possible must be led by primary care (GPs).
o support GPs to share best practice, work together, access advice from hospital consultants and to provide the enhanced
primary and community care that our local people need.
Across the county, there are multiple sites planned for redevelopment, which provides us with an opportunity to further develop general
practice and new models of care integrated within communities.
The CCG is currently working with Cambridge University Hospital, South Cambridgeshire District Council and the Homes and Community
Agency (HCA) to develop a healthy new community over the next 20 years at Northstowe, situated five miles north of Cambridge.
Northstowe will accommodate 10,000 new homes, and aspires to include housing for an ageing population and treating more people
locally in the community, and tackling obesity through providing mixed/inclusive/walkable neighbourhoods, with good cycling and walking
connections and excellent access to facilities and open space.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

9|Page

Ambition 2: Working closely with clinicians and patients, we will redesign how care is delivered, with a particular focus on
patients in care homes, patients with multiple long-term conditions, and patients with urgent care needs.
We will design this new model of care working closely with patients and their carers. Through Patient Participation Groups, we will aim to
ensure that the new model of care meets the varying needs of our local patient population. The new models of care will incorporate STP
service plans for urgent and emergency care and clinical/integrated care pathway development, as well as seeking to empower people to
self-care.
I.

Patients in Care Homes
a. We recognise that care home patients require integrated care from GPs working together in a coordinated way with specialists and
Social Care. We will start by equipping the wider primary care team to provide specialist geriatric, end of life, and care planning in
care homes using improved links between practices and community and secondary care teams.
b. We will build a business case to inform the delivery of this plan, including changes in staff skill-mix to encourage a multidisciplinary
approach which will ensure rapid access to the right care for those most in need.
c. We will explore innovative methods of connecting general practice into care homes, including the use of technology. We will work
jointly with the councils to protect the capacity and continuity of the care currently in place.

130

d. We will continue to work to help staff in care homes improve their skills and confidence in looking after their patients and to
manage care according to their and their carers’ needs and wishes.
e. This piece of work will be owned by the Primary & Integrated Neighbourhoods Team (PCIN) group within the STP. The group will
be expected to produce a modification to the current commissioning arrangements for Enhanced Care Home Support in primary
care.
II.

Patients with multiple long term conditions
a. Across the system, the patients with the greatest need tend to be those with multi-morbidity and frailty. These patients need, and
want, an enhanced set of services provided in the community to keep them safe, healthy and at home. An enhanced primary care
service for these patients will include:


Health coaching, to help them identify their personal goals and focus their care;



Collaborative care and support planning, to organise and implement ways to address their needs and goals;

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

10 | P a g e



Proactive management of their conditions, to prevent escalation (with specific pathways for conditions including respiratory,
diabetes, dementia, mental health, chronic pain, CVD, COPD, and end of life) as well as a generalised care plan for those
with multiple morbidities;



Integration with community teams, the voluntary sector, social care services, paramedics and secondary care to support
delivery of the patient’s needs and wishes.

b. We will invest in a locally commissioned service for the enhanced care of patients with long term conditions from primary care, to
be provided over several years, to help practices identify and proactively manage the needs of these patients in a standardised
and integrated manner. This specification and required outcomes will be developed by the PCIN group within the STP, and tested
extensively with federations, emerging at-scale providers and patients.
c. The service will be implemented in a phased way, working with groups of practices for delivery and to ensure the right staff5 and
range of skill mix is in place for delivery, then supporting and monitoring them once the service is up and running.

131

d. The CCG will continue to work with our mental health provider to embed their workers into practices, improving the provision of
mental health advice and support to practices, promoting early assessment, treatment and/or onward referral. There will also be
support for patients ‘stepping down’ into primary care from secondary mental health care. We are also working to improve access
to psychological therapies (IAPT) for patients with lower level mental health problems (anxiety and depression) caused by other
long term medical conditions such as Diabetes and COPD.
e. We are already developing a Healthy Ageing strategy, with particular support to the frail elderly in prevention of falls and UTIs,
working closely with Social Care to support people in living independently at home.
f. Over the longer term, we may consider the case for an extensive care practice model. This would involve a team (including an
Advanced Nurse Practitioner, a key carer and a GP ‘extensivist’ with an interest in geriatric medicine) working with identified multimorbid patients who are deteriorating, to help stabilise them and gradually de-escalate their care needs.

5

Planning guidance: Commissioners should also have established pathways of care that integrate with community pharmacy. For example, we would expect CCGs to have considered the value provided by
a community pharmacy based minor ailments service and also the contribution to better medicines use by patients with long terms conditions – both of which are expected to have a positive impact on
patient experience and practice workload.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

11 | P a g e

III.

Patients who need urgent care
a. We will look to commission a hub-based model of urgent care provided over 7 days, including support services such as in-house
radiology, testing/diagnostic, and minor injuries. The aims for our development of local urgent care service hubs for Wisbech,
South Fenland and Ely are to:


integrate services which are currently fragmented into an easier to understand offer for patients



converge opening times



act as a focal point for the local urgent care network and link with A&Es, ambulatory care and other acute specialties



support sustainable general practice



provide a platform for improving primary care access



make most efficient use of resources



re-patriate patients from acute hospitals to local services



develop local but cost effective solutions for the rural geography.

132

b. We will support general practice to work more closely with:


Secondary Care to ensure that patients with primary care needs are redirected to a suitable service



Paramedics, to assist in redirecting 999 calls and assessing home visit request



Joint Emergency Team (JET) for patients experiencing an escalation of their planned care needs



Enhanced primary and minor injury services, as an alternative to hospital.



NHS111, within a newly developed clinical hub, to support GPs in clinical decision-making, and direction of patients to the
appropriate location.

c. The CCG will work to improve links with secondary care consultants, to provide access to specialist input for improved patient care
and referrals such as ambulatory care pathways that enable patients to be managed at home for as long as possible.
d. We will explore options for supporting patients with emergency carers in times of crisis, working with the councils in line with the
carer strategy
These actions will have the benefits of managing emergency department flow and preventing unnecessary admission to hospital.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

12 | P a g e

2.1 Key Deliverables for the First Two Years

133

Key Deliverables

Baseline position

Development of a
MCP in Greater
Peterborough

GP Federation (28 practices serving a population of 265,000) with an
ambition to become a MCP vanguard which is supported by the CCG and
local NHSE. GP Federation has been in operation since 2015

Development of a
Primary Care Home
in South
Cambridgeshire

From April 2017, Granta Medical will consist of three merged practices
servicing a population of 33,000. A fourth practice has also expressed an
interest in joining. The practice has spoken to the National Association of
Primary Care and is starting to develop a population based service model,
that includes working with local agencies that will support patient's health
and wellbeing
As part of avoiding hospital admissions programme, Care Home Educator
Support team employed by CCG during 2016 and referrals to JET Service
introduced. However, still work to be done to ensure patients and staff in
care homes are fully supported by a MDT that spans primary, community,
social and secondary care

Strengthened model
of integrated care in
Care Homes

Enhanced Care for
people with long
term conditions

Community Neighbourhood Teams (NTs) supporting practices to deliver a
model of MDT working that focuses on people with long term conditions.
This model of care is linked to social care. Trailblazer pilots were run in the
second part of 2016 with plans to roll out in 2017.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

Key Actions/Milestones
(2017/18 – 2018/19)
• Support time to care testbed programme beginning April
2017
• Bid for funding to employ pharmacists to support general
practice workload – February 2017
• Development and agreement of the MCP model with
member practices, potential partners, patients and CCG
by March 2018
• Submit proposal for wave two MCP vanguard (Date TBC)
• Continue to develop model of service delivery for local
population over the next twelve months
• Understand funding within current environment and model
what this might look like for the future STP model
• Using the framework for enhanced health in care homes,
we are working with the Urgent Care and PCIN STP
Delivery Groups to develop a LES for care homes that
strengthens integrated working for 2017/18
• Re-commission general practice LES to support new
model of care beginning 1 April 2017
• Further develop MDT model of care based on evaluation
from phase one and feedback from general practice. Trial
new model of MDT being sited in general practices in
March 2017 for Cambridge Pilot
• Further develop STP business case for a local community
service for general practice to deliver the ‘House of Care’
model by March 2017
• Continue to work on STP long term condition pathway
development for COPD, Diabetes, and Atrial Fibrillation,
supporting the business case for investment (March 2017)
and subsequent delivery for 2017/18
• Work through commissioning implications/requirements
for general practice via a locally commissioned service

13 | P a g e

Urgent Care Hub
development in
Wisbech, South
Fenland and Ely

134
Development of
Primary Care
provision in
Northstowe Healthy
New Town

3.

Three MIUs operating separately to general practice; Variable levels of
investment and infrastructure. All three currently under-utilised whilst
general practice struggles to meet demand and recruit to either partner
and/or salaried positions.
The LUCS hubs are intended to support local delivery of the GP Forward
View, with potential to address many of the 10 high impact actions, and
our local GPFV priorities, but in particular the following
a) broaden the workforce by ‘connecting the patient directly with the
most appropriate professional’ – making best use of the expertise
and capacity of the nursing and medical manpower;
b) productive workflows – ‘introduce new ways of working which
enable staff to work smarter’ – focused on local re-design of on the
day / urgent demand
c) ‘create collaborations with other practices and providers in the
health and social care system’ – the LUCS hub development work
has already catalysed joint working on an ‘at scale’ basis;
d) delivering national improved access requirements: the hubs could
offer an efficient, easy to understand way for local practices to
provide extended access
A Project Manager was appointed late last year to develop the wider plan
for Healthy New Town delivery. The CCG (working with local GPs in the
area) and the local authority have been assigned the lead in the design of
the planned community health service

• Support development and implementation of STP’s
proposed local urgent care hub pilots which includes
integration of general practice with an anticipated go live
in May 2017
• Phase 1: Spring 2017 - March 2018: Pilot three hubs
(Ely, Doddington, Wisbech) / Evaluation /
Engagement & Consultation
• Phase 2: April 2018: Commission new model of care
incorporating learning from evaluation and STP
service developments

• Continue to work with the key stakeholder delivery group
in the design plans for Northstowe HNT
• Develop a model that supports the ambitions of the STP
and GPFV strategies by March 2018

Improving Access

Ambition 3: We are required6 by NHS England to determine how we will improve access to primary care over evenings and
weekends. We will ensure this access is used to support patients with the greatest need7, aligned to the care model above.

6

National planning guidance: Funding to improve access to GP services (£6/head in PMCH areas; £3.34 in other areas). For eligibility, will require: After 6:30pm appointments, pre-bookable and same-day
(+1.5 hrs/day); Weekend appointments, pre-bookable and same day; Provide robust evidence for proposed service disposition throughout week based on utilisation rates; Provide a minimum additional 30
minutes consultation capacity/1000 population, Rising to 45 minutes/1000 population; ensure usage of a nationally commissioned new tool to be introduced during 2017/18 to automatically measure
appointment activity; ensure services are advertised to patients

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

14 | P a g e

We are mandated, through the operational planning guidance, to provide access to pre-bookable and same day routine appointments
over evenings and weekends. Given the existing capacity and workforce pressures on general practice, we recognise the need to do this
in a collective and strategic manner. We will also work closely with patients through Patient Participation Groups to develop the service in
accordance with our population needs. It should be noted that in a Healthwatch survey, the requirement for extended hours/increased
access to GP surgeries was not a key issue and therefore.
3.1 Baseline for Current Extended GP Access
In April 2015, GP practices across Greater Peterborough were given £2.6 million funding as part of the Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund
bid. This funding was for local GPs to develop and trial different ways of working within primary care to improve access and patient care;
looking at how primary care can support patients and other services at weekends; providing online access to primary care advice; and
increasing capacity within primary care.

135

Practices have been working together under the umbrella of the Greater Peterborough Network GP Federation to provide seven day
services to all patients, regardless of the surgery they are registered with. Patients can book appointments as late as 8:30pm MondayFriday, as well as on Saturday and Sunday mornings. Patients may be asked to attend a practice other than their own; however, full
access to their patient record is available to the health professional that they see.
In September 2016, the Federation were funded for an additional 12,000 appointments, to be delivered over a twelve month period and
the service has developed strengthened and expanded hub delivery to support increased integration with local urgent care pathways,
including ED streaming at weekends, and the introduction of a range of clinics utilising the wider skill mix. This reflects the direction that
the service will continue to develop in as the specification for year three is finalised.
The general practice extended hours Directed Enhanced Service that is contracted via NHS England allows payment to a maximum of
£1.90 per registered patient as at the 1st April 2016. The budget for this DES for 2016/17 was £1.77m.
In February 2017, the CCG received £517,061 non-recurrent funding to increase access to general practice to support winter system
pressure. 75 practices have signed up to provide additional capacity (33,284 additional appointments in total), over February and March.

7

NHS England’s website states, on extended access: “This might include commissioning provision of access to pre-bookable and same day appointments to general practice services in evenings (after
6:30pm) and at weekends, meeting local population needs as appropriate. This should help reduce demand on both general practice in-hours, and urgent care services.”

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

15 | P a g e

3.2 Moving Forward
Learning from and improving upon our experience in Peterborough, the CCG will commission extended hours from groups of practices or
via GP Federations across the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area. We will engage with local practices to consider whether we do
this as local systems (for instance around the main hospitals and urgent care centres) or in more discrete geographical localities (hubs),
recognising that solutions need to reflect local need and circumstances. As part of our STP programme, we are planning to pilot (subject
to approval) three local urgent care hubs in Wisbech, South Fenland, and Ely. These three sites will include extended hours access.
Over the next two years, we will explore how we can integrate NHS 111, community service teams and secondary care providers into the
extended access service model, thereby increasing the uptake by prioritising patients with the most significant needs into these
appointments. This work will dovetail into the development of our new models of care. We will review the funding for this extended
access to see how this service might reduce attendances at A&E for conditions more appropriately seen in primary or community care
and enable redirection of this resource to supplement this service.
We will work with practices to implement the national data collection associated with expansion of access, using the new (awaited)
nationally commissioned tool – mandated through operational planning guidance.
136

We will look to further trial new technologies associated with e-consultations, in order to diversify the type of support available to patients,
and in line with NHS England’s 2020 goal to support innovation in primary care. We will build on local experience of trialling online
consultations and utilise national resources to support increased availability. The work through the Time to Care testbeds and the 10 high
impact changes will help practices to reconfigure services in order to accommodate online consulting with patients. We will work with
patients to identify and maximise the benefits of online access and explore how uptake is widened. By working with practices and our
partners in health and care, patients will be made aware of the extended services through a range of communications channels. We will
consider where we site these services to make them accessible to patients.
We recognise that achieving this will be a challenge within the current workload and workforce constraints affecting general practice.
Implementation will be phased in line with national funding, with the overall aim of achieving full patient coverage by 2019/20. Investment
will start to be available outside of Greater Peterborough in 2018/19, so preparatory work will be undertaken during the next financial year
to ensure readiness. The CCG recognises the risk associated with this part of our strategy and will work with local GP federations and/or
practice groups to assess and better understand what will be required in terms of meeting the potential demand and reducing
inequalities.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

16 | P a g e

3.3 Key Deliverables for the First Two Years
Key Deliverables

Baseline position

Securing extended hours
provision for Greater
Peterborough for 2017/18
and beyond

Practices working together under the umbrella of the
Greater Peterborough Network GP Federation provide
seven day services to all patients, regardless of the surgery
they are registered with. Patients can book appointments as
late as 8:30pm Monday-Friday, as well as on Saturday and
Sunday mornings.

137

Extended hours DES contracted with practices but
Assessment of demand for increased demand for both general practice and A&E
services.
extended access across
remainder of CCG
Increased access provided during February and March to
footprint and how this
might be provided to meet support winter pressure on acute services.
NHSE requirements

Procurement of extended
access for 2018/19 and
2019/20

4.

Key Actions/Milestones
(2017/18 – 2018/19)
• Secure continued provision from 1 April 2017
including further development (over the next twelve
months) of central hub to support increased
access/utilisation, and supporting local A&E with
minors with current access provider, as well as
increasing integration with other providers, such as
NHS111/OOHs
• Undertake an assessment of demand for extended
access outside the Greater Peterborough
catchment by September 2017
• Develop with general practice and patients a
sustainable model and implementation plan to
extend and improve access in line with
requirements for national funding, acknowledging
the potential implications for Out of Hours provision
November 2017
• Engage with key stakeholders on proposed model
January 2018
• Agree implementation and procurement process to
extend access for the total population with NHSE
local team

Workforce

Ambition 4: Our workforce programme’s ambition is to support our primary care staff in working safely, through recruitment
and retention, leadership development and capacity creation.
The GPFV sets ambitious workforce aspirations to address the gaps and issues relating to both the aging workforce, and increased
demand and complexity of workload. As well as aiming to recruit GPs, the GPFV also supports the development of new roles in General
Practice to improve skill mix and to maximise the GP resource available. The development of a local strategy will combine the
requirements of the national GPFV and the context of the local STP to set a sustainable direction for general practice in Cambridgeshire
GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

17 | P a g e

and Peterborough. Solutions that see greater integration between practices and across health care providers will result in new roles and
utilisation of the primary care workforce. The emphasis will be on creating efficient ways of working and directing clinical staff to clinical
functions and away from administration and bureaucracy.
.
4.1 Workforce Profile
The General Practice workforce profile across Cambridge and Peterborough is varied. The following table (from the latest National
Workforce Minimum Data Sets) sets out the estimated workforce profile as at March 2016.

138
GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

18 | P a g e

Whilst 20% of the CCG’s General Practitioners (GPs) are over the age of 54 years, Cambridgeshire has a relatively younger GP profile
with only 18% of GPs over the age of 54 years; however, in Peterborough this rises to 25%, higher than the national England average
(21%).
Across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough the age profile for GPs under the age of 35 years (13%) is well below the national average
(18%), with the lowest in the county being in Peterborough at just 6%.
Approximately a third of general practice nurses in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough are aged over 54 years, again an outlier. General
Practice Nurses in Peterborough represent 0.9 whole time equivalent (WTE) for every one WTE GP; higher than the national England
average ratio of 0.5:1. There is also a high ratio of advanced, extended and specialist nurses in Peterborough. This suggests that nurses
are working to their full potential and supporting GPs with more complex patients. This provides career opportunities for general practice
nurses moving into the system, and goes some way to help with the current issue of GP vacancies. However, with 32% of general
practice nurses aged over the age of 54 years, the area faces a serious gap in clinical expertise

139

The challenges facing general practice are widely reported. Practices across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough are not immune to these
pressures. Perceived and actual pressures in general practice are a deterrent to recruitment. Local management to support new care
models and implementation of the aspirations of the GPFV are key to addressing these service delivery and small business pressures.
4.2 PC Workforce Development 2015-2017
Working in collaboration with the wider system we implemented a primary care workforce development programme, commencing in 2015
to address some of the pressing workforce issues in general practice. To date the following outcomes have been achieved:


123 apprenticeship starts across primary care. The majority of which have been in general practice and clinically focused.



13 Health Care Assistants undertaking the foundation degree in nursing with the local university



A local designed programme, delivered to three cohorts delivered, provided an opportunity to upskill health care assistants
enhancing their clinical competence



Increasing pre-registration nursing placements from 5% to 20% of our GP Practices



Significant increase in the numbers of Practice Nurses accessing CPD funding



19 practice nurses have commenced an advanced nursing practice masters



Development of a range of media materials to promote careers pathways for general practice nursing. This included a promotional
GP Practice Nurse video, which was adopted nationally by HEE

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

19 | P a g e



Recruitment of eight post CCT GP Fellows, supported two of our provider trusts offering opportunities for integrated working
across primary and secondary care



Three CEPN’s have been established delivering arrange of KPI’s, linked to the GPFV.

The programme received recognition by the Health Service Journal by being shortlisted for its work in the 2016 HSJ Value in Healthcare
Awards.
4.3 General Practice Workforce Plan 2017-2020
Building on the success of the workforce development programme, a workforce plan to 2020, is currently being developed which links to
the vision of the GPFV and our local STP. This will be finalised over the next three months. This plan includes the following key themes
and actions.
Theme One: Improving supply and retention
Developing portfolio careers which meet the expectation of our current and future clinical workforce.



Promoting Cambridgeshire and Peterborough as an area - offers attractive job opportunities in General Practice to attract new
talent. This will include working with other health partners, to provide content for the addition of a healthcare sector as part of a
Peterborough Social Media network, encouraging people to choose the city as a place to live and work, our most challenged
recruitment area.



Retention of organisational knowledge by offering new role opportunities for retiring GP and Practices Nurses in education,
mentoring and commission roles.



Growing our own. We will continue to develop a range of apprenticeships career pathways which will enhance clinical
competency, and support those who wish to step onto a registrant pathway. We will continue to support non-clinical
apprenticeships.



Increase the capacity of our mentors and educators.

140



Theme Two: New role development


Development of a reception care navigator programme to up-skill general practice receptionists to navigate and signpost patients
through the system.



Medical Assistants Role - Working collaboratively with our local HEE to develop options for the design and implementation of this
role, linked to the apprenticeship standards.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

20 | P a g e



Support practices to participate in the clinical pharmacists programme. In addition to this, we will continue to promote pharmacy
roles in general practice to pre-registration students by expanding pre-registration placement capacity.



Expand the number of physician associates working in primary care.

Theme Three: Scaling up new ways of working and up-skilling

141



To continue to support Primary Care at scale, which will include:
o Federations
 CEPN’s
o Practice Mergers – consideration being given to centralisation of back office functions.
o Test-bed programme, a quality improvement programme looking at :
 Phase 1 – Understanding the current state
 Phase 2 – Creating capacity for patient care
 Phase 3 - Implementing an integrated, proactive model of care for patients with LTCs
 Phase 4 - Implementing/improving community support for acute illness in children and adults
o New contracting models i.e MCP and, Primary Care Home



Linking to our STP programme, co-design new models of care, which encourage the expansion of multi-disciplinary teams. This
will require reviewing our skill mix to ensure our workforce is working to their fullest potential, including Mental Health practitioners.
We will be working closely with practice nurses to support enhancement of roles and development of a training strategy.

Theme Four: Leadership development
Working with our Federations and CEPN’s, we will develop a collaborative leadership culture which fosters the right values and
behaviours of our workforce, across four domains:
1. Individual effectiveness
2. Innovation and improvement
3. Relationships and connectivity
4. Learning and capacity building
Our CEPN’s will be instrumental in leading the development of a workforce fit for the future.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

21 | P a g e

4.4 Key Deliverables for the First Two Years

142

Key Deliverables

Baseline position

Improved supply and
retention of primary care
workforce

Variable workforce with differences between Peterborough
and Cambridgeshire. Recruiting to Peterborough is
particularly challenging and therefore high use of locum staff.
Losing organisational/professional knowledge and experience
as GPs and Practice Nurses are retiring.
123 apprenticeships started since 2015
13 HCA undertaking foundation degree in nursing

New roles developed
and/or expanded:
Care Navigators
Medical Assistants (MA)
Pharmacist
Physician Associates

Workforce challenges across all practices with increasing
workload and limited capacity to support patients that have
more complex health and social care issues.
Social prescribing pilots still to be implemented.
Only eight Pharmacists are employed within practices
No physician associates but supported two placements in
2016 from Essex cohort

Primary Care workforce is
aligned to new models of
care working to its full
potential

Separation between general practice and community
services’ neighbourhood teams with MDT working. Limited
integration with secondary care services
A PRISM pilot has been running in six GP surgeries in
Huntingdon since August 2016. The service will be rolled out
to GP practices across the county in 2017

Strong primary care
leadership across
Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

Current investment in formal leadership training includes
 Lead. Manage. Thrive (Red Whale) - four negotiated
places Nov 2016
 Chief Resident Clinical Leadership & Management
Development Programme - six places 2015-16 and
three places 2016-17

Key Actions/Milestones
(2017/18 – 2018/19)
• Continue to develop a range of apprenticeships and support
those who wish to step onto a registrant pathway
• Undertake a recruitment campaign that utilises a range of
media to encourage people to choose Peterborough as a
place to live and work beginning June 2017
• Development of portfolio careers for workforce that meets
future expectations and aligned to STP plans
• Developing new role opportunities for retiring GP and
practice nurses in education, mentoring and commissioning
• Develop local reception care navigator programme by June
2017
• Work with local HHE to develop options for design and
implementation of MA role , potentially linked to the
apprenticeship standards
• Support practices/GP Federations to participate in the
clinical pharmacists programme and continue to promote
pharmacy roles to pre-registration students
• Facilitate further Physician Associates placements where
required
• Work with/commission Federations (CEPNs) to support the
development of the workforce for new models of care that
are starting to emerge in Peterborough and South
Cambridgeshire
• Link with wider STP workforce development plan
• Review skill-mix to ensure all staff are working to their full
scope of practice, including strategy for practice nurses
• MH PRISM model implemented
• Continue to support and increase places for formal
leadership training
• Work with GP Federations and CEPNs to support the
development of a collaborative leadership model that
supports system working and implementation of STP

22 | P a g e

5.

Workload

Ambition 5: We will begin by supporting the creation of capacity in primary care, finding strength and resilience by enabling
practices to adopt proven methods of addressing workload challenges, and through working together more effectively. The
CCG will re-prioritise its staffing to provide significant additional support to general practice from early 2017.
As stated in the foreword to this strategy, general practice is at a cross-road. Demand is steadily growing and primary care services are
currently ill-equipped to manage complex elderly and multi-morbid patients. The impact is being seen with a number of practices being
identified as requiring support to become more resilient. We need to change the way general practice operates, to better manage the
demand and complexity coming through our doors.
5.1 Reducing administrative burden created externally
We will work to address immediate pressures by enabling practices to implement the opportunities identified in the GPFV, including
reducing administration and bureaucracy, and improving links with secondary care and community care (e.g. linking GPs and secondary
care consultants; improving turnaround times for discharge letters; standardising pro-formas and integrating with GP computer systems).
143

This will be done through national contract requirements with hospital and community Trusts, and also by working with practices and GP
Federations.
The CCG will support federations and groups of practices working together to create business cases to improve operational practice.
This will include mechanisms for improved demand management, and better use of other staff groups, including mental health workers,
pharmacists, physiotherapists, social workers, benefit advisors, carer support teams, and alcohol and drugs teams. A range of specialist
secondary care consultants will see patients in primary care settings as part of the wider local team, without any formal referral pathways,
enabling us to transform our planned care referrals so that only those who need to go to hospitals will be sent there. This will support
GPs in continuing to work to the top of their license and increase the skills and mix of staff working in primary care, improving job
satisfaction and morale.
There are a number of demand management initiatives that are currently being implemented within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
that will help reduce the administrative burden of managing referrals. Consultant virtual triage and assessment services within Acute
Trusts will help streamline the referral process, by providing advice and guidance if applicable, referring directly for a scan if required,
and/or booking the patient into the most appropriate clinic. Where this model of referral triage has been in place, it has been well received
by GPs across the county and is therefore being rolled out to other specialities. In addition, the CCG is looking at a more direct advice
and guidance model, such as Consultant Connect to support GPs with more ‘urgent’ patients.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

23 | P a g e

The CCG is also working with practices to develop clinical support tools/processes that will support and simplify the referral management
process for GP providers, by utilising current practice information systems and electronic documentation wherever possible and
minimising the workload of general practice keeping relevant CCG information up to date, by centralising this functionality.
5.2 Supporting GP Resilience
Across the country, general practice is under pressure. This is no different for Cambridgeshire & Peterborough with a number of practices
being identified as requiring support to become more resilient. The CCG will continue to work with NHS England to support vulnerable
practices to develop a clinically sustainable model of care, and support practices to come together in innovative ways to alleviate the
challenges they face. 10 local practices have recently been successful in their bids for resilience support for 2016/17. The total value of
this support is £145,381.
5.3 Time to Care & GP Development
The CCG will be running a local programme to release capacity (Time to Care 8testbeds), focusing on the implementation of the 10 high
impact actions. This programme will be run through the STP, under the governance of the local Area Executive Partnerships (AEPs).
Additionally, the CCG will work with NHS England on the national programme for releasing capacity in General Practice.
144

By working across groups of practices in local areas, providing time, facilitation and shared learning, the Time to Care testbeds will seek
to strengthen primary care resilience and improve local relationships within primary care and across the interfaces with community and
acute services. Each testbed will work through five phases, running for approximately 12 months in total, with the most intensive support
provided in the first four to six months.
The programme includes five phases and is outlined as follows:
Phase 1 (approx. 6 weeks) - Understanding the current state - Develop a deep understanding of the current state, challenges, vision
and local population in testbed areas
Phase 2 (approx. 4 months) - Creating capacity for patient care - Create capacity in general practice through changes in operational
practices, using quality improvement methodologies, as well as improving integration and standardization of care across Cambridgeshire
& Peterborough.

8

Planning guidance: CCGs should have clear plans for how they will support the planning and delivery of a local Time for Care development programme, to implement member practices’ choice of the 10
High Impact Actions.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

24 | P a g e

Phase 3 (approx. 4 months) - Implementing an integrated, proactive model of care for patients with Long Term Conditions (LTC)
– Build on current MDT model to actively support patients with LTC and create capacity for GPs by redirecting appropriate LTC visits into
community and social care teams
Phase 4 (approx. 6 weeks) - Implementing/improving community support for acute illness in children and adults - Improve
primary and community based capacity for minor acuity
Phase 5 (ongoing) - Scaling effective interventions across the system in a localised, step-wise manner
The first three Time to Care testbeds will commence in February 2017, with further testbeds commencing in phases throughout 2017/18.
Funds identified by the CCG for Practice Transformational Support (refer below to Section 7: Investment) will be used to resource the
testbeds and enable the practices, working in groups, to source quality improvement support, specialist facilitation and professional
advice associated with reconfiguration and implementation of aspects of the new care model.
145

In addition, the CCG will make a bid for General Practice Forward View Development Fund resources to link the specialist teams sourced
nationally to the groups of practices in testbeds in creating capacity, improving systems and reducing variation.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

25 | P a g e

5.4 Key Deliverables for the Next Two Years
Key Deliverables

Baseline position

Implementation and
monitoring of national
contract requirements
CCG/STP demand
management
programme

All 2017 – 2019 Trust contracts negotiated as
agreed as per national contract requirements
(December 2016)
Increasing demand for elective care with
multiple drivers for why GPs refer, including
multiple pathways, providers and clinical
threshold policies. In addition, GPs need to
manage patient expectation and increasing
risk of litigation
Referral management processes and proformas are not streamlined

146
GP Resilience

Time to Care Testbed
Programme

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

Some practices already identified as requiring
support to become more resilient as they
struggle to meet increased demand and to
deliver quality services to their registered
population due to workforce challenges
10 practices successful in their bids to secure
national resilience funding support in 2016/17
Expressions of Interest process completed
with three groups selected as pilot sites

Key Actions/Milestones
(2017/18 – 2018/19)
• Hospital interface requirements will be monitored monthly to ensure
delivery and appropriate contract mechanisms used where necessary
• Monitoring via practices to ensure compliance quarterly
• We will develop consultant virtual triage and assessment services
within Acute Trusts. Significant work has happened in the STP around
introduction of CASs where A&G is the default choice in providers. Two
main phases for Go Live - February for April and July increases in
specialties with CASs. The first phase focuses on CAS's for the 4 main
specialties of the STP - Cardiology, MSK, ENT and Cardiology. The
second phase is for acute providers and the CCG to look to clinical
specialties or specialties where there are capacity pressures to launch
new CASs to reduce demand for FAOP. This second phase is phased
for Q2 2017
• We are currently implementing a project that will develop clinical
support tools/processes to support and simplify the referral
management process for GP providers, with an aim to have this in
place by September 2017. This project involves actively working with
practices to ensure that the tool/processes are effective in supporting
their decisions and directing patients to the right place, at the right time
• Continue to work with NHS England to support vulnerable practices to
develop a clinically sustainable model of care
• Run Time to Care testbed programme supporting practices with
implementing relevant high impact actions
• Continue to support practices as required, especially those who are
rated inadequate by CQC and/or are in special measures
• Support Federations and practice groups(via the GPFV transformation
fund) in their development of new models of care and workforce
• Implement Time to Care programme with successful testbeds
beginning April 2017
• Evaluate programme using a PDSA approach that will inform the
success or otherwise of this programme (learn as we go)
• Use evaluation to determine how the CCG can continue to support
practices and enable them to free up time with an aim to deliver an
enhanced service for people with LTC
26 | P a g e

6.

Infrastructure

Ambition 6: Our strategy will be enabled by ambitious digital and estates strategies. We wish to maximise the benefits of
modern information technology, and to develop a clear approach to premises investment linked to the service and provider
developments above.
As stated, in guidance provided by the local NHS England team, successful delivery of the GPFV is reliant on having the right
infrastructure in place to make the changes that will transform care and keep services sustainable. Our local digital roadmap and estates
strategy will therefore enable Cambridgeshire and Peterborough to deliver on the seven ambitions outlined within this strategy for general
practice.
6.1 Local Digital Roadmap
Our Local Digital Roadmap describes our digital strategy for Cambridgeshire & Peterborough. It is under-pinned by four key ambitions.

147

1. Paper-free at the point of care (PF@POC) - health and social care staff will be able to access patient and citizen data
electronically wherever they or the patient or citizen are.
2. Digitally enabled self-care - patients and citizens will be able to interact electronically with health and social care providers
about their own health and care. This can include patient apps.
3. Real time analytics at the point of care - the clinical system used by the clinical staff will have the ability to provide real time
analysis of the data about the patient and citizens across the health and social care systems including patient/citizen provided
data.
4. Whole systems intelligence to support population health management and effective commissioning, clinical
surveillance and research – providing access to pseudonymised data for analysis across the whole footprint.
In relation to general practice, technology changes, information exchange and new digital services have already been deployed to
support the delivery of primary care at scale. These developments will continue to be supported as we further develop new models of
care.
Digital plans over the next four years for general practice will continue to focus on:


improvement of patient access to PatientOnline, in order to book GP appointments, order repeat prescriptions, view results and
view clinical letters

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

27 | P a g e



implementation of practice wi-fi and replacement of N3 network



online practice consultation software systems – we will participate in the national programme through the General Practice
Forward View to maximise opportunities for providing consultations online. Many practices across the CCG are already
incorporating e-consulting into their range of appointment options – we will seek to ensure that this is a consistent offer to patients
and a viable alternative for general practice teams who wish to develop this further.

Provision and use of services digitally to patients within Primary Care tends to be higher than the national average. For example,
approximately 20% active patients are using Patient Online services. Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CCG is actively working with
NHSE Digital to meet the national requirements and timeframes for delivery.
6.2 Estates Management
In recent years, with the organisational changes that have occurred, it has become less clear where the responsibility lies to plan and
develop primary care building infrastructure for the future. There is a perception that the current estate is not flexible enough to cope with
either the new growth anticipated and/or new models of care, which will see increased provision of care in the community, greater
integration and co-location of providers and an evolution of primary care based ‘hubs’.
148

Our emerging system estates strategy recognises the need to maximise usage within the existing portfolio and to seek solutions which
integrate service provision. There is a need to balance the opportunity of ‘hubs’ with the on-going need for local delivery, close to
patients. Development, for example, of the combined general practice/urgent care (MIU) hub model of care currently being considered as
part of our STP may mean a reconfiguration of the current estate.
Where new growth projections mean that existing estate cannot meet the needs, development of premises will need to be designed with
new models of primary and community care delivery in mind rather than based on traditional approaches to service provision. Links with
local planners and developers ensure that maximum contributions from housing developers are achieved to invest into premises
expansions.
6.3 Estates and Technology Transformation Fund
Investment secured through the Estates and Technology Transformation plan is being progressed to support the sustainability of general
practice through investment to:


support more flexible ways of working



increase the physical capacity across a range of sites to accommodate population growth, support services integration and atscale ways of working.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

28 | P a g e

The investment detail is outlined below in Section 7.3.1. It should be noted, however, that the current level of investment was secured
prior to the development of this strategy (and the wider STP strategy for estates) and therefore may potentially need to be re-aligned. In
addition future revenue needs to be quantified and approved.
6.4 Key Deliverables for the First Two Years
Key Deliverables

Baseline position

Improvement of
patient access to
PatientOnline

Across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, approximately 20% active
patients are using Patient Online services

149

Implementation of
wi-fi in all General
Practices

Increase on-line
consultations

ETTFimplementation of
planned initiatives

Support for the
development of the
STP Estates
Strategy

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

The national target for 2017/18 is that there will be a minimum 20% of
patients registered for online services at each GP Practice. As at
December 2016, 54 practices had already achieved this target
It is anticipated that wi-fi will have been installed in 37 sites by March
2017. Funding to support this initiative was secured via the 2016/17
bid for ETTF. Future funding for further implementation is still to be
confirmed, with a national completion target, however, of December
2017
On-line consultations were included in Greater Peterborough’s
Extended Access bid to the Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund, with 13
practices piloting a service model for delivery. There are lessons to be
learned from this pilot that we need to take forward
Further clarity is required to understand what we mean by this type of
consultation (clarity of definition) and therefore how it could/should be
delivered to meet and/or manage key stakeholder expectations
ETTF funding for 2016/17 of £1.75m has enabled development of
practice facilities/ IT initiatives, which are due for completion by March.
Additional estates funding (£3.35m)has been identified with a planned
trajectory over the next three years through to 2019/2020, however,
funding for IT development has yet to be agreed going forward
Our emerging system estates strategy recognises the need to
maximise usage within the existing portfolio and to seek solutions
which integrate service provision. There is a need to balance the
opportunity of ‘hubs’ with the on-going need for local delivery

Key Actions/Milestones
(2017/18 – 2018/19)
• Continue to support and enable practices to meet the
national requirement of 20% by March 2018 by sharing
the learning and providing strategies for improving
uptake
• Continue to work with NHS England to confirm funding
and specification requirements and resources to
achieve the national target for implementation for all
practices by December 2017
• Develop and agree proposal for commissioning on-line
consultation software system, including roll-out plan.
• Include this consideration within the Time to Care
testbed programme for those practices participating in
the first three pilot sites, using the learning from
Greater Peterborough
• Incorporate this within plans for extending access
across all practices
• Deliver implementation of estates development cohorts
two and three as planned 2017/18 and 2018/19
• Work with key stakeholders to continually assess
programme in line with wider system plans as these
develop under STP transformation programme
• Review of all local estates by STP Area to help inform
system wide strategy, which is planned for completion
on 31 March 2018

29 | P a g e

7.

Investment

The case for change and associated ambitions to deliver the transformation of general practice in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
requires significant investment. This investment includes current CCG baseline funding, GPFV transformation fund and funding provided
via NHSE and HHE. Our assumption is that we are meeting minimum required levels of spend; however, further work will be required
over the next year to fully understand the required investment as we implement this strategy and the STP programme moving forward.
7.1 Transformational Support
The Transformational Support Fund of £3 per head for 2017/18 and 2018/19 will be equally allocated over the next two years. This
equates to approximately £1.4m each year. This investment, however, is indicative at this stage and will require CCG approval with key
performance indicators/success measures, as set out in the Delivery Plan, monitored by the Primary Care team.
As we implement our plan for 2017/18, we will flex our budget, as required, to reflect the level of development achieved and/or need for a
greater level of investment upfront to achieve success.

150

Area of Investment
Primary care at scale - Supporting the development of new models of
care and preparing practices outside the Greater Peterborough for
increasing access
Workforce – supporting CEPNs and delivering the workforce plan
Workload – Time to Care testbeds and supporting referral management
Contingency - To support other general practice management, pathway
development and programme administration if required
Estimated Total Funding

Investment 2017/18 (£)
933,762

Investment 2018/19 (£)
756,412

115,000
200,000
149,238

115,000
150,000
376,588

1,398,000

1,398,000

Note that the investment allocated for 2018/19 reflects the following:
•

continued investment for LUCHs and PCH/MCP acceleration, but also to support other emerging models of care as they develop
for those practices not involved with current LUCHs, PCH or MCP initiatives

•

reduced investment for extended access preparation, practice mergers

•

on-going investment in testbeds and CEPNs to support development of models of care and integrated pathways

•

on-going resource to support the workforce plan.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

30 | P a g e

•

increased centrally held resource to be allocated to supporting implementation of STP ambitions regarding LTCs and integrated
workforce.

7.2 Ring-Fenced Devolved Funding
Funding has been devolved locally and ring-fenced over the next two years for:
i.
on-line consultations
ii.
training of care navigators and medical assistants
iii.
extending access for all practices
The total level of funding will be £5,913,579. This is set out in the following table
Initiative

2017/18 Funding
(£)
242,474

2018/19 Funding
(£)
323,921

161,649

161,960

Extended Access

1,401,692

3,621,883

Total Funding

1,805,815

4,107,764

On-line Consultations

151
Training Care Navigators
& Medical Assistants

Plan for Delivery
Develop and agree proposal for commissioning on-line consultation
software system, including roll-out plan. This plan will build on current
practice development that has occurred in Greater Peterborough as part
of the extended access programme and new model of care development
within practices.
Develop and commission a local rolling care navigator training
programme delivered at scale and available to reception and
administration staff within each C&PCCG member practice.
We will work with local HHE and practices to develop options for design
and implementation of the Medical Assistant role.
Funding for 2017/18 will be used to commission extended access in
Greater Peterborough. From 1 April 2018/19 the CCG will commission
extended access across the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough STP
footprint. Over the next year, we will work with GP Federations and
practice groups in preparation, beginning with local urgent care pilot sites
in the Fenland area and successful Time to Care testbed practices.

7.3 Other Investment
Other investment that is available to support the delivery of this GPFV strategy includes the following initiatives. Some of this funding
covers multiple years, beginning this financial year 2016/17.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

31 | P a g e

In submitting and supporting bids for the ETTF, the CCG undertook a due diligence process to ensure planned initiatives were
achievable, however, it will be mitigating any residual revenue impact risk as part of the STP’s digital roadmap and estates strategy.
Initiative
GP Resilience
Programme
ETTF

Total Funding (£)
145,381
(2016/17)
5,188,276
(2016/17 – 2019/20)

GP Trainees (HEE)

TBC

Practice based MH
therapists

TBC

Plan for Delivery
10 practices recently successful in their bids for resilience support this year. The CCG will continue
to support practices requesting resilience funding.
Total funding over three cohorts to be delivered over four years, based on bids from practices and
the CCG submitted in 2016. Excludes funding for IT initiatives that were in original submission for
2017/18 and 2018/19, which now have to be bid for separately
In addition to supporting Health Education England’s GP trainee programme, workforce plans
include aims to strengthen recruitment and retention.
PRISM is a new primary care service for mental health and run by Cambridgeshire & Peterborough
Foundation Trust. The service puts specialist mental health staff in GP surgeries so that patients
with moderate to high mental health conditions can be seen there and then. PRISM staff are also
there to provide GP practice staff with specialist mental health advice on patient care.

7.4 Delegated Commissioning
152

Ambition 7: If we take on delegated commissioning in 2017, we will focus on ensuring a smooth transition of responsibilities,
and work to improve contract administration and responsive contractual decision-making
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG has applied to take on delegated commissioning responsibilities from NHS England beginning in
April 2017.
Our first task in the period before this transition is to exert pressure on the organisations to ensure the appropriate systems are in place
to make timely payments for contracted work already being undertaken (whether commissioned by the CCG or by NHS England). We will
also address pressing local commissioning issues. We want to get the basics right, reduce irrelevant clinical and administrative activity in
primary care to take pressure off practices by asking them to collect and report only those measures that improve outcomes for patients.
We will continue to address quality and service variation, and are presently developing a practice-level outcomes dashboard to inform
efforts to standardise patients’ experience for the whole population.
In the event that the CCG does not take on delegated commissioning, we will work with NHS England to support a reduction in
bureaucracy and improved administration. We will continue to work on understanding the reasons for variations in general practice
(particularly on quality, referrals and prescribing), and work on reducing any unwarranted differences.

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

32 | P a g e

8.

Governance and Programme Management

8.1 Governance
The governance structure required to support and enable the successful delivery of this strategy sits within the STP for Cambridgeshire &
Peterborough. Three Area Executive Partnerships for Greater Peterborough, Huntingdon and the Fens, and Cambridge and Ely, are
responsible for ensuring implementation of projects (including savings realisation) where a common design needs to be tailored locally.
The projects supervised include a mix of proactive care (e.g. integrated neighbourhoods) and reactive care (e.g. in-hospital flow,
attendance avoidance).

153

The STP has established eight delivery groups covering UEC, elective, primary care and integrated neighbourhoods, women and
children, workforce and organisational development, digital, shared service, and system delivery. These groups are responsible for
ensuring implementation, including benefits realisation, designing projects and delivering projects (where implementation needs to
happen consistently across our footprint). Delivery groups are also tasked with horizon scanning to identify future opportunities that
support system sustainability. In addition, there are three cross-cutting strategy groups for Sustainable General Practice, Mental Health,
and Ageing Well. These groups are responsible for steering/quality assuring projects that span multiple delivery groups and, in particular,
implementing the GP Forward View, mental health strategy, and aspects of BCF implementation. These groups may develop business
plans for future savings and investments that pertain to more than one project group, across multiple delivery groups.
These groups are structured as follows:

GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

33 | P a g e

8.2 Programme Management
The CCG has recently restructured and created a new Primary & Planned Care Directorate. The primary care team within this Directorate
will be responsible for implementation/programme management of this strategy. Please refer to the Delivery Plan and Risk Register
attached. A Prince light project management methodology has been adopted by the CCG, using a web-based tool (WAVE) to ensure
robust programme management is in place.
8.2.1 Stakeholder Engagement
As this strategy evolves and we progress development of new models of care, we will continue to engage with key stakeholders,
including C&PCCG general practice members, patients, GP Federations, the Local Medical Committee (LMC), our local Sustainability
Transformation Programme (STP) clinical working groups, as well as external partners such as Social Care and HealthWatch.
Healthwatch Cambridgeshire has specifically made comments on this draft plan during its development and will continue to support
further development and engagement, as Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s GPFV strategy evolves.

154

“We welcome the strategic approach and the investment to build a strong platform for primary care across the whole area. It is good
that elements of the support described in the plan are available to all practices, as well as the opportunities to move quickly with those
that are leading change.
These investments, although falling short of the overall population growth for the area, are vital to lay the basis for ambitions described
in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Health and Care System Sustainability and Transformation Plan (October 2016).
Healthwatch supports the STP vision to shape care around the patient and the community, and to support them in their home and
neighbourhood where it’s safe and effective to do so. We know that empowered individuals, families and carers, can be enabled to
make even greater contributions to their care and well-being. This strategy and its delivery plan should show more powerfully that local
people are indeed part of the solution to the ambitious transformation that is required for a hard-pressed workforce, with their partner
organisations, to adapt and provide joined-up care for all in the coming years.
It is Healthwatch Cambridgeshire's view that:
 this strategy should be available to the public in formats they can understand and respond to about ideas and concerns
 should support hard-pressed GPs to find space to respond and develop solutions that work for them and their communities.
More detail on existing examples of practice and models of care that support the integration of care for patients should be
shared and learnt from
 the necessary cultural shift, training and funding to support shared decision-making with patients and self-care should be
acknowledged more clearly
GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

34 | P a g e




a communications plan and public engagement strategy should support ongoing exploration of issues such as the public
understanding of different roles in primary care, and the potential impacts on help-seeking behaviour
the delivery plan and risk register should reflect and be regularly updated on issues arising from patient and public
engagement.

Healthwatch Cambridgeshire will support communications to the public about developments for general practice and in primary
care. We will spread our learning from working in detail with practices on how to develop their Practice Participation Groups to
reach their full potential”.
The CCG believes in the patient voice and fully commits to engage further with both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Healthwatch, but
also directly with patients and actively involve them, as we further develop and implement this GPFV strategy.
This strategy will be included in the public STP engagement plan, and it should be noted that engagement for plans to pilot local urgent
care hubs in Wisbech, South Fenland and Ely has already occurred and will continue as the model develops over the next 12 months.
155
GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

35 | P a g e

9.

Appendices

9.1 Appendix One: Delivery Plan
9.2 Appendix Two: Risk Register

156
GPFV Draft Strategy V16.3

36 | P a g e

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 8

6 NOVEMBER 2017

PUBLIC REPORT

Report of:

North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust

Contact Officer(s):

Stephen Graves, Chief Executive Officer

Tel. 01733 677933

UPDATE ON THE HINCHINGBROOKE HEALTH CARE NHS TRUST AND
PETERBOROUGH AND STAMFORD HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
MERGER
RECOMMENDATIONS
FROM: North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust

Deadline date: STP contribution

It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee:
1. Note the progress with the formation of North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust
2. Note those services identified during the merger as fragile and needing support
3. Support resolution of these services for the local population

1.

ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1

This report is submitted to the Committee following their request for an update on the merger.

2.

PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1

The purpose of this report is to brief the Committee on
(a)

the outcome of the merger and current responsibilities;

(b)

key issues identified in the approved business case for the merger in terms of services and
supporting requirements;

(c)

current key operational issues.

2.2

This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3,
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council
- Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

3.

TIMESCALES
Is this a Major Policy
Item/Statutory Plan?

4.

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1

Merger Outcome

NO

If yes, date for
Cabinet meeting

As the Committee will be aware following consultation on the business case to merge
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust and Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS

157

Foundation Trust, formal approval was granted and the North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust
was formed on the 1 April 2017.
Due to Hinchingbrooke’s status as an NHS Trust, the merger took the form of an acquisition and
all staff from Hinchingbrooke were transferred to the new organisation to join those from
Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals.
The Board of Directors including two of the four non-executive directors from Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust has been formed with monthly public meetings in place. These rotate
across the trust’s thee main sites (Peterborough, Hinchingbrooke and Stamford).
Elections to the Council of Governors were held prior to the merger and has membership to
represent the areas of Peterborough, Huntingdon and Stamford as well as the three sites above.
Due to the resignation from a Huntingdonshire public governor, an election process to ensure
that this does not remain vacant is underway.
Corporate service structures were consulted on with affected staff prior to the merger, with these
structures in place on 1 April 2017. There are plans to achieve £9m savings from the back office
functions of which £4m have been achieved. Whilst 81 posts have been removed, only 14
redundancies have occurred to date.
The structures for the clinical services were delayed to ensure that these could be safely
managed. Three new clinical divisions came into operation on 3 July 2017 replacing the 2
divisions at Hinchingbrooke and the 4 clinical directorates at Peterborough and Stamford.
Appointments were made to the Divisional Director, Divisional General Manager and Divisional
Head of Nursing for each division – Emergency & Medicine; Surgery; Family and integrated
Support Services.
The importance of strong clinical leadership has also been recognised with Dr Suzanne Hamilton
appointed as Deputy Medical Director and Mr Mike Lumb appointed to the role of Chief Clinical
Information Officer – which will help ensure our IT developments continue to support our clinicians
in their roles. In addition, two associate medical directors have been appointed – one to oversee
clinical effectiveness and the other to focus on Human Factors, which is a ground breaking role
that will study patient safety and quality improvements. Dr Rege (Medical Director) has also asked
a number of consultants to expand their existing roles to take on responsibility, part-time, as leads
for trauma, organ donation, education and medical appraisals. Finally, Professor Rupert Bourne
, a consultant ophthalmologist at Hinchingbrooke Hospital, has been appointed to the new role of
Research and Development Director.
These structures are shown in the attached annex 1.
This initial work is the start of the merger process – there is an Implementation Board with
representation from NHS Improvement and the local CCG to ensure that delivery against the
following workstream continues:
 clinical integration
 organisation integration
 estates
 ICT
 finance
These are addressed below.
4.2

Clinical integration
Services are being maintained on the sites as they were prior to the merger; however work is
being undertaken to ensure that the clinical teams across the Trust work to the same pathways
and adopt best practice. We are now in the process of enhancing clinical leadership so that there
will be a single cross-site structure in place by December. The Trust is developing a clinical
service strategy for the new, larger Trust, with specific attention being given to the six priority

158

services that were identified in the Full Business Case:
- stroke
- emergency department
- diagnostic imaging
- cardiology
- respiratory medicine
- clinical haematology
Stroke: Agreement has been reached through the STP which confirms Peterborough City
Hospital’s status as a hyperacute stroke unit. The Trust is now working through options to
enhance Hinchingbrooke’s stroke rehabilitation services to ensure that they are consistent across
the Trust catchment and link well with the community early supported discharge service to be
introduced for stroke patients.
Emergency Department: Specific operational support is being provided to Hinchingbrooke
Hospital to ensure improvement in delivery – this is also being reviewed with NHS Improvement
and the local A&E Delivery Board. A well-functioning, sustainable ED at Hinchingbrooke is key
to relieving the pressure on the PCH ED.
Diagnostic Imaging: The merger of the two organisations means that plans have been agreed
for the phased introduction of the same PACS (Picture Archive and Communication System) for
images across the Trust. This will be rolled out to Peterborough and Stamford during the winter
of 2017 and to Hinchingbrooke in 2018. The clinical departments have moved under a single
management arrangement.
Cardiology: Services provided to the local population are not the full range of local cardiology
sub-specialities due to the proximity of Papworth Hospital and the benefit that this has given our
local population. However this impacts on the ability to recruit cardiologists to provide support to
the range of our fragile patients who need specific cardiology input as well as non-provision of
standard DGH interventional procedures such as PCIs. The move of Papworth to the Cambridge
University Hospitals NHS FT site means that patients will have to travel even further for treatment
and the need to ensure sustainable services for the population of Peterborough and South
Lincolnshire is becoming more urgent. The Trust is ready to provide this service but it requires
commissioner support.
Respiratory Medicine: we are working with the GPs in Peterborough (Greater Peterborough
Network) and the community provider to review pathways to provide more care in the community
by helping patients with long term respiratory conditions e.g. COPD better care for themselves.
This in turn will improve the capacity of our hospitals by avoiding unnecessary admissions.
Clinical Haematology: We have worked to support the residents of Huntingdon by adopting a
shared rota across both sites prior to the final approval of the merger. An additional consultant
appointment has been made, which was made possible by creating the opportunity to work for a
single, larger, organisation. This joint working has avoided increased pressure on our
Peterborough clinics which would have otherwise happened if we had been unable to attract this
additional consultant.
There is still work to be done to recruit fully to these challenged areas but there is encouraging
early progress, not just in these areas but in other specialties, such as anaesthesia and critical
care.
4.3

Organisation Integration
As noted above the development of our workforce to support our services and patients is key.
There is a specific medical recruitment board that has been set up on a short term basis to
improve recruitment processes to ensure that the best staff are attracted to apply and are
appointed. In addition a specific focus is being placed on staff grade posts which fall outside the

159

standard consultant career path.
Nurse recruitment and retention is also a key element with focus on attracting nurses as they are
on their pathway to graduation as well as consideration of overseas recruitment and the
development of nursing associate posts.
In addition there have been management changes at the Hinchingbrooke site. However, the
importance of consistent and accountable leadership on a daily basis is recognised and Site
Manager Nikki Leighton-Davies has moved from her role as general manager at Peterborough
City Hospital to manage the daily activity on the Hinchingbrooke site. In addition, the executive
team base themselves at Hinchingbrooke at least twice a week.
As well as recruitment, the Trust also needs to ensure that staff are retained and developed. As
part of this work the Trust has recently developed and launched a new set of values based on
work previously undertaken across all three sites which links to a new behavioural framework. It
is important that all staff are seen to act consistently, equitably and to high standards with
patients, the public and each other. It has been shown by research that staff who are able to
work well in teams will also work effectively with patients and improve care. This provision of a
set of common values is part of the Trust’s overall organisational development plan.
4.4

Estates
It is important to manage the estate infrastructure well, and there have been developments on all
three sites.
The planned Strategic Estates Partnership at Hinchingbrooke is not being progressed at this
stage. The first stage was to sell the car parking at the front of the site for houses and replace
the car parking elsewhere. However a bespoke review noted that this was not value for money
and the whole site needs to be reconsidered in the context of future health and care services
prior to proceeding with any initial developments. In the meantime, corporate services have been
relocated to Hinchingbrooke from Peterborough to improve utilisation of the current estate and
release space at PCH for future clinical services.
Whilst not part of the merger, the phase 1 of the Stamford Hospital site redevelopment has been
completed with a new clinic, phlebotomy and pain management services together with the new
MRI facility.
The Trust is engaged in the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership, and is now meeting
with the Chief Officers of the Local Authorities and Mayor’s office. This is enabling us to develop
better joint working and consider the impact of planned housing growth across Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough over the next 20 years. Within Peterborough this is close to 24,000 homes,
with additional development in the PCH catchment making a total of around 40,000 additional
houses by 2036. This is leading us to consider how the Trust responds in terms of our buildings,
staffing and other resources.

4.5

ICT
A significant part of the merger is to ensure that all staff have access to common systems
across the Trust. This will mean that a clinician working at Hinchingbrooke would be able to
see details of patients that they had seen on the other sites in the same format and to common
standards. Initial phases of this work are:


migration to a single email system



the adoption of a single nhs.net system across the Trust



implementation of a new patient administration system



adoption at Peterborough of the Symphony system used in the emergency department at
Hinchingbrooke

160



adoption at Hinchingbrooke of the Theatreman system used at Peterborough



implementation of a single (PACS) radiology system across both sites.

This is supported by a 10GB data line in place between Peterborough City and Hinchingbrooke
Hospitals which is facilitating the secure sharing of information between sites.
This extensive programme of change will take two years to complete.
In time single electronic document management for health records is expected.
4.6

Finance
Whilst these changes are being implemented the Trust also needs to ensure that it remains within
its financial control total. Negotiations with NHS improvement have secured some adjustments
to the combined control totals of the two predecessor organisations to take into account an
increasing deficit at Hinchingbrooke, the delay of any benefits from the Strategic Estates
Partnership and the need to fund the above programmes of work.
However the Trust remains committed to securing the £9m saving benefit of the merger, as well
as securing the planned £17m cost improvement requirement.

4.7

Other Service Changes
Whilst not related to the merger the Trust has agreed a number of service changes to support the
provision of services in agreement with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG. These are
included for completeness:




from 1 August 2017 the Trust took responsibility for the management of the pathology
laboratory at Hinchingbrooke which has previously been part of tPP (the Pathology
Partnership run by Cambridge university hospitals NHS FT). This has included the TUPE
transfer of 36 staff to the Trust.
from 4 September the Trust is taking responsibility for the service delivery of dermatology
service at the City Care Centre, outpatient services at Doddington Hospital, the Princess of
Wales Hospital in Ely and the radiology services at north Cambridgeshire Hospital in Wisbech.
These services were previously provided by Cambridgeshire Community Services.

5.

CONSULTATION

5.1

This report provides progress post-merger. A full consultation was undertaken with the public
and staff prior to approval.

5.2

In terms of future service changes, if there is the potential to move these between sites this would
only be undertaken after consultation. However, service improvements would proceed without
consultation to ensure that local patients gain increased benefit.

6.

ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1

This report has been provided for information

7.

REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1

This report has been provided for information

8.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1

N/A

9.

IMPLICATIONS
Financial Implications

161

9.1

N/A
Legal Implications

9.2

N/A
Equalities Implications

9.3

The Committee is asked to note that the full business case was subject to equality impact
assessment and quality impact assessment processes to ensure that there were no adverse
impacts on patients or services.
System Transformation Plan Implications

9.4

The Committee should note that it is expected that service changes will be managed in line with
the STP plans to ensure that this aligns with the strategy for health services across
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. For the Trust this is complicated by patients being treated
from South Lincolnshire who are part of the Lincolnshire STP.

10.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information)
Act 1985

10.1

Merger of Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust and Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust – Full Business Case. - https://www.nwangliaft.nhs.uk/about-us/trust-publications/

11.

APPENDICES

11.1

Annex 1 – Structures (Board, Council of Governors, Divisions)
Annex 2 - Values.

162

11.1

Annex 1 – structures
The Executive Team

The Non-Executive Team

163

The Council of Governors
Public governors elected in three constituencies:
6 Governors representing Greater Peterborough
Annette Beeton; Dr Robert Wordsworth; Trish Mason; Michael Simmonds; Nicola Hampshaw;
Michael Greenhalgh
6 Governors representing Huntingdonshire
Dr Nik Johnson; Dr Jill Challener; Amanda Buckenham; Alan Crouch; Sandy Ferrelly; current
vacancy
5 Governors representing South Lincolnshire
Christopher Chew; David Bryars; Sue Prior; Duncan Lawson; David Cooke

Staff governors elected by colleagues to represent staff groups at each of our hospitals:
3 Staff Governors at Peterborough City Hospital
Moira Johnston; John Ellington; Asif Mahmood
3 Staff Governors at Hinchingbrooke Hospital
Dr Tarang Majmudar; Lorraine Tosh; Kim Graves
1 Staff Governor at Stamford Hospital
Dr Jennine Ratcliffe

Partner Governors nominated by partner organisations:
Peterborough City Council: Cllr Fitzgerald
Cambridgeshire County Council: Cllr Gowing
Lincolnshire County Council: Cllr Wootten
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CCG: Jill Houghton
South Lincolnshire CCG: Elizabeth Ball
Healthwatch: Gordon Smith

164

Structure for operational divisions

165

Annex 2 - Values/Personal Responsibility Framework

166

167

This page is intentionally left blank

168

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 9

6 NOVEMBER 2017

PUBLIC REPORT

Report of:

Interim Director of Law and Governance

Contact Officer(s):

Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer / Joanna
Morley, Democratic Services Officer

Tel. 01733 452508
Tel: 01733 452468

MONITORING SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS
RECOMMENDATIONS
FROM: Interim Director of Law and Governance

Deadline date: N/A

It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee:
1. Considers the responses from Cabinet Members and Officers to recommendations made at
previous meetings as attached in Appendix 1 to the report and provides feedback including
whether further monitoring of each recommendation is required.

1.

ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1

The Health Scrutiny Committee agreed at a meeting held on 19 June 2017 that a report be
provided at each meeting to note the outcome of any recommendations made at the previous
meeting held thereby providing an opportunity for the Committee to request further monitoring of
the recommendation should this be required.

2.

PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1

The report enables the Scrutiny Committee to monitor and track progress of recommendations
made to the Executive or Officers at previous meetings.

2.2

This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No.
Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph 3.3:
The Scrutiny Committees will:
(a)

Review and scrutinise the Executive, Committee and officer decisions and
performance in connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

(b)

Review and scrutinise the Council’s performance in meeting the aims of its policies
and performance targets and/or particular service areas;

(c)

Question Members of the Executive, Committees and senior officers about their
decisions and performance of the Council, both generally and in relation to
particular decisions or projects;

(d)

Make recommendations to the Executive and the Council as a result of the scrutiny
process.

169

3.

TIMESCALES
Is this a Major Policy
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO

If yes, date for
Cabinet meeting

N/A

4.

BACKGROUND

4.1

Appendix 1 of the report sets out the recommendations made to Cabinet Members or Officers at
previous meetings of the Scrutiny Committee. It also contains summaries of any action taken by
Cabinet Members or Officers in response to the recommendations.

4.2

The progress status for each recommendation is indicated and if the Scrutiny Committee confirms
acceptance of the items marked as completed they will be removed from the list. In cases where
action on the recommendation is outstanding or the Committee does not accept the matter has
been adequately completed it will be kept on the list and reported back to the next meeting of the
Committee. It will remain on the list until such time as the Committee accepts the
recommendation as completed.

5.

ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

5.1

Timelier monitoring of recommendations made will assist the Scrutiny Committee in assessing
the impact and consequence of the recommendations.

6.

REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

6.1

To assist the Committee in assessing the impact and consequence of recommendations made
at previous meetings.

7.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

7.1

Minutes of meeting held on 4 September 2017

8.

APPENDICES

8.1

Appendix 1 – Monitoring Recommendations

170

APPENDIX 1 - RECOMMENDATION MONITORING REPORT
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Meeting date
Recommendations
Made

Portfolio Holder /
Directorate
Responsible

Agenda Item Title

Recommendation Made

Action Taken

Progress Status

4 September 2017

N/A

END OF
CONSULTATION
REPORT FOR THE
CONSULTATION ON
PROPOSED
CHANGES TO THE
FUTURE PROVISION
OF SPECIALIST
FERTILITY
TREATMENT IN THE
CAMBRIDGESHIRE
AND
PETERBOROUGH
CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING
GROUP AREA

The Health Scrutiny Committee
considered the report and
RECOMMENDED
that
the
Director of Corporate Affairs
advise the Governing Body at
the meeting on 5 September of
the following comments from the
Committee:

The recommendations
from the Committee
were presented to the
Governing Body on 5
September. The press
release following that
meeting can be
accessed via the link
below:

Complete

The Health Scrutiny Committee
do not agree to the proposal to
suspend IVF services and
request that the Governing
Body:

CCG Governing Press
Release Following 5
Sept Meeting

1. Take into consideration the
feedback and comments
from the consultation of
which 82% were against the
proposal.
2. Take into consideration the
NICE national guidance
recommending
offering
three full cycles of IVF.
3. Consider all other
alternative areas where

“As part of the decisionmaking process the
Governing Body
considered the feedback
received during the
public consultation. The
following
recommendations have
been agreed to address

4.

171

An extract from the
press release states:

5.

Meeting date
Recommendations
Made

Portfolio Holder /
Directorate
Responsible

Agenda Item Title

Recommendation Made

savings could be made e.g.
processes with regard to
repeat prescriptions.

Action Taken

concerns raised during
the consultation:


The CCG will
monitor through the
contract, where
contractually
possible, multiple
births via first round
of IVF that have
taken place abroad
and any associated
complications and
costs.



The CCG will review
the decision at the
end of the funding
formula period in
April 2019. The
review of the
provision of
specialist fertility
services (IVF) will be
made in April 2019,
and will include an
assessment of the
CCG’s financial
position, including
the impact of the
withdrawal of the
service on multiple
birth levels and any

The Committee also
recommended that if the
Governing Body go ahead with
the proposal to suspend IVF
services that the Committee be
involved when the decision is
reviewed in April 2019.

Progress Status

172

Meeting date
Recommendations
Made

Portfolio Holder /
Directorate
Responsible

Agenda Item Title

Recommendation Made

Action Taken

impact experienced
by mental health
services.
The CCG also
agreed to continue to
monitor any impacts
on these areas
between now and
April 2019. It will use
the first year of data
to start the review
and committed to
working with local
council Scrutiny
Committees as part
of that review with a
decision on whether
to reinstate IVF to be
made in April 2019.



Other investigations
and clinical
interventions which
can improve fertility
for couples are not
affected by this
decision. These are
widely available on
the NHS before the
need to access

173



Progress Status

Meeting date
Recommendations
Made

Portfolio Holder /
Directorate
Responsible

Agenda Item Title

Recommendation Made

Action Taken

Progress Status

specialist fertility
services.”
4 September 2017

Councillor Lamb, 6.
Cabinet Member for
Public Health / Dr Liz
Robin, Director of
Public Health

PETERBOROUGH
ANNUAL PUBLIC
HEALTH REPORT

The Health Scrutiny Committee
considered the report and
RECOMMENDED
that
the
Director of Public Health include
in future Annual Public Health
Reports details on healthy
eating habits and statistics on air
quality as both have an impact
on the health of local people.

The Director of Public
Health advised that the
request from the Health
Scrutiny Committee has
been logged and will be
taken in to consideration
when preparing the
Annual Public Health
Report for 2018, next
year.

On going

174

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 10

6 NOVEMBER 2017

PUBLIC REPORT

Report of:

Interim Director of Law and Governance

Cabinet Member(s) responsible:

Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact Officer(s):

Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Tel. 01733 452508

FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
RECOMMENDATIONS
FROM: Senior Democratic Services Officer

Deadline date: N/A

It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee:
1. Considers the current Forward Plan of Executive Decisions and identifies any relevant items for
inclusion within their work programme or request further information.

1.

ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1

The report is presented to the Committee in accordance with the Terms of Reference as set out
in section 2.2 of the report.

2.

PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1

This is a regular report to the Health Scrutiny Committee outlining the content of the Forward
Plan of Executive Decisions.

2.2

This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No.
Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph 3.3:
The Scrutiny Committees will:
(f) Hold the Executive to account for the discharge of functions in the following ways:
ii)

3.

By scrutinising Key Decisions which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in
the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions;

TIMESCALES
Is this a Major Policy
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO

If yes, date for
Cabinet meeting

N/A

4.

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1

The latest version of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions is attached at Appendix 1. The
Forward Plan contains those Executive Decisions which the Leader of the Council believes that

175

the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Member(s) can take and any new key decisions to be taken
after 13 November 2017.
4.2

The information in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions provides the Committee with the
opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence any of these executive decisions,
or to request further information.

4.3

If the Committee wished to examine any of the executive decisions, consideration would need to
be given as to how this could be accommodated within the work programme.

4.4

As the Forward Plan is published fortnightly any version of the Forward Plan published after
dispatch of this agenda will be tabled at the meeting.

5.

CONSULTATION

5.1

Details of any consultation on individual decisions are contained within the Forward Plan of
Executive Decisions.

6.

ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1

After consideration of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions the Committee may request
further information on any Executive Decision that falls within the remit of the Committee.

7.

REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1

The report presented allows the Committee to fulfil the requirement to scrutinise Key Decisions
which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions in
accordance with their terms of reference as set out in Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny
Functions, paragraph 3.3.

8.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1

N/A

9.

IMPLICATIONS
Financial Implications

9.1

N/A
Legal Implications

9.2

N/A

10.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1

None

11.

APPENDICES

11.1

Appendix 1 – Forward Plan of Executive Decisions

176

FORWARD PLAN
PART 1 – KEY DECISIONS
In the period commencing 28 clear days after the date of publication of this Plan, Peterborough City Council's Executive intends to take 'key decisions' on the issues set out below

177

PETERBOROUGH CITY
COUNCIL’S FORWARD PLAN
OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
PUBLISHED: 13 OCTOBER 2017

in Part 1. Key decisions relate to those executive decisions which are likely to result in the Council spending or saving money in excess of £500,000 and/or have a significant
impact on two or more wards in Peterborough.
If the decision is to be taken by an individual Cabinet Member, the name of the Cabinet Member is shown against the decision, in addition to details of the Councillor’s portfolio. If
the decision is to be taken by the Cabinet, this too is shown against the decision and its members are as listed below:
Cllr Holdich (Leader); Cllr Fitzgerald (Deputy Leader); Cllr Ayres, Cllr Elsey; Cllr Hiller, Cllr Lamb; Cllr Smith; Cllr Seaton and Cllr Walsh.
This Plan should be seen as an outline of the proposed decisions for the forthcoming month and it will be updated on a fortnightly basis to reflect new key-decisions. Each new
Plan supersedes the previous Plan and items may be carried over into forthcoming Plans. Any questions on specific issues included on the Plan should be included on the form
which appears at the back of the Plan and submitted to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk, Democratic and Constitutional Services Manager, Governance Department, Town
Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388039). Alternatively, you can submit your views via e-mail to or by telephone on 01733 452460. For each decision a public report will
be available from the Democratic Services Team one week before the decision is taken.
PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISION IN PRIVATE
Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the Cabinet meetings listed in this Plan will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will be some business
to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. In these circumstances the meeting may be held in private, and on the
rare occasion this applies, notice will be given within Part 2 of this document, ‘notice of intention to hold meeting in private’. A further formal notice of the intention to hold the
meeting, or part of it, in private, will also be given 28 clear days in advance of any private meeting in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.
The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which these decisions will be discussed (unless a notice of intention to hold the meeting in private has
been given).

178

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS
For complete transparency relating to the work of the Executive, this Plan also includes an overview of non-key decisions to be taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members,
these decisions are listed at Part 3 and will be updated on a weekly basis.
You are entitled to view any documents listed on the Plan, or obtain extracts from any documents listed or subsequently submitted to the decision maker prior to the decision
being made, subject to any restrictions on disclosure. There is no charge for viewing the documents, although charges may be made for photocopying or postage. Documents
listed on the notice and relevant documents subsequently being submitted can be requested from Philippa Turvey, Democratic and Constitutional Services Manager, Governance
Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388038), e-mail to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452460.
All decisions will be posted on the Council's website: www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions. If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the 'key decisions'
outlined in this Plan, please submit them to the Democratic and Constitutional Services Manager using the form attached. For your information, the contact details for the Council's
various service departments are incorporated within this Plan.

PART 1 – FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

KEY DECISIONS FROM 13 NOVEMBER 2017
DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

Entering into a Section 75
with Cambridge County
Council – KEY/13NOV17/01
Entering into a Section 75 with
Cambridge County Council for
the provision of joint
commissioning of a Recovery
and inclusion tender

Councillor
Fizgerald,
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

November
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All
Wards

Legal and
Finance
departments

Janet Warren,
Assistant
Commissioner,
01733 863865,
janet.warren@pete
rborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published

ICT Infrastructure works for
Fletton Quays –
KEY/13NOV17/02
To agree to the procurement of
ICT infrastructure works for
Fletton Quays

Councillor
David Seaton,
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

November
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

N/A

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders

Jane McDaid,
Head of Property
Jane.mcdaid@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.
The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating to
the financial or
business affairs of any
particular person
(including the authority
holding that
information).

179

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

ESPO Trading Company –
KEY/13NOV17/03
To approve the establishment of
a new trading company 'ESPO
Trading Limited', to delegate
authority to fulfil the
requirements necessary to bring
this into effect and to note the
associated recommendations of
the ESPO Management
Committee in relation to these
proposals.

Cabinet

20
November
2018

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All
Wards

N/A

Amy Brown
01733 452617,
amy.brown@peter
borough.gov.uk

Cabinet report only

180

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS
KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

1.

Councillor
Wayne
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

November
2017

Adult and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Gary Jones Lead
commissioner for
Older people
Tel: 452450
Email:
gary.jones@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

Councillor
Wayne
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

January
2018

Direct Payment Support
Service –
KEY/11DEC15/02
To approve the direct
payment support service.

181
2.

Personal Care and
Support (Homecare) in
Peterborough –
KEY/02MAY16/01
To approve the
awarding of a contract
to an external provider
following a competitive
tender exercise.

The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating
to the financial or
business affairs of
any particular
person (including
the authority
holding that
information).
Adult and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders

Rajnish Ahuja
Procurement
Project Manager
(Interim)
Tel: 01733
317471
Email:
rajnish.ahuja@pe
terborough.gov.u
k

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO
THE DECISION
SUBMITTED TO
THE DECISION
MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

3.

Uncollectable debts
in excess of £10,000 –
KEY/28NOV16/01
Council Tax, Housing
Benefits, Sundry and
Business Rates

Councillor David
Seaton Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Marion Kelly
Interim Service
Director, Financial
Services
Tel: 01733 384564
Email:
marion.kelly@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

4.

Peterborough Serco
Strategic Partnership
Contract
Amendments –
KEY/28NOV16/02
To agree amendments
to the Serco
Partnership Contract

Councillor David
Seaton Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant
stakeholders and
Serco.

Marion Kelly
Interim Service
Director, Financial
Services
Tel: 01733 384564
marion.kelly@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

5.

Serco ICT Contract
Amendments –
KEY/28NOV16/03
To agree amendments
to the Serco ICT
Contract.

Councillor David
Seaton Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant
stakeholders and
Serco.

Marion Kelly
Interim Service
Director, Financial
Services
Tel: 01733 384564
marion.kelly@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

182

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO
THE DECISION
SUBMITTED TO
THE DECISION
MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

6.

Councillor Walsh,
Cabinet Member
for Communities

October
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Sharon Malia Housing
Programmes
Manager, Tel:
01733 863764
sharon.malia@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

Affordable Warmth
Strategy 2017 – 2019
KEY/17APR17/03
Recommendation to
approve the Affordable
Warmth Strategy 2017
- 2019

183

The draft strategy
will be placed on
PCC Consultation
pages for 3 week
consultation
period

BRE Integrated
Dwelling Level
Housing Stock
Modelling Report
July 2016 Housing
Renewals Policy
2017 - 2019

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

7.

Town Hall South –
remodelling KEY/01MAY17/04
To award the contract for
the remodelling of the
area in the Town Hall to
be let.

Councillor
Seaton,
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

Central
ward

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders

Jane McDaid,
Head of Property,
01733 384540,
jane.mcdaid@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.
The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating to
the financial or
business affairs of any
particular person
(including the
authority holding that
information).

Authorise the award of
the Nene Bridge
Bearings Scheme KEY/01MAY17/07
Authorise the award of the
Nene Bridge Bearings
bridge works to Skanksa
Construction UK Ltd
through the Council's
Peterborough Highway
Services Contract 2013-

Councillor
Hiller, Cabinet
Member for
Growth,
Planning,
Housing and
Economic
Development

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Peter Tebb,
Network and
Traffic Manager,
Tel:01733
453519, Email:
peter.tebb@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Consultation with
Ward Councillors
and usual internal
and external
stakeholders

184
8.

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO
THE DECISION
SUBMITTED TO
THE DECISION
MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

9.

Councillor
Hiller, Cabinet
Member for
Growth,
Planning,
Housing and
Economic
Development

November
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Peter Tebb
Network and
Traffic Manager
Tel: 01733 453519
Email:
Peter.tebb@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

185

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

Real Time Passenger
Information KEY/15MAY17/02
Award of the Contract
along with the agreement
to sign the partnership and
data sharing agreements
with neighbouring local
authorities and bus
operators associated with
this contract

Consultation has
taken place with
bus operators in
the city and will
continue to do so
for the duration of
the tender
process

Amy Pickstone
Senior ITS Officer
5 317481
Email:amy.pickston
e@peterborough.g
ov.uk

The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue
of paragraph 3,
information
relating to the
financial or
business affairs of
any particular
person (including
the authority
holding that
information).

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO
THE DECISION
SUBMITTED TO
THE DECISION
MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

10.

Councillor
Hiller, Cabinet
Member for
Growth,
Planning,
Housing and
Economic
Development
in consultation
with Councillor
Holdich,
Leader of the
Council

October 2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

Gunthorp
e

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Emma Everitt
Capital Projects
and Assets Officer
Tel: 01733 863660
Email:
emma.everitt@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

186

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

Approval to early
infrastructure works to
facilitate the design and
build of two new
schools on the Paston
Reserve site –
KEY/15MAY17/03
There is a requirement for
infrastructure works to be
undertaken on land
identified under a S106
Agreement to
accommodate a new 2
form entry primary school
and an 8 form entry
secondary school at the
Paston Reserve site.
These works include a
new access road into the
site from Newborough
Road, relocation of
overhead power cables
and fencing to secure the
site upon transfer to the
Council. These works
must be completed ahead
of the programme to
deliver the new school.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO
THE DECISION
SUBMITTED TO
THE DECISION
MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

11.

Paston Reserve Primary
School - New school
build project KEY/15MAY17/04
School Organisation Plan
2012-17, EFA Contractors
Framework Guidance,
Guidance for LAs seeking
to deliver free school
projects

Councillor
Lynne Ayres
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October 2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Gunthorp
e

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Emma Everitt
Capital Projects
and Assets Officer
Tel: 01733 863660
Email:
emma.everitt@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

Paston Reserve
Secondary School - New
build project KEY/15MAY17/05
Authorise the Director
People and Communities
to approve the
construction of a new
seconday school at the
Paston Reserve site up to
the value of £xm.
Authorise the Dierctor to
award the design and
build contract. Authorise
the Director to enter into
the 125 year lease of the
school site with the
Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

July 2018

Emma Everitt
Capital Projects
and Assets Officer
Tel: 01733 863660
Email:
emma.everitt@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

187

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

12.

There will be
public
consultation on
the plans for the
new school. Ward
Cllr consultation
Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Gunthorp
e

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.
There will be a
public
consultation on
the plans for the
new school. Ward
Cllr consultation.

School Organisation
Plan 2012-17. EFA
Contractors
Framework
Guidance.
Guidance for LAs
seeking to deliver
free school projects

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO
THE DECISION
SUBMITTED TO
THE DECISION
MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

13.

Enterprise Managed
Services Contract KEY/15MAY17/06
Termination of the current
23 year contract with
Enterprise Managed
Services (Amey) and
future service delivery

Cabinet

20 November
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All
Wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

James
Collingridge, Amey
Partnership
Manager,
Tel: 01733 864736
Email:
james.collingridge
@peterborough.go
v.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

Approval to award
places on the Pseudo
DPS for Residential Care
Providers KEY/29MAY17/04
Provide permission for the
Council to enter into
contractual arrangements
with Residential Care
Providers following the
publication of a PIN notice
inviting providers to submit
prices and sign up to the
Council's Residential Care
Terms and Conditions.
This ensures compliance
with the Public
Procurement Regulations
2015 a the Care Act 2014

Councillor
Fitzgerald,
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

November
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Helene Carr, Head
of Commissioning
Social Care Tel:
01733 863901,
Email:
Helene.carr@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other
than the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

188

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

14.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

15.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Fletton &
Woodston

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Sharon
Bishop,
Capital
Projects &
Assets Officer,
Tel: 01733
863997,
Email:
sharon.bishop
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Sharon
Bishop.
Capital
Projects &
Assets Office,
Tel: 01733
863997,
Email:
sharon.bishop
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

189

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

16.

Woodston Expansion –
KEY/26JUNE17/01
Award of Contract for the
expansion of Woodston
Primary School to
accommodate an additional
210 children

St George's (Heltwate)
remodelling –
KEY/26JUNE17/02
Award of Contract for the
remodelling and
refurbishment of part of the
St George's School site to
accommodate up to 40 KS4
children from Heltwate
School

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

Public
consultation to be
held July 2017

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Park Ward

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

School Organisational
Plan 2015 - 2020

School Organisational
Plan 2015 – 2020

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

17.

Councillor
Seaton,
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

ALL

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Paul Smith HR
Advisor
Tel:
01733863629
Email:
paul.smith2@
Peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

190

Approval of Sharing
Officers between
Peterborough City
Council &
Cambridgeshire County
Council -KEY/10JUL17/01
Under s113 of the 1972
Local Government Act a
Council can place officers
at the disposal of another
Council. The Council is
currently in the process of
establishing a shared
management team for
People & Communities with
Cambridgeshire County
Council which may result in
one or more officers of the
City Council being shared
across both Councils.

Officers affected,
Trades Unions,
Employment
Committee,
Members of both
Councils

Consultation document
and reports to
Employment Committee
setting out rationale and
proposals

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

18.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All Wards

N/A

Vicki Palazon
Head of
Finance
(Business
Operations &
Development)
Email:
vicki.palazon
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk
Tel:01733
864104

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

191

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

Award of Contract Social Care Platform KEY/24JULY17/01
To approve the award of a
contract to develop and
implement a technology
platform that would sit
across the current adult and
children’s social care IT
systems

The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating to
the financial or
business affairs of any
particular person
(including the authority
holding that
information).

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

19.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All Wards

N/A

Vicki Palazon
Head of
Finance
(Business
Operations &
Development)
Email:
vicki.palazon
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk
Tel:01733
864104

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Award of Contract Social Care e-marketplace
– KEY/24JULY17/02
To approve the awarding of
a contract to provide a
social care e-marketplace
IT system

192

The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating to
the financial or
business affairs of any
particular person
(including the authority
holding that
information).

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

20.

Councillor
Hiller, Cabinet
Member for
Growth,
Planning,
Housing and
Economic
Development,
in consultation
with Councillor
Lynne Ayres
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Woodston
and Fletton

Meeting to be
held on 10th July
at Belsize
Community
Centre

Sharon
Bishop,
Capital
Projects &
Assets Officer,
01733 863997
Sharon.bishop
@peteborough
.gov.uk

SOP 2012-2017 (and
addendum)
Medium Term Financial
Plan

193

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

Enabling Works To Celta
Road and Re-modelling of
Car Park at Belsize
Community Centre –
KEY/24JULY17/04
To approve enabling works
to Celta Road enabling the
carriageway to be widened
allowing a two way flow of
traffic. Inclusion of laybys
for parking. Expansion of
the car park at Belsize
Community Centre and
white-lining to give defined
spaces. This will aid with
any future expansion of
Woodston Primary School

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

21.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All Wards

N/A

Vicki Palazon
Head of
Finance
(Business
Operations &
Development)
Email:
vicki.palazon
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk
Tel:01733
864104

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Award of Contract Social Care Operating
Model –
KEY/24JULY17/05
To approve the awarding of
a contract to develop a
social care operating model

194

The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating to
the financial or
business affairs of any
particular person
(including the authority
holding that
information).

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

22.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

Central

Relevant Internal
and External
Stakeholders.

Jane McDaid
Head of
Peterborough
Property
services
Tel: 01733
384540
Email:
Jane.mcdaid@
peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Sharon
Bishop,
Capital Project
& Assets
Officer
sharon.bishop
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

School Organisational
Plan 2017

Acquisition of
Regeneration Site –
KEY/24JULY17/06
To approve the acquisition
of a local regeneration site.

195
23.

Construction of new
school building - Heltwate
School –
KEY/24JULY17/08
Construction of a new
school building to
accommodate the
expansion of Heltwate
School

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

November
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

East

Public
Consultation
Autumn 2017

The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating to
the financial or
business affairs of any
particular person
(including the authority
holding that
information).

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

24.

Academy Conversion
(Jack Hunt Group) of Jack
Hunt School –
KEY/07AUG17/02
To approve the closure of a
maintained school and
authorise the execution and
completion of a Commercial
Transfer Agreement with
the Academy Trust and the
grant of a 125 year lease of
the land

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Ravensth
orpe

Consultation with
staff, parents,
Ward Cllrs and
relevant council
departments

Sharon
Bishop
Capital
Projects and
Assets
Officer, Tel
No.01733
863997
sharon.bisho
p@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Academy Conversion
(Jack Hunt Group) of
Middleton Primary School
–
KEY/07AUG17/03
Conversion of a maintained
primary school to an
Academy. To authorise the
execution and completion of
a Commercial Transfer
Agreement (CTA) between
the Council and the
Academy trust and to
authorise the grant of a 125
year lease to the Academy
Trust

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Bretton

Consultation with
staff, parents,
Ward Cllrs and
relevant council
departments

Sharon
Bishop
Capital
Projects and
Assets
Officer, Tel
No.01733
863997
sharon.bisho
p@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

196

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

25.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

26.

Academy Conversion
(Jack Hunt Group) of
Longthorpe Primary
School –
KEY/07AUG17/04
Academy conversion of
maintained primary school.
To authorise the execution
and completion of a
Commercial Transfer
agreement (CTA) between
the Council and the
Academy Trust and to
authorise a 125 year lease
to the Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

West

Consultation with
staff, parents,
Ward Cllrs and
relevant council
departments

Sharon
Bishop
Capital
Projects and
Assets
Officer, Tel.
No: 01733
863997
sharon.bisho
p@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Academy Conversion
(Jack Hunt Group) of
Thorpe Primary School –
KEY/07AUG17/05
Academy conversion of
maintained primary school.
To authorise the execution
and completion of a
Commercial Transfer
agreement (CTA) between
the Council and the
Academy Trust and to
authorise a 125 year lease
to the Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Ravensth
orpe

Consultation with
staff, parents,
Ward Cllrs and
relevant council
departments

Sharon
Bishop
Capital
Projects and
Assets
Officer, Tel
No: 01733
863997
sharon.bisho
p@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

197

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

27.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATI
ON

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

28.

Academy Conversion
(Jack Hunt Group) of
Ravensthorpe Primary
School –
KEY/07AUG17/06
Academy conversion of
maintained primary school.
The execution and
completion of a Commercial
Transfer agreement (CTA)
between the Council and
the Academy Trust. The
authorisation of a 125 year
lease to the Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Ravensthorpe

Consultation
with staff,
parents, Ward
Cllrs and
relevant
council
departments

Emma Everitt
Email:emma.
everitt@peter
borough.gov.
uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Academy Conversion
(Soke Educational Trust)
Werrington Primary
School –
KEY/07AUG17/07
Academy conversion of
maintained primary school.
The execution and
completion of a Commercial
Transfer agreement (CTA)
between the Council and
the Academy Trust. The
authorisation of a 125 year
lease to the Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Werrington

Consultation
with staff,
parents, Ward
Cllrs and
relevant
council
departments

Emma Everitt
Email:emma.
everitt@peter
borough.gov.
uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

198

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

29.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

30.

Academy Conversion
(Soke Educational Trust)
of Gunthorpe Primary
School –
KEY/07AUG17/08
Academy conversion of
maintained primary school.
The execution and
completion of a Commercial
Transfer agreement (CTA)
between the Council and
the Academy Trust. The
authorisation of a 125 year
lease to the Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

West

Consultation with
staff, parents,
Ward Cllrs and
relevant council
departments

Emma Everitt
Email:emma.
everitt@peter
borough.gov.
uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Academy Conversion
(Soke Educational Trust)
of John Clare Primary
School –
KEY/07AUG17/09
Academy conversion of
maintained primary school.
The execution and
completion of a Commercial
Transfer agreement (CTA)
between the Council and
the Academy Trust. The
authorisation of a 125 year
lease to the Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
2017

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Barnack

Consultation with
staff, parents,
Ward Cllrs and
relevant council
departments

Emma Everitt
Email:emma.
everitt@peter
borough.gov.
uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

199

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

31.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

32.

Academy Conversion
(Soke Educational Trust)
of Wittering Primary
School –
KEY/07AUG17/10
Academy conversion of
maintained primary school.
The execution and
completion of a Commercial
Transfer agreement (CTA)
between the Council and
the Academy Trust. The
authorisation of a 125 year
lease to the Academy Trust.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

October
20177

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Ravensth
orpe

Consultation with
staff, parents,
Ward Cllrs and
relevant council
departments

Emma Everitt
Email:emma.e
veritt@peterbo
rough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

Replacement Social Care
System For Adult Social
Care – KEY/21AUG17/01
Approval for purchase and
implementation of
replacement social care
system for adult social care.

Councillor
Fitzgerald,
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

October
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Caroline
Townsend,
Programme
Manager,
Tel. No: 07920
160512,
Email:caroline.
townsend@pet
erborough.gov
.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

200

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

33.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

34.

Approval of Entering Into
Contracts With
Residential and Nursing
Home Providers In
Accordance With Service
User Choice of Home Via
The Pseudo Dynamic
Purchasing System as
recommended by the PCC
Legal Department –
KEY/21AUG17/02
The Pseudo DPS will be
opened for 4 years.
PCC needs to be able to
call off the selected list
as/when required for the
entire 4 year period that
PSEUDO DPS is opened.

Councillor
Fitzgerald,
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

November
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.
ADASS Eastern
Region

Helene Carr,
Head of
Commissionin
g Social Care
Tel:01733
863901, Email:
helene.carr@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published

Award of Insurance
Contract –
KEY/18SEP17/01
Evaluation of insurance
tenders received to be
reviewed and award of
contract to be made.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

23
February
2018

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All

None.

Steve
Crabtree,
Chief Internal
Auditor, 01733
384557,steve.
crabtree@Pet
erborough.gov
.uk

Evaluation of insurance
tender submissions
prepared by the Council's
brokers, JLT.

201

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

35.

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

36.

Councillor
Hiller, Cabinet
Member for
Growth,
Planning,
Housing and
Economic
Development

October
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All

CMDN published
on website

Sharon Malia
Housing
Programmes
Manager
sharon.malia
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

None

202

Continuation of Housing
Renewal Policy grants
through the Care & Repair
Agency –
KEY/18SEP17/02
Permission is sought to
continue to use the current
tendering processes for non
framework works funded
through Repairs Assistance
Grants and Disabled
Facility Grants. A full
procurement process is
being undertaken to
introduce frameworks for all
of this work which is aimed
to be in place by the 1st
May 2018. This interim
arrangement will allow the
capital programme to be
continued

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

37.

Award of contract for the
expansion and partial
remodelling of Ken
Stimpson Community
School – KEY/18SEP17/03
The intention is to expand
the school by 2 forms of
entry (300 additional pupils
plus 150 sixth form) to meet
the growing need for
secondary school places. A
new building block is
planned on the site with an
extension to the dinning hall
and minor remodelling to an
adjacent building. As part of
the remodelling the on site
library will be demolished following its relocation to a
suitable site close by.

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

February
2018

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

Werringto
n

Consultation will
include: Senior
School
Management
team, Sport
England, local
residents and the
Department For
Education

Stuart
Macdonald.
Schools
Infrastructure
. 07715 802
489.
stuart.macdo
nald@peterb
orough.gov.u
k

School Organisation Plan
2015 -2022

Expansion of Lime
Academy Parnwell –
KEY/16OCT17/01
Approval for the expansion
of Lime Academy Parnwell
from 1.5 form entry to 2
form entry. Construction of
double Multi –use games
area (MUGA) and
additional classrooms

Councillor
Lynne Ayres,
Cabinet
Member for
Education,
Skills and
University

January
2018

Children and
Education
Scrutiny
Committee

East

Public consultation

Sharon
Bishop,
Capital
Projects and
Assets
Officer,
sharon.bisho
p@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

School Organisation Plan
2015 - 2020 and
School Organisation Plan
2016 updated

203

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

38.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

39.

Novation of a Personal
Care and Support
Framework Agreement –
KEY/16OCT17/02
To approve the novation of
Council’s personal care and
support Framework
Agreement and all existing
call off contracts with
Housing and Care 21 to
Carewatch Care Services
Limited.

Councillor
Fizgerald,
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

October
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Service users who
were supported by
Housing and Care
21 were informed
of the change in
care provider in
advance

Rajnish
Ahuja,
Procurement
Project
Manager
(Interim),
01733
317471,
rajnish.ahuja
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published

Section 256 with the
Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Clinical
Commissioning Group –
KEY/16OCT17/03
Approval to enter into a
Section 256 agreement with
the Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Clinical
Commissioning Group, for
receipt of funding to deliver
health support to children
and young people and their
families

Councillor
Fizgerald,
Deputy Leader
and Cabinet
Member for
Integrated
Adult Social
Care and
Health

October
2017

Children and
Education

All Wards

Consultation held
with the CCG and
Cambridgeshire
County Council

Pam
Setterfield,
Commissione
r, Child
Health and
Well Being,
Tel 01733
863897,
pam.setterfiel
d@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published

204

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

40.

KEY DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION SUBMITTED
TO THE DECISION
MAKER INCLUDING
EXEMPT APPENDICES
AND REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

41.

Councillor
Seaton,
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

March
2018

Adults and
Communities

City wide
service
provision

Voluntary sector
advice agencies
consulted in
service design.
Market testing of
providers has also
taken place.

Ian Phillips,
Senior Policy
Manager
ian.phillips@
peterborough
.gov.uk
863849

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than the
report and relevant
appendices to be
published

Approval of Contract of
Generalist Advice
Services –
KEY/16OCT17/04
To approve the contract to
deliver general advice
services to clients requiring
help particularly around
welfare benefits, debt and
money management.

205

PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISIONS IN PRIVATE

KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE
KEY DECISION REQUIRED

NONE

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO
THE DECISION
SUBMITTED TO
THE DECISION
MAKER

206

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS

NON-KEY DECISIONS
DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

Draft Flood and Water
Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD) To approve the draft Flood and
Water SPD for public consultation

Cabinet

15 January
2018

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources

City Wide

This draft
document is
coming to
Cabinet for
approval to go
out for public
consultation

Anne Keogh
Housing and
Strategic Planning
Manager tel: 01733
863815
anne.keogh1@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published

Draft Developers Contribution
Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD) To approve the draft Developers
Contribution SPD for public
consultation

Cabinet

15 January
2018

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources

City Wide

This draft
document is
coming to
Cabinet for
approval to go
out for public
consultation

Anne Keogh
Housing and
Strategic Planning
Manager tel: 01733
863815
anne.keogh1@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published

207

DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

Draft Biodiversity Strategy
To approve the draft Strategy
prior to consultation

Cabinet

15th Jan
2018

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All Wards

Consultation will
follow Cabinet
approval to
consult

James Fisher,
Wildlife Officer,
01733 453543,
james.fisher@pete
rborough.gov.uk

Biodiversity Strategy

Draft Peterborough Green
Infrastructure and Biodiversity
SPD
To approve the draft document
prior to consultation

Cabinet

15th Jan
2018

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All Wards

Consultation not
yet undertaken

James Fisher,
Wildlife Officer,
01733 453543,
james.fisher@pete
rborough.gov.uk

Supplementary
Planning Document
(SPD)

Amendments to the
Peterborough Homes
Allocations Policy
To recommend to Council
amendments to the Peterborough
Homes Allocations Policy order to
help manage demand on
services. Amendments proposed
will include changes to sections
of the policy dealing with under
occupation, additional
preferences, refuse and non
attendance at viewings and
number of bids.

Council

December
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

City Wide

N/A

Sean Evans 01733
864083
sean.evans@peter
borough.gov.uk

Cabinet report and
amended allocations
policy

208

DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

Budget Proposals First
Tranche Consideration – To
approve the consultation on
the first tranche of Budget
Proposals.

Cabinet

20 November
2017

Sustainable
Growth and
Environment
Capital

All
Wards

Relevant Internal
and External
Stakeholders

Peter Carpenter,
Service Director –
Financial Services
01733 384564
Peter.carpenter@pe
terborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published

August 2017 Budgetary
Control Monitoring – For
Cabinet to consider and note
the current budgetary control
position

Cabinet

20 November
2017

Sustainable
Growth and
Environment
Capital

All
Wards

Relevant Internal
and External
Stakeholders

Peter Carpenter,
Service Director –
Financial Services
01733 384564
Peter.carpenter@pe
terborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

Budget Proposals First
Tranche Recommendation To recommend the first
tranche of budget proposals to
Council.

Cabinet

4 December
2017

Sustainable
Growth and
Environment
Capital

All
Wards

Relevant Internal
and External
Stakeholders

Peter Carpenter,
Service Director –
Financial Services
01733 384564
Peter.carpenter@pe
terborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published

November 2017 Budgetary
Control Monitoring - For
Cabinet to consider and note
the current budgetary control
position

Cabinet

15 January
2017

Sustainable
Growth and
Environment
Capital

All
Wards

Relevant Internal
and External
Stakeholders

Peter Carpenter,
Service Director –
Financial Services
01733 384564
Peter.carpenter@pe
terborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

209

DECISION REQUIRED

PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS
DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

1.

Vivacity Funding –
To fund Vivacity £1278
until March 2017 (via
DWP grant funding) to
provide digital support for
UC claimants to make
benefit claims online at
Central Library.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Ian Phillips
Social Inclusion
Manager
Tel: 01733 863849
Ian.phillips@peterbo
rough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

2.

Vivacity Premier Fitness
Invest to Save Scheme To authorise investment in
developing Vivacity
Premier Fitness on an
invest to save basis

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Marion Kelly
Corporate Director
Resources
Tel: 01733 452520
Email: marion.kelly
@peterborouh.gov.u
k

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.
The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating
to the financial or
business affairs of
any particular person
(including the
authority holding that
information).

210

DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

3.

Delivery of the Council’s
Capital Receipt
Programme through the
sale of Welland House,
Dogsthorpe To authorise the sale of
Welland House,
Dogsthorpe

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

Dogsthorpe
Councillors:
Ash,
Saltmarsh,
Sharp

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

David Gray
Capital
Projects
Officer
Tel: 01733
384531
Email:
david.gray@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

4.

Proposal for Loan of
Senior Management
Staff Under Joint
Arrangements –
To approve a sharing
agreement for senior
management staff.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Kim Sawyer
Director of
Governance
Tel: 01733
452361
Kim.sawyer@
peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

5.

Funding of Information,
Advice and Guidance
services within the
voluntary sector To authorise award of
grants.

Councillor
David Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders

Ian Phillips
Senior Policy
Manager
Tel: 01733
863849
Email:
ian.phillips@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

211

DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

6.

Councillor
Elsey,
Cabinet
Member for
Waste and
Street Scene

October
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

Central Ward
Cllrs Hussain,
Amjad Iqbal,
Jamil

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

James
Collingridge,
Amey
Partnership
Manager, Tel:
01733 864736
Email:
james.collingri
dge@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

Daily cleanse around
Gladstone Street and
nearby streets
Daily mechanical cleanse
in the area focused
around Gladstone Street
and other nearby streets.
This will encompass a
mechanical sweeper and
operative.

212

Cross party task
and finish group
report which went
to the Growth,
Environment and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee it was
also part of the
full council
decision to
implement as part
of the budget for
2017-18.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

7.

A Lengthmans to be
deployed on Lincoln
Road Millfield
There will be a daily
presence along Lincoln
Road, the operative will
litter pick, empty bins as
well as report fly-tips and
other environmental
issues.

Councillor
Elsey,
Cabinet
Member for
Waste and
Street Scene

October
2017

Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

Central Ward
Cllrs Hussain,
Amjad Iqbal,
Jamil

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

James
Collingridge,
Amey
Partnership
Manager, Tel:
01733 864736
Email:
james.collingri
dge@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

2017/18 VCS grant
funding
Award of grant to VCS
organisations to provide
Information, Advice and
Guidance services

Councillor
Seaton,
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October
2017

Ian Phillips
Senior Policy
Manager
Tel: 863849
Email:
ian.phillips@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

213

DECISION REQUIRED

8.

Cross party task
and finish group
report which went
to the Growth,
Environment and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee and it
was also
approved at Full
Council as part of
the 2017-18
Budget.
Adults and
Communities
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

9.

Cabinet

20 November
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders

Vicki Palazon,
Head of
Finance
(Business
Operations
and
Development)
Tel:01733
864104, Email:
vicki.palazon
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published

214

DECISION REQUIRED

Council Tax Support
Scheme consultation
Consultation on the
council tax support
scheme for 2018/19

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

10.

Cabinet

20 November
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

Glinton and
Castor

There have been
a number of
informal
consultations on
this plan and two
formal, six-week
consultations
prior to the plan
being examined.
It will also have
been subject to a
local referendum
(date TBC) where
more than 50%
will have to vote
for the plan in
order for it to be
considered by
Council

Phil Hylton,
Senior
Strategic
Planning
Officer, 01733
863 879.

The Castor
Neighbourhood Plan;
The Examiner's
Report; The Decision
Statement; The
Results of the
Referendum.

215

DECISION REQUIRED

Recommendation to
Council to Adopt the
Castor Neighbourhood
Plan
The Castor
Neighbourhood Plan has
been produced by Castor
Parish Council and
members of the
community to be used in
making planning decisions
in Castor Parish. This plan
has been subject to a
number of stages of
consultation and has been
independently examined.
The plan will have been
subject to a local
referendum and, if more
than 50% of those voting
choose for the plan to be
used in making planning
decisions in Castor, the
Council will need to adopt
the plan to make it part of
the Development Plan for
Peterborough.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

11.

Cabinet

20 November
2017

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

Glinton and
Castor

There have been
a number of
informal
consultations on
this plan and two
formal, six-week
consultations
prior to the plan
being examined.
It will also have
been subject to a
local referendum
(date TBC) where
more than 50%
will have to vote
for the plan in
order for it to be
considered by
Council

Phil Hylton,
Senior
Strategic
Planning
Officer, 01733
863 879.

The Ailsworth
Neighbourhood Plan;
The Examiner's
Report; The Decision
Statement; The
Results of the
Referendum.

216

DECISION REQUIRED

Recommendation to
Council to Adopt the
Ailsworth
Neighbourhood Plan
The Ailsworth
Neighbourhood Plan has
been produced by
Ailsworth Parish Council
and members of the
community to be used in
making planning decisions
in Ailsworth Parish. This
plan has been subject to a
number of stages of
consultation and has been
independently examined.
The plan will have been
subject to a local
referendum and, if more
than 50% of those voting
choose for the plan to be
used in making planning
decisions in Ailsworth, the
Council will need to adopt
the plan to make it part of
the Development Plan for
Peterborough.

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING
EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

12.

Peterborough Trees and
Woodland Strategy
To approve the draft Trees
and Woodland strategy
prior to public consultation

Cabinet

15 January
2018

Growth,
Environment
and
Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All Wards

Consultation will
follow Cabinet
approval to
commence
consultation

Darren
Sharpe,
Natural &
Historic
Environment
Manager
darren.sharpe
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published

Discretionary rate relief
From business rates for
charities, similar
organisations not
established or conducted
for profit and rural
businesses

Councillor
David
Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

October 2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All wards

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders

Vicki Palazon
Head of
Finance
(Business
Operations &
Development)
Email:
vicki.palazon
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk
Tel:01733
864104

It is not anticipated
that there will be any
documents other than
the report and
relevant appendices
to be published.

217

DECISION REQUIRED

13.

The decision will
include an exempt
annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3,
information relating
to the financial or
business affairs of
any particular
person (including
the authority
holding that
information).

DECISION REQUIRED

DECISION
MAKER

DATE
DECISION
EXPECTED

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

14.

Councillor
Seaton,
Cabinet
Member
for
Resources

October 2017

Growth,
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

All

Relevant internal
and external
stakeholders.

Bruce
Bainbridge,
Finance
Manager,
Tel:01733
384583, Email:
bruce.bainbrid
ge@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that
there will be any
documents other than
the report and relevant
appendices to be
published.

218

Locally designed and
administered business
rates relief scheme The government
announced in its spring
budget a number of reliefs
for businesses including a
£300m discretionary sum to
be allocated by individual
Local authorities based on
their own scheme. The
government subsequently
consulted on this and in
April confirmed the scheme
would continue and
announced individual
authority allocations,
although there remain some
outstanding issues. The
decision required will be to
approve the scheme of
allocation of funds for those
ratepayers who have faced
high increases in rate bills
for 2017/18.

Major preceptors
and Combined
authority.

DCLG documents

regarding
determination and
conditions

PART 4 – NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER URGENCY PROCEDURES

KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER URGENCY PROCEDURES
REASON FOR
URGENCY

DECISION MAKER

DATE
DECISION
TAKEN

RELEVANT
SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

WARD

CONSULTATION

CONTACT
DETAILS /
REPORT
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS
RELEVANT TO THE
DECISION
SUBMITTED TO THE
DECISION MAKER
INCLUDING EXEMPT
APPENDICES AND
REASONS FOR
EXEMPTION

Award of Contract For
Remodelling South Side
Town Hall – KEY/02OCT17/01
Parts of the Town Hall are being
vacated by the council and let
for occupation by external
organisations. This is part of the
Councils move to the new office
at Fletton Quays. In readiness
for the letting of the south side
of Town Hall refurbishment
works are required. The award
of contract is to Coulson and
Sons Limited to enable the
delivery of these works.

The waiver of
the
consideration
period is
requested
because the
council runs
the risk of a
financial
penalty from
the contractor
resulting from
any delay in
delivering the
agreed
programme.
Equally
importantly it
will delay the
completion of
the project to
enable the
new tenant to
take up
occupancy of
the Town Hall
South.

Councillor
Seaton,
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

6 October
2017

Growth,
Environment
and Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

Central

No external
consultation
(Ward
Councillors
notified via
email)

Stuart
Macdonald
Tel:07715
802489
Email:
stuart.macdon
ald@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not
anticipated that
there will be any
documents
other than the
report and
relevant
appendices to
be published.

219

DECISION TAKEN

The decision
will include an
exempt
annexe. By
virtue of
paragraph 3,
information
relating to the
financial or
business
affairs of any
particular
person
(including the
authority
holding that
information).

220

DIRECTORATE RESPONSIBILITIES
RESOURCES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director's Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
City Services and Communications (Markets and Street Trading, City Centre Management including Events, Regulatory Services, Parking Services, Vivacity Contract,
CCTV and Out of Hours Calls, Marketing and Communications, Tourism and Bus Station, Resilience)
Strategic Finance
Internal Audit
Schools Infrastructure (Assets and School Place Planning)
Waste and Energy
Strategic Client Services (Enterprise Peterborough / Vivacity / SERCO including Customer Services, ICT and Business Support)
PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office at Bayard Place, Broadway, PE1 1FB
Adult Services and Communities (Adult Social Care Operations, Adult Social Care and Quality Assurance, Adult Social Care Commissioning, Early Help – Adults,
Children and Families, Housing and Health Improvement, Community and Safety Services, Offender Services)
Children’s Services and Safeguarding (Children’s Social Care Operations, Children’s Social Care Quality Assurance, Safeguarding Boards – Adults and Children’s, Child
Health, Clare Lodge (Operations), Access to Resources)
Education, People Resources and Corporate Property (Special Educational Needs and Inclusion, School Improvement, City College Peterborough, Pupil Referral Units,
Schools Infrastructure)
Business Management and Commercial Operations (Commissioning, Recruitment and Retention, Clare Lodge (Commercial), Early Years and Quality Improvement)

221

GOVERNANCE DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Legal and Democratic Services
Electoral Services
Human Resources (Business Relations, HR Policy and Rewards, Training and Development, Occupational Health and Workforce Development)
Performance and Information (Performance Management, Information Governance, Systems Support Team, Coroner’s Office, Freedom of Information)
GROWTH AND REGENERATION DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office Stuart House, St Johns Street, Peterborough, PE1 5DD
Development and Construction (Development Management, Planning Compliance, Building Control)
Sustainable Growth Strategy (Strategic Planning, Housing Strategy and Affordable Housing, Climate Change and Environment Capital, Natural and Built Environment)
Opportunity Peterborough
Peterborough Highway Services (Network Management, Highways Maintenance, Street Naming and Numbering, Street Lighting, Design and Adoption of Roads,
Drainage and Flood Risk Management, Transport Policy and Sustainable Transport, Public Transport)
Corporate Property
PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Health Protection, Health Improvements, Healthcare Public Health.

THIS PAGE IS LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

222

UPDATED: 26 OCTOBER 2017
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18
Meeting Date
Item
19 June 2017

Briefing Update On Key Current Local Mental Health Work Streams

Draft Report 25 May
Final Report 7 June

Mental Health to be the main theme for the 2017/2018 work programme. The
Scrutiny Committee to receive an overview of Mental Health at its first
meeting of the year to assist the Committee in deciding which areas require
further scrutiny throughout the year.

Indicative
Timings

COMMENTS
6 Monthly update to be presented
to the Committee in January
2018

Contact Officer: Dr Liz Robin / Jessica Bawden
Public Health Portfolio Holders Report 2016/17
To Scrutinise the portfolio of the Cabinet Member for Public Health and make
any recommendations.

223

Contact Officer: Dr Liz Robin
Progress Report on Healthy Peterborough Campaign
To scrutinise the progress of the Healthy Peterborough Programme and
make any recommendations.
Contact Offier: Karen Cornish / Stuart Keeble
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

6 Monthly update to be presented
to the Committee in January
2018

UPDATED: 26 OCTOBER 2017
Meeting Date

Item

Indicative
Timings

COMMENTS

Review of 2016/17 and Draft Work Programme 2017/18
To review the work undertaken during 2016/17 and to consider the work
programme of the Committee for 2017/2018
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
4 September 2017

Children’s Mental Health Services Update

Draft Report 10 Aug
Final Report 22 Aug

To scrutinise and comment on the current mental health service provision for
children including 10 to 24 year olds.
Contact Officer: Lee Miller/Janet Dullaghan
IVF Consultation Outcomes

224

To scrutinise and comment on the outcomes of the IVF Consultations and
make any recommendations
Contact Officer: Jessica Bawden
Annual Public Health Report
To scrutinise and comment on the Annual Public Health Report and make
any recommendations.
Contact Officer: Dr Liz Robin
Recommendations Monitoring Report
To monitor progress made on recommendations made at the previous

If required.

UPDATED: 26 OCTOBER 2017
Meeting Date

Item
meeting.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Work Programme 2017/2018
To consider the Work Programme for 2017/2018

225

6 November 2017
Draft Report 13 Oct
Final Report 25 Oct

Draft Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017 - 2020
To scrutinise and comment on the Draft Suicide Prevention Strategy
2017/2020.
Contact Officer: Kathy Hartley
Primary Care Update Peterborough
To scrutinise and comment on the current developments around Primary
Care provision in Peterborough and make any recommendations.
Contact Officer: Jessica Bawden
Sustainable Transformation Partnerships (STP)
To scrutinise the Sustainable Transformation Partnership Plan.
Contact Officer: Aidan Fallon

Indicative
Timings

COMMENTS

UPDATED: 26 OCTOBER 2017
Meeting Date

Item
Update On The Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust And
Peterborough And Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Merger
To receive an update on the impact of the merger between Hinchingbrooke
Health Care NHS Trust and Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS
Foundation.
Contact Officer: Stephen Graves, Chief Executive
Recommendations Monitoring Report
To monitor progress made on recommendations made at the previous
meeting.

226

Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Work Programme 2017/2018
To consider the Work Programme for 2017/2018

29 November 2017
(Joint Meeting of
the Scrutiny
Committees)

Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2027/28 Phase
One
To scrutinise the Executive’s proposals for the Budget 2018/19 and Medium
Term Financial Plan 2027/28.
Contact Officer: Marion Kelly /Peter Carpenter

Indicative
Timings

COMMENTS

UPDATED: 26 OCTOBER 2017
Meeting Date

Item

8 January 2018
Draft Report 7 Dec
Final Report 19 Dec

6 Monthly Update on Key Current Local Mental Health Work Streams

Contact Officer: Dr Liz Robin / Jessica Bawden
Public Health Portfolio Holders Report 2016/17 – 6 Monthly Update

Indicative
Timings

COMMENTS

Requested at 19 June 2017
meeting

Requested at 19 June 2017
meeting

To Scrutinise the portfolio of the Cabinet Member for Public Health and make
any recommendations.

227

Contact Officer: Dr Liz Robin
The extent to which Public Health Outcomes are considered in wider
Council decision making

Contact Officer: Dr Liz Robin
Recommendations Monitoring Report
To monitor progress made on recommendations made at the previous
meeting.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

If required

UPDATED: 26 OCTOBER 2017
Meeting Date

Item

Indicative
Timings

COMMENTS

Work Programme 2017/2018
To consider the Work Programme for 2017/2018

8 February 2018
(Joint Meeting of
the Scrutiny
Committees)
1.

228

12 March 2018
Draft Report 16 Feb
Final Report 28 Feb

Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2027/28
Phase Two
To scrutinise the Executive’s proposals for the Budget 2018/98 and
Medium Term Financial Plan 2027/28.
Contact Officer: Marion Kelly/Peter Carpenter
Mental Health Item (TBC)
Recommendations Monitoring Report
To monitor progress made on recommendations made at the previous
meeting.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

If required

UPDATED: 26 OCTOBER 2017

Possible Items for Future Meetings

Contact Officer

Minor Injuries and Illness Init (Options for Relocation)

Jessica Bawden

229

This page is intentionally left blank

230

